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VISION

To be the most admired and trusted
profitable financial services group
providing and adapting to customers’
changing needs - for every Filipino
worldwide - through innovative
products, excellent service

and a highly motivated, committed
and impassioned team.

MISSION

We are a leading universal bank,

providing quality Integrated Financial
Services that best meet our clients’ needs.
We are committed to conducting our
business with utmost integrity, excellence,
and commitment as responsible corporate
citizens; and, providing professional
growth opportunities to develop

a talented base of officers and employees,
and achieving the best returns

for our stockholders.

The RCBC Vision
and Mission Statements

The RCBC Vision and Mission statements embody
the aspirations of the Bank and what it would like to
accomplish in the mid-term or long-term future.

It is intended to serve as a guide for choosing
current and future courses of action. It is a written
declaration of RCBC'’s core purpose and focus, a line
encapsulating RCBC’s vision not for itself,

but for the people it serves.
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ABOUT THE COVER

Believe in consistency. The 2018 RCBC Annual Report
cover visualizes a continuous cycle of progress.

In symmetry, there is a sense of order and balance,
which are key in achieving constant results year on year.




RCBC

The RCBC Brand

RCBC is the bank that believes in you. With customers
at the heart of our products and services, RCBC believes
in people even before they believe in themselves. We
motivate individuals, families and companies to think
big, aim far, and to go for higher ambitions. For over 58
years, RCBC has been supporting Filipinos with their
financial needs. The brand is dynamic, evolving with the
times to serve the changing needs of Filipinos.

In 2017, RCBC revamped the brand to better serve the
emerging market. We revitalized the brand with a
refreshed corporate identity. The transformation
fortified the employees internally and strengthened
their connection with the clients that we serve. With a
new mantra “We Believe In You”, RCBC reenergized our
branding with a clean and modern look. It brought the
bank closer to the younger generation while reinforcing
relevance to long-term clients. The monumental
change is a manifestation of the bank’s commitment
to constantly adapt and improve. RCBC brings the rich
banking heritage into today’s contemporary landscape
by updating their brandmark - the blue hexagon. The
hexagon represents the synergy of RCBC with other
sister companies. As a key member of the Yuchengco
Group of Companies, RCBC is the strong financial
institution that stands with YGC’s range of businesses
- life insurance, non-life insurance, transportation &
communication, education and construction.

Today, RCBC continues to create meaningful, genuine
relationships with clients. The Bank provides solutions
with an unwavering dedication to uplift lives. Wherever
you are in life, whether you are at your first job, providing
for a family or expanding your business ventures —
RCBC believes you can achieve what you aim for.



The RCBC Business Model

RCBC offers a wide range of financial services to
both corporate and retail customers. The main source
of funding of the Bank is from Customer Deposits
accounting for 65.68% of the Total Resources. This
is supported by Other Borrowings at 21.72% of Total
Resources and Capital at 12.59% of Total Resources.
The Bank’s main source of revenue is from its Lending
business, Loans account for 61.79% of Total Resources.
The Bank lends to Corporations and Individuals. Net
Interest Income accounts for 77.33% of Total Operating
Income, while Other income covers for 22.67% of
balance. The Bank also earns other income from other
financial services and activities through charging fees
and or earning commissions, and may also earn Trading
Income from proprietary trading activities. The bank
delivers financial products and services through 509
branches and 1,593 ATMs all over the country. Customers
can also avail of the Bank’s products services through
the internet, mobile IOS and android applications.

CORPORATE POLICY
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FINANCIAL HIGRLIGHTS OF THE YEAR

Minimum Required Data

Profitability For The Year

in million pesos except ratios and net earnings per share
Total Net Interest Income

Total Non-Interest Income

Total Non-Interest Expenses
Pre-Provision Profit

Impairment Losses

Net Income

Selected Balance Sheet Data
in million pesos

Liquid Assets”

Gross Loans and Receivables
Total Resources

Deposits

Net Worth

Selected Ratios
Return on Equity
Return on Assets
CET | Capital Ratio
Tier 1

CAR

Per Common Share Data
Net Income per share:
Basic
Diluted

Book Value

Others
Cash dividends declared (in Php Mn)
Headcount

Officers

Staff

Consolidated

2018

20,489
6,006
19,403
7,092
1,899
4,321

143,340
408,591
644,595
423,399

81,170

5.78%
0.73%
13.38%
13.38%
16.13%

262
262
41.92

863
6,886
4141
2,745

2017

18,021
7100
17,815
7,306
2,155
4,310

10,773
362,236
553,988

388,412

67,027

6.72%
0.82%
12.45%
12.45%
15.46%

3.08
3.08
47.86

773
6,773
3,992

2,781

Parent Bank (Solo)

2018

15,031
5,657
14,249
6,439
1,306
4,320

107,401
305,785
510,923
302,410
81,075

5.79%
0.90%
13.24%
13.24%
16.50%

262
262
41.88

863
4,516
2,759

1,757

2017

12,395
6,887
13113
6,169
1164
4,308

89,994
270,733
441,576
288,667
66,929

6.74%
1.02%
1.75%
1.75%
15.33%

3.08
3.08
40.41

773
4,455
2,677

1,778

- COCI, Due BSP, Due from other banks, FVPL, AFS, Interbank loans
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Dear Shareholders,

Every annual message we send is a valuable opportunity
for your Bank to thank you for your trust. It is also our
chance to extol the achievements of our dedicated
employees in forging a more robust Bank. Aware of
rising customer expectations, rigorous government
regulations, and new technological advances, your
Bank strives constantly to make informed decisions
and take bold steps to cement our firm’s legacy in the
banking industry. In line with this, we are pleased to
present our 2018 results.

Bolstering Resources: The Bank’s Financial
Performance in 2018

RCBC maintained its net income from the previous year
of Php4.3 billion in 2018, slightly up by Phpll million.
Sustaining this net income level was no mean feat,
considering the increase of 59% from a year ago in
interest expenses from deposit liabilities to Php6.3
billion, and the absence of trading gains in 2018 versus
the previous year’'s Php900 million.

Total resources in 2018 grew by 16.4% from a year ago
to Php644.6 billion, with the loan portfolio increasing
by 12.4% year-on-year to Php398.3 billion. On the
funding side, deposits reached Php423.4 billion
reflecting a growth of 9.01%. These deposits
are a significant chunk of our total bank assets of
Php644.6 billion.

Your bank ended 2018 well-capitalized, with total
capital funds rising by 211% year-on-year to Php81.2
billion, positioning RCBC among the top 10 largest
Universal Banks in the country in terms of total assets.
This multi-billion buffer falls within a capital adequacy
ratio of 16.1%, noteworthy in view of the 10% standard
set by the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP).

The strategy of building on our core business led to a
growth in net interest income of 13.7% to Php20.5
billion, coming mainly from the growth in the average
loan portfolio of our key select markets. Loans to small
and medium enterprises (SME) grew by 28% to Php49.8
billion. Our subsidiary Rizal MicroBank grew its loans to
micro and small business enterprises by 17% from a
year ago to Php963 million in 2018.

Loans to consumers, which includes mortgage loans,
automobile loans, and credit cards, increased by 17% to
Php96.9 billion. The Bank continues to serve its

MESSAGE TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

corporate clients and invests in the country’s future by
providing working capital and project financing,
resultingina 9% increase in corporate loans to Php208.7
billion year-on-year.

We have closely monitored controlled increases in our
operating costs, which rose to Php19.40 billion in 2018,
from a year ago. This is due to the expansion of business
and the rise in documentary stamp taxes on financial
instruments following the enactment of the Tax Reform
for Acceleration and Inclusion (TRAIN) in January 1,
2018. RCBC now has 509 branches nationwide, and a
network of nearly 1,600 automated teller machines.

Pursuing Targets with Success: Highlights of 2018

The Bank has benefited from strong and steady
economic growth. We believe that the country’s annual
2018 GDP of 6.2% is testament to the Philippines’
performance as being one of Asia’s fastest-growing
economies. Firm macroeconomic fundamentals will
serve as the country’s cushion against the impact of
rising US interest rates and its effect on financing and
the further peso depreciation.

We believe that we have to do our part in boosting
productivity and investment in the Philippines by
putting our capital and financial expertise to optimal
useinservice to our customers. This is why we persevere
through the challenges and continue to build
on our achievements.

The success of the Php15 billion stock rights offering in
July 2018 was the market's resounding vote of
confidence in the Bank. With this, we are well-positioned
to grow our lending business in the consumer segment,
SMEs, and microfinance nationwide. On top of the
Phpl5 billion, we raised USD450 million in US-
denominated senior notes and Php3.6 billion in long-
term negotiable certificates of deposit, providing us
with a stable source of funding for our loans.

The bank was relieved from regulatory restrictions in
the 2nd half of 2018. We have fully complied with
regulators’ requirements—from tightening internal
controls to retraining our employees in anti-money
laundering processes. Your Bank can now proceed full
steam ahead on other plans to further strengthen its
foundations and core businesses.
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Our credit card business is flourishing with more than
115,000 new cardholders, reflecting a 20% year-on-year
growth. In the digital currency sphere, RCBC launched
“ePiso”, a more secure and efficient way for our
customers to handle their daily retail transactions. The
ePiso was launched within regulatory sandbox, as
agreed upon with the BSP. The sandbox endows us
with a secure mechanism that allows us to be agile in
adjustments to this relatively new mode of cashless
payment in the country.

The Bank initiated partnerships with its respected peers
abroad to help foster the growth of trade and commerce
among our countries. Our ties with Japan’s 5th largest
banking group, Resona Holdings, have become stronger
following our agreement with two banks under Resona’s
Kansai Mirai Financial Group, Inc.—the Kansai Urban
Banking Corp. in Osaka and Minato Bank in Kobe.
Together with these banks, we will assist small and
midsize Japanese and Filipino businesses seeking to
expand their markets. We will tap into blockchain
platforms and set up remittance services between the
two countries.

We have also signed cooperative partnerships with
Kookmin Bank, one of South Korea's largest banks,
and Shoko Chukin Bank Ltd of Japan, paving the way
for RCBC to provide banking services and financial
information  assistance to Korean corporates
and Japanese-owned SMEs operating and investing in
the Philippines.

The Bank continued to actively fund renewable energy
projects, such as the 330MW solar farm in Vietnam
with sponsors AC Energy Holdings, Inc. and the BIM
Group of Vietnam, as well as the Rooftop Solar Projects
situated on various Citymall branches, with proponent,
Solar Pacific CitySun Corp.

We are buoyed by the success of the Peso green bond
under our green finance framework. This affirms the
Bank's commitment to supporting environmental
sustainability in the Philippines through our operations,
our partners, and the businesses we serve. The issuance
was oversubscribed, tripling to Phpl5 billion from the
initial Php5 billion, thanks to enthusiastic support from
the Bank’s institutional investors. We note that this
issue is the first green bond from the Philippines under
the ASEAN Green Bond Standards 2018, and is fully
aligned with the International Capital Market
Association’s Green Bond Principles 2018.

MESSAGE TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

In anticipation of higher capital and liquidity
requirements set by the BSP effective January 1, 2019,
the Bank in September 2018 began the process of
absorbing its thrift unit, RCBC Savings Bank. The Bank
will assume all assets and liabilities of RCBC Savings
Bank, which is the country’s third largest bank thrift
lender. While this planned merger is still subject to
regulators’ approval, we feel this move will lead to
reduced operating costs, grow our retail base, and
ensure compliance with Basel 3 liquidity ratios set by
the BSP. We hope for this merger to be effective by
July 1, 2019.

The Road Ahead

We reiterate our deep appreciation to all our
shareholders and clients for their support of and trust
in the Bank. We humbly acknowledge the hard work
and dedication of our employees, and the wisdom and
vision of our Board and senior management.

Your Bank is proud of what it has achieved in 2018. We
will not let our guard down. Trials have proven and
forged our resilience, which is inspired by the
tremendous trust of our steadfast customers and loyal
partners, and our employees’ commitment to
anticipating our customers’ needs.

In 2019, we remain fearless as we pursue viable solutions
to challenges, undertake innovation, and implement
bold decisions. We believe in a brighter and continuously
sustainable future. We believe this future is underpinned
by our passion for excellence, professional discipline,
the power of teamwork, and integrity at the core of
everything we do.

We enjoin you to Believe with us.

Thank you.
P y
R
4“5“”’/‘"’ A ?/\/\/\/\/\/‘/‘/"'\7
7 _
Helen Y. Dee Gil A. Buenaventura

President and
Chief Executive Officer

Chairperson
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Believe in delivering
consistent results despite
volatile market conditions.
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FINANCIAL CONDITION

RCBC'’s Total Resources grew by 16.36% or Php90.607
billion from P553.988 billion to Php644.595 billion mainly
due to the increase in Investment Securities and Loans
and Receivables.

Cash and Other Cash Items, grew by 18.37% or Php2.699
billion, attributable to the additional cash requirements
forthe 24 extension offices converted toregular branches,
and additional cash to service ATM withdrawals during
the holidays.

Total Investment Securities, representing 18.38% of Total
Resources, increased by 62.41% or Php45.517 billion from
Php72.932 billion to Phpl18.449 billion attributable to
309.98% or Phpl16.624 billion increase in Financial Assets
at Fair Value through other Comprehensive Income
(FVOCI from Php5.363 billion to Php21.987 billion
and 48.21% or Php28.914 billion increase in Investment
Securities at Amortized Cost from Php59.978 billion to
Php88.892 billion. Loans and Receivables-net went up
by 12.44% or Php44.057 billion from Php354.243 billion
to Php398.300 billion and represented 61.79% of Total
Resources. This was primarily as a result of increase in
the volume of loan releases.

Bank Premises, Furniture, Fixtures & Equipment, net
decreased by 5.94% or Php531 million from Php8.946
pillion to Php8.415 billion primarily as a result of
depreciation and amortization.

Investment Properties net increased by 6.83% or
Php232 million mainly due to additional foreclosed
properties made by subsidiaries.

Deferred Tax Assets-net increased by 10.44% from
or Phpl98 million from Phpl.896 billion to Php2.094
billion as a result of origination of additional deductible
temporary differences.



Deposit liabilities grew by 9.01% or Php34.987 billion
from Php388.412 billion to Php423.399 billion and
represented 65.68% of Total Resources. Demand
deposits increased by 8.49% or Php4.417 billion from
Php51.996 billion to Php56.413 billion and accounted
for 8.75% of Total Resources; Savings Deposits grew
by 5.40% or Php8.920 billion from Phpl65.187 billion
to Phpl174.107 billion and accounted for 27.01% of Total
Resources. Time deposits grew by 12.64% or Php21.650
billion from Php171.229 billion to Php192.879 billion and
accounted for 29.92% of Total Resources.

Bills payable increased by 27.37% or Phpl12.034 billion
from Php43.967 billion to Php56.001 billion mainly
attributable to increase in foreign borrowings. Bonds
payable also increased by 89.20% or Php25.030 billion
from Php28.060 billion to Php53.090 billion primarily
as a result of issuance of USD$300 million senior
notes in March 2018 and USD$150 million senior notes
in April 2018.

Accrued taxes, interest and other expenses payable
increased by 26.09% or Php1.092 billion from Php4.185
billion to Php5.277 billion mainly due to increase in
accruals for interest. Other Liabilities also grew by
26.70% or Php3.303 billion from Phpl2.369 billion to
Phpl15.672 billion due to increase in post-employment
defined benefit obligation.

Total liabilities grew by 15.70% or Php76.464 billion from
Php486.961 billion to Php563.425 billion and represented
87.41% of Total Resources.

Common Stock grew by 38.27% or Php5.357 billion from
Php13.999 billion to Php19.356 billion and capital Paid
in Excess of Par also increased by 41.64% or Php9.426
billion attributable to the Stock Rights Offering
in July 2018.

15
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Net Unrealized Gains on Financial Assets at Fair Value
through Other Comprehensive Income declined by
21.04% or Php414 million from Phpl968 billion to
Phpl1.554 billion as a result of revaluation of investment
securities. Cumulative Translation Adjustment also
declined by 36.47% or Php31 million from Php85 million
to Php54 million as a result of the liquidation of a foreign
subsidiary. Actuarial loss on defined benefit plan, on the
other hand, was recorded at negative Phpl.344 billion
from a negative balance of Php79 million.

Reserve for Trust Business went up by 413% or Phpl8
million from Php436 million to Php454 million.

Total Capital Funds increased by 2110% or Phpl4.14
billion from Php67.027 billion to Php81170 billion and
accounted for 12.59% of Total Resources.

RESULTS OF OPERATION

Total interest income increased by 24.91% or Php6.169
billion from Php24.764 Dbillion to Php30.933 billion
and accounted for 125.76% of total operating income.
Interest income from loans and receivables went up
by 2314% or Php5.081 billion from Php21.956 billion to
Php27.037 billion and accounted for 109.92% of total
operating income. The increase is mainly due to increase
in average volume of loans and receivables and increase
in average yield of loans and receivables. Interest income
from investment securities also went up by 40.04% or
P973 from Php2.430 billion to Php3.403 billion mainly
due to decrease in volume of total investment securities.
It accounted for 13.84% of total operating income. Other
interest income increased by 30.42% or Phpll5 million
from Php378 million to Php493 million primarily as a
result of increase in BSP term deposit placements.

Total interest expense stood at Phpl0.444 billion and
accounted 42.46% of total operating income. Interest
expense on deposit liabilities grew by 59.00% from
Php3.959 billion to Php6.295 billion, representing 25.59%
of total operating income. The increase was a result

of higher volume and cost of time deposits. Interest
expense on bills payable and other borrowings increase
by 49.03% or Phpl.365 billion from Php2.784 billion to
Php4.149 billion mainly due to issuance of Senior Notes
in 2018.

As a result, Net Interest Income increased by 13.70%
or Php2468 bilion from Phpl8.021 billion to
Php20.489 billion.

The Group booked lower impairment losses at Phpl1.899
pbillion, down by 11.88% or Php256 million from Php2.155
billion and represented 7.72% of total operating income.
Decrease in impairments losses net was mainly due to
lower general and specific loan loss provisions.

Other operating income of Php6.006 billion accounted
for 24.42% of total operating income and is broken down
as follows:

e Service fees and commissions grew by 5.895% or
Php185 million from Php3.138 billion to Php3.323
billion and accounted for 13.51% of total operating
income. Increase is primarily due to increase in
Bancassurance fee income, Bancnet fee income,
loan and trade related fees

* Trading and securities gain-net declined from
Php900 million to nil attributable to decrease in
realized trading gains from securities sold

¢ Foreign exchange recorded

at Php843 million.

gains  was

¢ Trust fees settled at Php278 million.

¢ Shareinnetearnings of subsidiaries and associates
settled at Phpl14 million.

e Miscellaneous income declined by 18.23% or
Php345 million from Phpl1.893 billion to Php1.548
billion brought about by lower income from
assets acquired.



Operating expenses stood at Phpl19.403 billion and
accounted 78.89% of Total Operating Income.

¢ Manpower costs increased by 9.53% or Php571
million from Php5.991 billion to Php6.562 billion,
as a result of hiring of sales personnel for the
branches and annual merit increase. It consumed
26.68% of the total operating income

¢ Occupancy and equipment-related grew by
8.54% or Php272 million from Php3.185 billion to
Php3.457 billion. It accounted 14.06% of the total
operating income

* Taxes and licenses stood at Php2.238 billion.

¢ Depreciation and amortization decreased
by Php93 million from Phpl914 billion to
Php1.821 billion.

¢ Miscellaneous expenses went up by 858% or
Php421 million to settle at Php5.325 billion from
Php4.904 billion, primarily as a result of higher
service fees, communication and information
expenses, and ROPA-related costs, and it
consumed 21.65% of total operating income

Tax expense was at Php872 million.

Net profit attributable to non-controlling interest settled
at Phpl million.

Overall, net income was recorded at Php4.321 billion.
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OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

BETTER CUSTOMER
EXPERIENCE




Believe in achieving
growth by building
partnerships for success
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OPERATIONAL
HIGHLIGHTS

CORPORATE BANKING

The mandate of the Corporate Banking Group is to
extend a wide variety of robust and innovative product
and service offerings that meet the many banking and
financial requirements of a broad range of corporate
accounts, from small enterprises to mid-sized
businesses, and to the largest conglomerates across
the country.

To provide adequate focus, the group is further
classified according to specific client segments that
it caters to, the Conglomerates & Global Corporate
Banking Group (C&GCBG) and National Corporate
Banking Group (NCBG).

The Conglomerates & Global Corporate Banking
Group manages the Bank's relationships with
the largest corporate segments: conglomerates,
large corporations, specialized project companies,
multinational corporations, and the ecozone / industrial
park-based companies.

The year 2018 saw the C&GCBG further strengthen its
corporate relationships. It is important to note that
these relationships transcend the business partnership
level of providing financial services. These relationships
give both the customer and the Bank a very clear role in
improving Filipinos’ lives. This is evident in the projects
that the Bank has intentionally supported, such as
power and infrastructure, which positively impact a
greater population.

In support of the Bank’s direction to promote
sustainability and environmental awareness, the
Group’s Conglomerates & Strategic Corporates
Segment actively funded renewable energy projects.
Among these are the 330MW solar farm in Vietnam’s
southeast province of Ninh Thuan with sponsors AC
Energy Holdings, Inc. (the energy business arm of
Ayala Corp.) and the BIM Group of Vietnam, and,
along with another AC Energy joint venture with the
AMI Renewables Energy JSC, a 50MW solar farm in
the south-central province of Khanh Hoa. The Bank
provided financing as well to Solar Pacific CitySun Corp.
for their installation of rooftop solar panels situated
atop various DoubleDragon Properties Inc.’s Citymall
Commercial Centers.

In infrastructure, C&GCBG inked its participation as
one of six local banks extending billions in funding
to two major projects of two tollway subsidiaries of
the Metro Pacific Group. The Bank was among the
financial institutions extending Phpl19.0 billion for the
Cebu-Cordova Link Expressway Project, a 8.5-km toll



bridge which will connect mainland Cebu to Mactan
Island, through the municipality of Cordova. It also
participated in the Php24.0 billion funding facility for the
construction of the 44.6-km Cavite Laguna Expressway
Project, a four-lane toll road merging the Manila-Cavite
Expressway (Cavitex) in Kawit, Cavite to the South
Luzon Expressway’s Mamplasan Interchange in Laguna.
Both projects are envisioned to improve the transport
of goods and services and alleviate worsening traffic
in Metro Cebu and the Southern Tagalog provinces by
improving productivity and boosting economic growth.

These projects were undertaken in collaboration with
C&GCBG's product partners, RCBC Capital Corporation
and the RCBC Trust and Investments Group.

The Group’s Global and Ecozone Segment maintained
its command of the market share in the country’s
industrial parks and economic zones. It holds majority
of the market share for Japanese businesses investing
in ecozones in the Philippines, while aggressively
building up its share in winning the business of non-
Japanese companies. The Group entered into Business
Cooperation Agreements with Resona Bank of Japan,
Shoko Chukin Bank of Japan, and Kookmin Bank of
Korea to expand the Bank’s footprint in these markets.

C&GCBG ended 2018 with Risk Assets of Phpll3.6
billion, recording a growth of 11% from the previous year.

The Group’s efforts did not go unnoticed as it bagged
a number of awards for the deals that it worked
on. RCBC’s participation in the multi-billion-dollar
acquisition  financing by Indonesia’s StarEnergy
Geothermal Salak - Darajat BV. of Chevron's 637-
MW geothermal assets continued to reap awards in
2018, garnering “Renewable Energy Deal of the Year
(Regional)” in The Asset magazine’s Asian Awards.
The Bank also received the “Best Project Finance Deal
in Southeast Asia 2018” for the 2x668-MW GNPower
Dinginin Project Finance Facility from Alpha Southeast
Asia Magazine.

The National Corporate Banking Group (NCBG)
focuses on strengthening client relationships and
catering to their wide array of customers which
includes individuals, middle-market corporations, large
family-owned businesses, and top tier local corporates
engaged in industries such as power, real estate,
telecommunications, mining and transportation.

Dedicated to delivering excellent service to the
Group’s current and target clientele, the Group closely
collaborates with internal product specialists to
generate products and services suitable to customers.

OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS
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Initiatives with the Treasury Group and Global
Transaction Banking Group have placed National
Corporate Banking in a better position to service the
requirements of clients.

NCBG's total risk assets rose 5% to Phpl05.1 billion in
2018 from a year ago. Deposit generation was a major
focus in 2018 resulting in a growth of 9% to Php47.9
billion from previous year.

The Group retained its unwavering position in the
Chinese-Filipino  market.  With its deep-rooted
presence in the Binondo and Kalookan areas, the
Chinese Banking Segments continues to provide
effective banking solutions to its clients. The Emerging
Corporates Segment (ECS) pursues extending its reach
in the middle market, maintaining its portfolio growth
for the past five years. In 2018, ECS’ total loan portfolio
increased by 27% from a year ago to Phpll.5 billion.
Worth noting was the Php400 million credit facility it
extended to Cebu-based dairy products manufacturer
LTHFood Industries. The credit facility allowed LTH
Food Industries to fund its new plant, the second largest
in the Philippines, as a part of the company’s expansion.

Corporate Banking revenue of Phpl4.86 billion or
56.09% contribution to the bank’s total income came
from corporate lending, fees on corporate banking
transactions. Corporate banking’s total income is gross
of eliminating entries.

COMMERCIAL AND SME BANKING

The Commercial, Small,and Medium Enterprise Segment
pursues its goal of financial inclusivity by focusing on
entrepreneurs across the nation, particularly in the
provinces where business prospects are substantial.

The segment has established a total of 28 lending
centers and satellite offices in strategic locations all
over the country in 2018. This helped boost the total
loan portfolio to 28% from a year ago to Php42.5 billion.
Deposits also generated a 28% increase to Php34.l
billion.

In recognition of RCBC’s thrust to be the banking
partner of choice for small and medium enterprises,
AsiaMoney hailed RCBC as the “Best Bank for SMEs” at
the 2018 AsiaMoney Awards in Beijing.

GLOBAL TRANSACTION BANKING

The Global Transaction Banking Group, comprised
of the Corporate Cash Management, Trade Product
Management, and Global Filipino Banking segments,
finished 2018 having attained 104% of the Group’s
consolidated revenue target.

Corporate Cash Management

The Corporate Cash Management Segment grew
its deposit balances portfolio of current and savings
accounts by 6% year-on-year to Php65.2 billion in
2018, achieving its annual volume target. The highlight
of 2018 was the launch of new services and product
enhancements such as Cash Cube, a “connected”
machine which allows cash-heavy businesses to digitize
their operating cash quickly and safely. This Segment
also launched was InstaCore, an online facility that
allows corporate cash management customers to
issue same-day value electronic payments to suppliers
holding accounts in any bank in the Philippines. In
another development, the initial version of CheckStream
was released. CheckStream is a software utility that
enhances RCBC’s post-dated check (PDC) warehousing
service by enabling the automated printing of details of
checks issued by customers of property and finance and
leasing companies, thus resulting in fast and error-free
PDC preparation.

Trade Product Management

The Trade Product Management segment, tasked
to actively manage the Bank’s international trade
proposition for corporates, saw the Bank’s trade assets
grow by 64%, with an average daily balance (ADB) of
Phpl17.21 billion. Despite a challenging interest rate
environment, total trade revenues exceeded 2018
targets by 108%, largely driven by a 63% year-on-year
growth in trade payment volumes, which in turn led to
a growth of 13% in fee income to Php252 million from a
year ago. Domestic trade finance volumes, comprised of
trade payables and supplier financing, posted significant
year-on-year growth at a hefty 79%.

Global Filipino Banking

In the midst of the increased regulation imposed on
money transfer operators in 2018, the Global Filipino
Banking segment generated total gross revenue of
Php352 million, boosted by tie ups with agents and
an improved client base. It expanded its ability to
process and accept remittances even further with a



total network of 1,794 remittance tie-ups and subsidiary
offices in 15 countries globally.

RETAIL BANKING GROUP

The Retail Banking Group (RBG) stands at the forefront
in providing Bank products and services through its 332
branches. In 2018, 24 Extension Offices were converted
to full-service branches, thereby fully optimizing branch
network and strengthening the capacity to deliver
quality service to more customers.

The Retail Banking Group continued to maintain
customer loyalty and increase customer base with
its product offerings and campaigns. New deposit
products were introduced such as the RCBC GoSavers
Account for kids and teens, and the Flexi Savers
Account and Basic Deposit Savings Account for retail
customers. A “Deposit & Drive” Raffle Promo awarding
12 brand-new vehicles to lucky RCBC and RCBC Savings
Bank Peso Current Account and Savings Account
holders was launched in 2018.

The Bank focused on supporting Small and Medium
Business Enterprises (SME) by extending credit
facilities to hundreds of SME customers with The Rizal
Biz Access Loan, a short-term revolving credit line
which provides working capital for business expansion,
inventory buildup, and a convenient source of funds for
business expenditures.

As one of the premiere banks in the country, presenting
our clients with a full range of viable financial
products is one of our topmost priorities. The Bank
draws synergy from its strong partnerships with YGC
affiliates, who are leading institutions in their respective
sectors, to ensure seamless transactions that benefit
our customers. Sunlife-Grepa Financials Inc. (SLGFI)
provides traditional and investment-linked insurance
products. RCBC Savings Bank extends competitive
auto and real estate loans, as well as personal and
salary loans. The First Nationwide Assurance Corp.
(FNAC) and Malayan Insurance Company Inc., (MICO)
are leaders in extending auto, fire, personal accident,
and other non-life insurance products.

If we combine the related retail banking segments of
the bank such as Rizal Microbank, Global Transaction
banking, Digital banking, it has total revenue of Php9.74
billion or 36.77% contribution to the bank’'s total
income. Retail banking segment’s total income is gross
of eliminating entries.

OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

CONSUMER BANKING

RCBC Savings Bank

RCBC Savings Bank (RSB), the consumer banking
arm of RCBC, remains one of the leading players in
the consumer financing industry, and the third largest
thrift bank. It continues to expand its consumer loan
portfolio, ending 2018 with a 14% growth from a year
ago, accounting for 22.43% of RCBC Group’s total
loans. This is driven primarily by auto and real estate
loans with over 100,000 consumer loan borrowers.

To sustain its momentum, the bank put greater focus
tapping the potential of its branch network. It is for this
reason that the Direct Channels Division was created
to help secure more quality loan accounts from the
branches. For the years ahead, improvement of the
turnaround time through the review of processes and
policies remains to be the priority as this is expected
to improve the Bank’s service to clients and partners.

RCBC Bankard

Credit card industry key player RCBC Bankard chalked
up another successful year in 2018. Spurred by strong
acquisition, aggressive top-of-wallet usage offers, and
well-executed targeted campaigns, RCBC Bankard
surpassed the growth in its key target areas vis-a-
vis 2017 performance resulting in: (a) 19.92% increase
in card base to 694,896 cardholders; (b) a 25.43%
increase in billings issued to Php49.08 billion; (¢) a
10.64% increase in volume acquired to Php22.77 billion;
and (d) a 31.32% increase in Credit Card Receivable
Outstanding to Php21.55 billion.

RCBC Bankard boosted efforts to enhance the value
of the cards to a wider base of customers. It launched
innovative products including the RCBC Bankard JCB, a
premium card that provides distinct privileges including
more rewards points for card purchases in Japan; its
first fuel co-brand card, the Phoenix RCBC Bankard
Mastercard which provides 5% rebate for fuel purchases
in participating Phoenix stations and rewards points for
all other purchases; and its first airline co-brand with
the world’s best low-cost carrier, AirAsia. With the rise
in the number of Millennials (the generation born from
1981 to 1996) in the work force, RCBC Bankard ended
the year with the launch of the millennial-focused Flex
and Flex Gold Visa, which provide double rewards
points to up to three categories relevant to millennals
such as clothing, dining, and travel.
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RCBC Bankard committed to building 20 houses in
Cavite in partnership with Gawad Kalinga as part of its
corporate social responsibility.

As a testament to its outstanding achievements, RCBC
Bankard received international recognition including
“Best Card Offering-Philippines” at the 5th International
Finance Magazine Asia Awards, “"Highly Commended,
Best Card Offering (Southeast Asia)” at the 2018 Retail
Banker International Asia Trailblazer Awards, and “Best
Customer Loyalty Program” at the Global Retail Banking
Innovation Summit & Awards 2018.

Consumer Banking revenue of Phpl1.35 billion or 42.84%
contribution to the total income were generated through
consumer loans and fee based transactions. Consumer
banking’s total income is gross of eliminating entries.

DIGITAL BANKING

RCBC’'s Digital Banking Group brings viable
financial services to Filipinos utilizing relevant digital
technologies and innovative platforms designed to
offer financial services to the Bank’s clients and to tap
potential growth markets such as the underserved and
unbanked. RCBC’s end goal is to become an intrinsic
enabler of the customers’ everyday lives, to be part of
what they need to get done, and what will empower
their lives.

In 2018, the road towards a cohesive, customer-centric
ecosystem was anchored on three pillars: ubiquity of
Bank’s channels for payments, building an accessible
network that can facilitate other banking services in
preparation for agent banking, and pioneering digital
currency to help our nation move closer to a cashless
economy.

The Digital Banking Group is committed to building
sustainable ecosystems that will encourage new and
existing clients to engage with the Bank in ways that
add value at various touch points in their lives and as
they go through different life stages.

With the rise of e-commerce this year, the Group
focused its efforts on enabling clients to use the Bank’s
card payment solutions and online banking platform
to do online purchases. The launch of the MyWallet
Virtual Card allowed the Bank to test and tap a growing
unbanked market with a propensity to spend online,
particularly those interested in e-gaming and Korean
pop culture, by providing them with a secure payment
tool. This surgical and targeted test confirmed that the

MyWallet Virtual Card is useful to consumers navigating
their interests and passions online.

Moreover, with more than 790,000 active MyDebit
cards and 256,000 active MyWallet cards, the Group
pushes for increasing card use through education
efforts via social media and incentives through various
promotions. MyWallet e-commerce transactions
increased by 38% in the fourth quarter of 2018
compared to the third quarter of the same year. By the
end of 2018, these initiatives grew MyDebit card use
for point-of-sales and e-commerce transactions by 13%
and 50% (vs. third quarter 2018), respectively.

MyDebit cardholders now spend an average of
Php3,000 per point-of-sale transaction and Php1,200
for e-commerce purchases, a significant 20% increase.
On the other hand, MyWallet posted a 50.86% growth
in fund transfer transactions in 2018 from a year ago.
These movements reinforce that cash-enabled Filipinos
are recognizing the conveniences and adopting the
ecosystems the Group set in place towards a cashless
economy.

Through the partnerships forged with ECPay and
Instapay, the Bank exponentially expanded MyWallet
loading channels to more than 6,000 branches
nationwide and made interbank fund transfers more
convenient and cost-effective.

The Group also continues to make funds management
more expedient for its valued clients by digitizing
more bank processes. Now, clients can open additional
pbank accounts as well as initiate pre-stage buying and
selling foreign notes through the Bank’s improved
online banking platform. In addition, the RCBC and
RSB network now has a total of 1,593 ATMs (automated
teller machines) contributing to the Bank’s reach and
conseqguently improving its fee-based income.

The Digital Banking Group recognizes the potential
growth from the unbanked and the underserved. By
introducing agent banking, the Group takes advantage
of its partners’ channels by building a digital ecosystem
that will make the Bank’'s products and services
accessible and available even in far-flung areas. RCBC
Cash Express, the Bank’s revolutionary mobile &
neighborhood ATM, grew the number of merchants
from 129 in 2017 to 1,382 by end of 2018. This greatly
extended the Bank’s footprint through a wider network
of neighborhood merchants that can service any and all
banked clients, from other banks, in remote or densely
populated but underserved areas without them having
to travel to the nearest city.



The Digital Banking Group is continuously building
digital ecosystems that offer solutions to the market’s
rapidly changing needs, providing mobile-first banking
services in a cashless economy.

In keeping with the Bank’s strategic initiative to
provide a convenient and secure payment option for
the underserved market, the Digital Banking Group
introduced ePiso, the pioneering digital cash in the
country and in Southeast Asia. This digitized Philippine
currency aims to revolutionize day-to-day commerce
by providing a secure, affordable, fast and efficient
mode of payment for consumers and businesses. ePiso
is operated within the regulatory sandbox initiative
introduced by Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP)
as a concrete step towards a cashless society. Now,
consumers can safely carry digital currency stored in a
mobile wallet app anywhere they go and have access to
it anytime they want to buy goods at partner retailers,
pay bills, or send money to other ePiso users without
the risk of theft, misplacing their money, or going to a
physical branch. For business owners, converting their
cash to ePiso allows them to streamline their collection
and disbursement processes and increase operational
efficiency. Since money is digitized, it is also more secure
because it cannot be lost, stolen, or counterfeited.

TREASURY

The year 2018 started with Asia, including the
Philippines, focused on the impact of external factors
such as (a) Fed rate hike (total of 100 basis points);
(b) US-China Trade War since July 2018; (c) Higher
global oil prices; (d) Renewed US sanctions on Iran;
and (e) Uncertainties over Brexit that had an effect
on the domestic financial markets. The banking
industry met higher challenges especially in managing
the trading and investment books in a rising interest
rate environment.

Synchronized global growth and higher inflation were
the themes of 2018. Tighter monetary conditions
ensued as monetary policy makers communicated
their policy bias: a move away from the accommodating
stance enjoyed by financial institutions and clients in
the previous years. Asian economies felt the cyclical
shift of easy money back to the United States,
although the outflow was not as huge as expected.
This led Asia to conclude that there were sufficient
sources of funding in the region that can be tapped for
capital requirements.

OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

The United States’ Federal Reserve’s policy action
prompted other central banks to act accordingly to
avoid being left behind and having to deal with bigger
challenges in their own jurisdictions. We witnessed a
difficult environment for fixed income assets as policy
rate adjustment prompted benchmark rates to rise in
tandem with credit spreads.

Philippine economic managers, cognizant of rapid
developments in the international and domestic markets
responded with a 175-basis point increase in policy rates
throughout the year to help temper inflation. It was
cautious enough to be sensitive so as not to put much
constraint on economic activities. The confluence of
external developments, introduction of the Tax Reform
for Acceleration and Inclusion (TRAIN) law coupled
with supply side factors contributed to this policy bias.
However, the return of duration and risk premiums in
the pricing of loan assets were welcomed by banks as
improvements in the net interest margins materialized.

The government fiscal spending related to its “Build,
Build, Build” program complemented the contribution of
consumer spending to economic activity and mitigated
the decline of the country’s growth, which settled at
6.2% Gross Domestic Product (GDP) in 2018.

Amidst all these developments, the bank lightened up
the risk load in its trading and investment portfolios
and ably contributed to returns above its expected
targets, ensuring a positive contribution to the Bank’s
financial growth.

In anticipation of the tighter liquidity in the international
market and demand for funding by the private sector in
the country due to “Build, Build, Build”, the Bank tapped
the international market three times for its funds and
raised a total amount of USD750 million. The successful
issue of a Senior Note and Syndicated Loan reflected
the confidence of the international lenders in the Bank’s
credit outlook for years to come. The funding exercises
also extended the duration of its borrowing portfolio,
part of the ongoing liability management strategy
of the bank.

With fundraising being competitive, the Bank responded
to long-term funding demands from government,
private sector, and financial institutions through the sale
and distribution of fixed income instruments around
the country. It gave opportunities for retail, corporate,
and institutional investors to participate in funding the
requirements of the issuers.
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The Bureau of The Treasury gave recognition to the
Bank as one of the top 10 government securities dealers
of 2018 due to its participation in and distribution of
fixed income securities issued by the Republic of the
Philippines. The Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp.
recognized the Bank as one of the top five banks in
market-making of prices for corporate bond issuances,
and among the top five in volume of transactions posted
in the Philippine Domestic Dealing Transaction System
/ Payment vs. Payments transactions. These prove the
continued support of the Bank to developing capital
markets, and its active participation and commitment
towards nation building.

Treasury’s total revenue of Php2.45 billion or 9.23%
contribution to the bank’s total income came from
trading gains and foreign exchange gains and
other fees. Treasury’s total income is gross of
eliminating entries.

PRIVATE BANKING

RCBC Wealth Management, the private banking arm of
the Bank, continues to steadily grow its Assets under
Management (AuM). In 2018, the Wealth Management
Group increased its assets under management by 13%
year-on-year to Phpll6.10 billion, while contributing
Php644.50 million in revenue to the Bank.

Operating on an open-architecture platform, the
Group delivers efficient and exact solutions to the
ever-evolving financial requirements of the high
net-worth clients of the Bank. It extends a menu of
investments from different asset classes that match the
requirements, goals, and risk appetites of the clients.

The Group prides itself on being able to provide clients
with a periodic Consolidated Statement of Accounts
report. The comprehensive Statement contains the
details of all of the outstanding investments that the
client made through RCBC Wealth Management,
including investments in outlets of the Bank's
subsidiaries and third-party providers.

The Statements were available for delivery to clients
on the 20th day of the following month. During the
year, the Group further streamlined its processes. The
Statements are now available for distribution to the
clients on the 7th working day of the month following
the subject month. Aside from paper statements,
clients can now opt to receive the Statements in an
automated encrypted format through designated

email addresses. These improvements were welcomed
by the clients. The prompt delivery of the record of
their outstanding investments helps them make more
informed and guided decisions on reinvestments and
assets’ reallocation.

The year 2018 also paved way for its first-ever successful
client promotion launch: a by-invitation only, client-
get-client program entitled “Share your Rewarding
Experience with a Friend.” Selected clients were sent
letter invitations to participate in the referral program.
For every successful referral, they received reward
points credited to their RCBC Bankards.

TRUST AND INVESTMENTS GROUP

RCBC is one of the leading retirement fund managers
in the country. The Bank also makes a mark in the fund
management industry by being the fund manager of
choice of a number of the country’s largest private and
government institutions. The Group bagged another
landmark account when it won its bid to be one of the
local fund managers of Social Security System.

Recently, RCBC has become one of the leaders in the
corporate trust arena. In 2018, the Group secured major
accounts such as Facility Agency and Security Account
Trusteeship for the major Solar Power Projects of AC
Energy of Ayala Corporation in Vietnam, Receiving
Agency for the Initial Public Offering (IPO) of DM
Wenceslao, and Bond Trusteeship for the various bonds
issued by the San Miguel Group.

This was also the year the Bank laid the groundwork for
the Group’s five-year business plan. The Bank welcomed
its new Trust Officer, First Senior Vice President Mario
T. Miranda. Miranda has over 34 years of professional
experience in the fields of trust and investment
management, asset management, fund management,
and wealth management, among others.

The Group is gearing up for the next phase of its Trust
business. It introduced a number of necessary structural
changes and flexibility in its investment process to
support the expected growth of the business in the
coming years. Aside from the plans to expand its
institutional business, the Group has strategies to build
a stronger retail business which includes introducing
a variety of new Peso- and US Dollar-denominated
Unit Investment Trust Fund (UITF) products. Clients
received previews of the new exciting products in
investment briefings with foreign fund managers and
coffee sessions.



The implementation of a more robust trust core
system, which is expected to go live early in 2020,
will boost and cement business expansion plans for the
years ahead.

Trust including Wealth Management Group (WMG) has
a total revenue of Php960 million or 3.63% contribution
to the bank’s total revenue. Trust’s total income is gross
of eliminating entries.

HUMAN RESOURCES

OUR PEOPLE: OUR MOST IMPORTANT ASSET

The Human Resources Group (HRG) is committed to
organizational capability building and implements
lead programs and initiatives in talent management
and development, leadership continuity, retention
programs, employee well-being, and corporate social
responsibility.

Manpower Statistics

TOTAL WORKFORCE AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2018 = 4,516

BY EMPLOYMENT TYPE:
Regular Employees 4,293

Probationary 223

BY GENDER:
Male 1,599 or 35%
Female 2,917 or 65%

BY AGE GROUP:

< 30 1,998
31-40 1,077
41-50 1,056
> 50 385
BY JOB LEVEL:

Staff 1,757
Junior Supervisory 1,839
Middle Management 578
Senior Management 342

OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

INVESTING IN PEOPLE

Learning and Development

RCBC is committed to providing a strong learning
and development platform for all employees across all
job levels. HRG strengthened the talent pipeline and
brought further competencies on the job by facilitating
various training programs and seminars which benefited
10,026 attendees. The programs addressedlLeadership,
Customer Service, Sales Planning and Management,
Product and Technical Knowledge, Risk Management,
Anti-Money Laundering/Compliance. A total of 17
employees were enrolled in a number of specialized/
IT external training programs. Some 355 employees
were sent to various external training programs.
The Bank believes in cultivating a mentoring culture
and in line with this, HRG conducted coaching and
mentoring workshops.

In providing careers to new graduates and ensuring
a viable talent pool, a dozen Officers Development
Program (ODP) graduates were deployed in junior officer
positions across the Bank. In August 2018, the 10th batch
of ODP commenced with 16 selected trainees. HRG in
partnership with the Operations Group graduated five
trainees for the sixth batch of the General Operations
Learning and Development (GOLD) Program. In the last
quarter of 2018, the 7th batch of GOLD commenced
with a total of fourteen (14) trainees. The seven-month
program aims to develop a pool of junior officers with
strong operations background and risk orientation for
both head office and branch operations.

HRG in collaboration with management continues to
subscribe to the Bank’s Succession Planning Program.
This is to ensure that the organization has a deep bench
of internal candidates ready to assume higher leadership
responsibilities. The 7th batch of the Middle Management
Development Program (MMDP) was conducted.
This six-month internal training program aims to
accelerate the development of our next generation of
leaders. The MMDP was designed in partnership with
the De La Salle University’'s Center for Professional
Development in Business.

The Branch Certification Program was developed and
conducted among all branch personnel in sales and
service,andclient-facing groups. Thisworkshop consisted
of four 4 modules: Basics and Culture of Compliance
(module 1); Client/Account Onboarding Process (module
2); Transaction Processing and Monitoring (module 3);
and Customer Service (module 4).
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The Branch Operations Orientation Training Camp (BOOT Camp), a five-day program for all new branch hires and
transferees was launched in September 2018. Participants were trained in modules involving Risks and Controls,
Supervisory Development, Effective Business Communication, and Effective Leadership in Customer Service.

The Bank offered its 5th run of the Corporate Banking Learning Academy, (Marketing Assistant Track) a 10-day
training program to develop capable and credible marketing assistants. There were a total of 19 marketing assistants
who graduated from the program in 2018.

LEADERSHIP
Executive

Development
Program

Leadership
Development Program

Middle Management
Development Program

Branch Banking Development Program
Corporate Banking Learning Academy

Treasury Academy

Supervisory Development Program

Basic and Advanced

Officers Development Program

General Operations Learning & Development Program




The focus of the Treasury Academy is the continuous
training and development of the team by enhancing
skills  sets, broadening the understanding of
Treasury in general, and reinforcing knowledge of
relevant regulations and policies. Three main areas
were identified: Treasury Overview, Technical, and
Regulatory, with 11 course offerings. In 2018, there were
two offerings: a learning session on Liquidity Coverage
Ratio and Net Stable Funding Ratio with 63 participants,
and a learning session on Foreign Exchange Swaps and
Option with 34 participants.

Capitalizing on digitalization and online learning, HRG
launched five e-Learning programs: the 2018 Anti-
Money Laundering Act (AMLA), Foreign Account Tax
Compliance Act (FATCA), Data Privacy Act, Consumer
Data Protection, and Corporate Good Grooming.

INVESTMENT IN EMPLOYEE TRAINING

Total No. of Training Attendees Per Job Level

Staff 5,048
Junior Supervisory 2,362
Middle Management 1,638
Senior Management 1,341

Total No of Attendees - Classroom 10,389

Total No of Attendees - e-Learning 4,516
Total No. of Training Hours 1,778,298

Average No. of Training Hours Per Attendee 119

Average No. of Training Hours: Per Attendee, Per Job Level

Staff N7 hours
Junior Supervisory 147 hours
Middle Management 73 hours
Senior Management 145 hours

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT

The Human Resources Group (HRG) gives employees
opportunities to achieve and excel in one’s field and
grow professionally and personally to their fullest
potential. The Bank has an existing Performance
Management System that aims to:

1. align individual and organizational goals;

OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

2. provide feedback on employees’ work progress and
accomplishments based on clearly defined goals
and objectives, job description, and performance;

3. provide information for planning, and

career development programs;

training,

4. provide a structured basis for decisions on personnel
movements; and

5. encourage open communication and a supportive
relationship between employees and their unit
heads and within work teams

The organization’s performance management process
begins with preparation of the Key Result Areas (KRASs)
in line with overall Bank objectives and targets. Each
employee’s performance is monitored on a regular
basis (monthly and quarterly). Variances in targets are
discussed and addressed. The full year performance
and accomplishments are assessed based on the
KRAs. The process culminates with the annual rewards
program and the promotion of associates who are
recognized as top performers.

COMPENSATION AND REWARDS PROGRAM

RCBC commits to pay its employees, salaries/
compensation consistent with job performance,
the requirements of the law, and in a range that is
competitive with the banking industry. The Bank gives
importance to equitable pay differentials for different
types of work and pays within an established salary
structure for the different job levels. The Bank provides
officers with incentives and rewards for contributing to
the business objectives of the Bank.

1. The Bank implements and maintains a sound
Compensation and Incentive Program with the
following objectives:

a. to establish a basis for determination and
management of compensation, salary increase,
and performance incentives;

b. to provide financial incentives through the proper
administration of salaries and other means of
compensation to motivate each individual to do
their best on the job;

c. to maintain competitive salary levels/structures
consistent with those in the banking industry;
and
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d. to ensure attraction and retention of key talents
in the organization.

To guide the Bank in managing the compensation
levels of its employees, a salary structure
was designed and developed using the
following parameters:

a. Job Evaluation. Job Evaluation is a systematic
procedure for analyzing, measuring, and
classifying positions in terms of common job
elements or factors found in every position. The
current salary structure is based on the existing
job grading system for officer levels ranging
from First Officer up to Senior Executive Vice
President. HRG ensures that jobs are rated
properly and reviewed continuously as they
change over time due to reconfiguration of
functions or reorganization.

b. Target Market Group. The salary structure is
based on market data of banks deemed as peers
by RCBC. Data on these peer banks are obtained
from industry and national surveys conducted
by private consultancy companies and trade and
employee associations.

c. Target Positioning Objective. The Bank receives
instruction from management on the desired
positioning in relation to the Target Market
Group or the banking industry in general. This
positioning is aimed at the market’s guaranteed
pay and total annual cash compensation.

. The salary structure is reviewed regularly by HRG

to maintain its relevance and competitiveness
internally and externally.

. If surveys and studies reveal that the salary structure

is grossly sliding off as compared to the industry
or its Target Market Group, HRG devises and
discusses recommendations with management to
correct the disparity.

Final approval of recommendations with regards
to changes in the compensation structure
and policies are secured from the Corporate
Governance Committee.

. Administration, implementation, and maintenance

of the Bank's Compensation and Incentive
Program is the direct responsibility of HRG,
namely its Group Head, Department Head for
Compensation and Benefits, and Department Head
for Career Management.

The Compensation and Incentive Program is
composed of:

a. Basic Pay. This refers to the employee’s monthly
take-home pay, exclusive of overtime pay.

b. Guaranteed Pay. Part of the annual compensation
supplementary to the Basic Pay (such as the 13th
month pay).

c. Variable Pay. This refers to additional incentives,
Merit Increase (for Officers) and Promotional
Increase (for Non-Officers and Officers), given to
eligible employees based on their contributions
to the Bank’s overall objectives.

EMPLOYEE RETENTION

Recognizing the competition for talent, HRG’s retention
programs have helped keep the Bank’s attrition rate at

10.97% which is below industry level.

Staff Turnover Statistics:

STAFF TURNOVER STATISTICS:

BY GENDER:
Male

Female

BY AGE GROUP:
<30

31-40

41-50

> 50

BY JOB LEVEL:
Staff

Junior Supervisory
Middle Management

Senior Management

211 or 13.09%
281 or 9.78%

288 or 14.5%
100 or 9.5%
57 or 5.39%
47 or 12.9%

188 or 10.6%
151 or 13.5%
16 or 9.2%
37 or 10.9%

ADHERENCE TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT

The directors and all

employees of the Bank are

governed by a Code of Conduct, which revolves around
the Core Values of the company. The code serves as a
guide on how to conduct one’s self within and outside
Bank premises and in dealing with clients, customers,
and colleagues. Violation of the Code of Conduct may
be reported to the Human Resources Group, Internal
Audit Group, Compliance & Regulatory Affairs Group,



Legal Affairs Group ,or the Security Department. The
provisions of the Bank’s Code of Conduct and HR
Policies and Procedures are available electronically to all
employees through the RCBC Information Zone (RIZ).

HEALTH AND WELLNESS

RCBC is committed to maintaining a safe and healthy
working environment. Procedures are in place to
protect all associates from generally recognized
workplace hazards such as fire, earthquake,
robberies, and other natural and man-made calamities.
The Bank has policies in place to ensure employees’
health and wellbeing.

1. Substance Abuse and Health & Safety Policies

Employees who work while under the influence of drugs
or alcohol present a safety and operational hazard to
themselves and their colleagues as well as pose a risk
to the trustworthy and professional image of the Bank.
The Bank also promotes the health and safety of its
employees and their families, thus, the enactment of
the following policies:

a. RCBC’s Drug-Free Workplace Policy & Programs
b. Policy Against Alcohol Abuse

c. Policy on Off-Duty Substance Abuse

d. Family Welfare Policy

e. TB Workplace Program

f.  HIV/AIDS Workplace Program

2. Inspection & Search Procedures

Employees are mandated to notify security personnel
if they see anything suspicious, including the presence
of strangers and unattended bags or packages on
the premises.

Employees are obliged to subject themselves, their
personal belongings, and the Bank assets under Bank
custody to intensive inspection and search procedures
by security personnel, upon entering, while within, and
upon leaving Bank premises. Bank premises include
parking lots, whether owned or leased by the Bank.
Personal belongings shall mean pockets, bags, storage
media, cars and any other personal property that may
be used as repository of cash, jewelry, documents, keys,
data and other valuable items.

OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

3. Employee Welfare and Wellbeing

In 2018, the Human Resources Group conducted the
following activities to promote the health, safety, and
welfare of RCBC employees.

31 It maintained its partnership with Maxicare,
the Bank’'s HMO provider, in giving health and
medical services as part of employees’ benefits.
These included:

1 hospitalization, emergency care and other
medical services with 10,378 availments
for employees and 3,359 availments for
dependents in 2018;

2) executive checkup for employees with a total
cost of Php37.7 million in 2018;

3) outpatient consultation services for

employees with 1,424 availments in 2018.

321t partnered with Sunlife Grepa Financial Inc. in
utilizing the clinic located at the RCBC Plaza which
serviced more than 486 availments in 2018. Another
clinic staffed with regularly visiting doctors, was set-
up at the RCBC Savings Bank Corporate Center in
BGC to give free checkups and consultations to
more than 925 employees.

3.3 1t provided the following sessions, services, and
tests to employees:

1) Department of Labor and Employment-
certified Basic Occupational Safety and
Health Seminar (40 hours per participant);

2) Philippine Red Cross-certified First Aid

training;
3) Basic training course on pollution control;

4) Safety and life support training, fire and
earthquake seminars and drills;

5) Pre-employment physical and medical

examination for new hires;
6) Random drug-testing for employees;
7) Flu vaccination;

8) Breastfeeding stations for nursing associates;
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9) Sports and wellness activities to promote
physical fitness;

10) Precautionary  measures. Timely  work
suspension  orders  were  issued by,
management during days of poor weather or
natural calamity;

1) Life insurance policy inclusive of accidental
death, total and permanent disability, and
burial assistance benefits.

Because people are our most important asset, the
Bank spent more than Phpl52.9 million in 2018 for
health benefits of employees and their dependents, a
clear indication of its commitment to employee welfare
and wellbeing.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY SHARED
SERVICES

RCBC is committed to offering the best financial tools
that empower its clients to realize their aspirations
while providing them convenient and excellent banking
services. The introduction of the Basic Deposit Account
promoted financial inclusion by making financial
products and services readily available to everyone.
The Bank made its products and services for the micro,
small and medium enterprise sector more accessible
through the SME Business Portal, a web-based and
social media online platform. The CashlLoader allowed
RCBC clients to send domestic remittance to non-
RCBC beneficiaries via over-the-counter cash pickups.
The Bank is regarded as the first to offer a venue to
trade foreign currencies through RCBC Online Retail
FX Buy and Sell.

As the use of smart cards proliferates, the Bank
continued to improve its products and services to
better serve its clients. The FIS Cortex is the Bank’s
comprehensive solution for issuance, management,
and processing of debit, credit, and prepaid cards such
as the MyWallet debit card. MyWallet Portal offers
convenience for the Bank’s partner merchants and their
customers. The portal allows merchants to service the
needs of cardholders through the acquiring facility.
For cardholders, the portal provides an alternative
payment and loading facility.

The Bank remains committed to doing business with
utmost integrity and excellence. The inclusion of
additional electronic banking channels in the Enterprise
Fraud Management System allowed real-time fraud

detection involving ATM (automated teller machine)
transactions. The Bank strengthens its security posture
by investing in solutions that enhance its capability
to protect, detect, and respond to internal and
external threats.

OPERATIONS GROUP

In 2018, the Operations Group focused on strengthening
the culture of compliance, improving operational
efficiency, and driving innovation to further enhance
customer experience and enable business growth.
A culture of compliance protects the interest of
stakeholders. Thus, the Operations Group embarked
on a comprehensive Branch Certification Program.
This involved 60,000 hours of training over 3,000
employees nationwide to further equip them with the
mindset, tools, and skills to meet the challenges of
today’s fast-paced, evolving market.

In August 2018, the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas lifted
Prompt Corrective Action (PCA) on RCBC. The BSP
found RCBC's efforts satisfactory in instituting more
stringent measures at par with international standards.
The PCA lifting follows more than three years of
complying  with  regulators’ requirements—from
tightening internal controls to retraining our employees
in anti-money laundering processes—to prevent a
repeat of the Bangladesh incident in 2016.

Nevertheless, the Bank remains committed to investing
in fraud prevention and regulatory compliance. Since
2016, the Operations Group has implemented and
championed the use of Predator, a state-of-the art
system that performs real-time fraud and money-
laundering transaction monitoring. This move is
considered a first in the Philippine banking industry.

The Bank’s initiatives were validated when the Bangko
Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) chose RCBC as one of the
banks to represent the Philippines’ banking industry
in the third round mutual evaluation process in 2018
spearheaded by the Asia/Pacific Group on Money
Laundering (APGML). The APGML ensures that
member-states uphold and implement international
standards against money laundering and terrorist
financing. The APG mutual evaluation team visited local
banks, government regulators, and law enforcement
in November 2018 to assess the country’s anti-money
laundering controls. Results of this third mutual
evaluation will be deliberated on and published in 2019.



Other notable BSP accolades for the Group were the
awarding of our lloilo Regional Support Center as Best
in Cash Verification, Most Supportive Bank and Most
Active Bank. Our Dadiangas Regional Support Center
was given the Verification Choice Award and first
runner- up honors for Best Client Bank. Our Bacolod
Regional Support Center was awarded Outstanding
Regional Partner.

Our Treasury Operations was awarded for the fourth
consecutive year by Philippine Dealing and Exchange
Corporation (PDEx) as one of the top five banks
with the highest volume of foreign exchange deals
settled through the Philippine Dollar Deposit Trading
System. In addition, they were also recognized as one
of the best Fixed Income Corporate Settlement Banks
for 2018.

Another strategic area of focus for the Bank is
Digitization. The Operations Group is at the forefront of
this effort by digitizing physical records and deploying
an Enterprise Document Management System (EDMS)
that enables efficient and secure storage and easy
access of information across the institution. EDMS
eliminates the need to retrieve physical documents,
reducing archival costs, and mitigating information
security risks associated with moving physical records.
EDMS not only complies with the regulator’'s mandate
on record-keeping, but also paves the way for a
paperless work environment.

In upholding its commitment to creating value-
added services and providing innovative solutions
for customers, the bank switched to a new card
management system, FIS CORTEX. This comprehensive
system provides better security and advanced features
that enable the bank to offer customer-friendly card
products. One of its main features is to allow the
enrolment of several accounts in one card, making
banking transactions easier, faster, and more flexible.

The Operations Group continues to invest in
talent through the General Operations Learning &
Development (GOLD) program which is an intensive
two-year training program designed to develop future
leaders. This year, graduates were deployed in critical
roles where they are expected to drive innovation and
process improvement.

These initiatives and procedures implemented, and
the recognition received embodies the Group’s
commitment to excellence.

OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

SUBSIDIARIES

RCBC SAVINGS BANK

RCBC Savings Bank (RSB) is one of the largest thrift
pbanks in the Philippines, with assets of Phpl39.77
pillion. It continues to be a strong and major player in
the industry. As the consumer finance arm of RCBC,
it partners with Filipinos in realizing their dreams
of owning their own home, driving their dream car,
and growing their own business. In September 2018,
the Bank began the process of absorbing RSB. The
merger is subject to BSP approval and expected to be
completed in July 2019.

RSB recorded another double-digit growth in core
loan bookings, registering a 14.05% improvement in
2018 from a year ago despite high interest rates. The
increased loan bookings supported the growth of loan
interest income, which rose by 9.57% to Php6.91 billion.
Deposits grew by 20.13% to Phpl122.15 billion. The Bank
ended 2018 with loans and receivables higher by 13.83%
from a year ago to Php93.58 billion. Non-interest
income also contributed to net income as it recorded
Phpl.04 billion primarily from higher service fees and
ATM fees.

The net income dipped by 22.88% to Phpl.04 billion
mainly due to high cost of funds and operating expenses.
The high interest rate environment led to an increase in
interest expense by 64.49%. Operating expenses rose
by 11.47% due to a provision on Documentary Stamp Tax
(DST) in the government’s Tax Reform for Acceleration
and Inclusion law (TRAIN). The year 2018 ended with a
return on equity of 8.27% and return on assets of 0.81%.

RCBC CAPITAL CORPORATION

RCBC Capital Corporation (RCBC Capital) established
a strong foothold in the Philippine investment
panking industry as it lead-arranged, issue-managed,
underwrote, and closed noteworthy transactions in
2018. Its deals included capital market offerings and
financial advisory services in addition to a number of
acclaimed and multi-awarded project financing and
cross-border financing transactions of projects in
Southeast Asia.

RCBC Capital played a significant role in the strategic
merger between educational institutions of the Ayala
and Yuchengco groups, AC Education Inc. and iPeople,
Inc., respectively. The merger aims to provide affordable
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yvet quality education to many Filipinos by instilling
values and 21st century skills necessary to succeed
in a technology-driven world. In collaboration with
the Bank, RCBC Capital also arranged cross-border
project financings for an aggregate amount of USD250
million for Vietnam-based BIM Renewable Energy
Joint Stock Co. and AMI Renewables Joint Stock Co,,
in these companies’ bid to secure government pricing
incentives for renewable energy projects. RCBC Capital
was one of the first Philippine investment banks that
arranged the funding of ambitious offshore projects in
Vietnam, drawing ample attention from other Philippine
investors and foreign funders.

RCBC SECURITIES, INC.

The Philippine bourse was dragged down in 2018 as
foreigners fled the market, primarily due to the peso
depreciation and rising inflation. Net foreign flows
registered a negative USD116 billion. This was the
second year since 2009 that the market experienced
net foreign selling, the first being in 2015. As a
conseguence, peso turnover at the PSE declined by
11.29% year-on-year to Phpl.74 Billion. In addition, the
Philippine Stock Exchange Index fell 12.76% to 7,466.02

Inevitably, RCBC Securities’ (RSEC) commission
revenues declined by 31.78% from a year ago to
Php53.68 million in 2018. Total income was further
eroded by unrealized market losses of Php4.23 million,
but was partly supported by a 17-fold jump in interest
revenue on short-term investment amounting to
Phpl0.59 million. Commission expenses fell by 31.76%
to Php3.96 million, while other expenses were trimmed
by 1.96% to Php69.84 million.

Notwithstanding the tough stock market environment,
RCBC Securities managed to post a net income of
Php5.88 million.

RSEC tapped new clients by conducting stock market
seminars in cooperation with the Philippine Stock
Exchange and the Bank’s Retail Banking, Wealth, and
Treasury groups and providing market briefings and
corporate access services to Japanese institutional
clients through our partnership with Okasan Securities.

RCBC BANKARD SERVICES

RCBC Bankard Services Corporation continued to
provide growth for the credit card business of the Bank.
The group generated 182,718 new cards for the Bank in
2018, 25.61% higher from a year ago. The total value of

transactions processed increased by 25.43% to Php39.12
pillion. It accredited 947 new merchants, growing
merchant volumes by 10.64% to Php25.08 billion. RCBC
Bankard registered net income of Php49.27 million
which translates to a return on average equity of 21.98%
and a return on average assets of 13.51%.

RCBC Bankard offered a wide range of cards catering
to different customer segments, each with its unique
proposition. The Premium cards intended for esteemed
individuals with discerning taste; Gold cards for those
moving up the ladder of success; and Classic cards for
young professionals enjoying financial independence.
It also launched several innovative cards products
for 2018 such as the premium RCBC Bankard JCB,
the Phoenix RCBC Bankard Mastercard, the AirAsia
Credit Card, and the Millennial-focused Flex and Flex
Gold Visa.

Internally, RCBC Bankard Services undertook learning
opportunities and initiatives focused on reorienting its
team’s mindset and behavior according to the Bank’s
goal of building a customer-centric culture.

RCBC LEASING AND FINANCE

Theyear 2018 was anotherrecord year for RCBC Leasing.
In a period where the leasing and financing industry
was buffeted by new laws and regulations resulting
in higher interest rates as well as a 50% increase in
documentary stamp taxes, the Company’s net income
rose 36.48% from a year ago to Phpl20.51 million.
Gross revenues generated from core business rose by
11.76% to Phpll billion in 2018, due to the increase in
RCBC Leasing’s earning portfolio. The revenues were
more than adequate to cover the increase in Direct
Cost and Operating Expenses, particularly interest
expenses of Php332.46 million, which rose by 3115%
from a year ago.

RCBC Leasing’s positive momentum, which started in
2013, proved that its financial position remains robust.
The Company ended the year with total resources of
Phpl1.09 billion, representing a 7.80% growth from a
year ago. Asset growth was largely attributed to volume
production as we booked Php4.09 billion in new loans
and leases. The Company’s consolidated portfolio grew
by 10.42% to Php7.76 billion in 2018.

Despite the growth in assets, RCBC Leasing maintained
its capital adequacy ratio (CAR) above the minimum
regulatory requirement of 10%. The Company’s capital
ratio remains healthy with 11.91% and 12.99% on a



consolidated and solo basis, respectively. Nonetheless,
the Bank, is infusing additional capital of Php800
million into RCBC Leasing to support the Company’s
growth and expansion.

Armed with a strong financial position and increasing
revenue generation, RCBC Leasing was able to obtain
additional credit facilities with longer tenors from banks,
thereby strengthening the gap between its assets
and liabilities.

RCBC Leasing is poised to continue its upward
trajectory and reinforce its market position. We
continue to develop our personnel to their full potential,
implement strategies to generate higher return for
our shareholders, and nurture our excellent business
relationship with our clients.

RIZAL MICROBANK

2018 marked a milestone for Rizal MicroBank (RMB) as
the microfinance arm of the RCBC Group posted a net
income after tax of Php27.04 million for the year. This
was a turnaround from its net loss in 2017 of Phpl19.16
million. The subsidiary’s profit came on the back of a
continuous buildup of its loan portfolio since RMB’s
inception in 2010. Loan portfolio rose 25% from a year
ago to Phpl2 billion in 2018. Total amount of loans
disbursed grew 26% year-on-year to Phpl.7 billion.

The rise in the loan portfolio yielded an interest income
of Phpl85.15 million, up by 26%. This higher interest
income generated helped drive the whopping 241%
improvement in the subsidiary’s bottomline. With this
profitability posture, Rizal MicroBank posted a return
on equity of 4.56% and return on assets of 1.80%.

Rizal MicroBank continues to maintain a well-balanced
loan portfolio among the market segments. As of
December 2018, portfolio mix of the subsidiary is
47% small business, 40% agricultural loans, and
13% microfinance. By strictly focusing on small
entrepreneurs, RMB’s loan data in 2018 shows an
average loan size of Php345000 and average loan
balance per client of Php377000. A non-performing
loans rate of 5.65% as of end-2018 is lower than the
thrift banking average of 6.09% as of available data in
September 2018.

While the primary requirement for our chosen market
segments is to provide additional working capital loans,
our clients continue to demonstrate their willingness to
build a future by regularly setting aside an amount for

OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

their contractual savings. This is a mandatory feature of
the subsidiary’s lending program. As of December 2018,
contractual savings of borrowing clients represent 10%
of the subsidiary’s total deposit of Php925.6 million.

As a fitting way of ending 2018, Arnold S. Viado,
a microfinance client of RMB Koronadal in South
Cotabato who is engaged in balut production was
recognized as the regional winner in Mindanao of the
l6th Citi Microentrepreneurship Awards (CMA). Jointly
sponsored and organized by the Bangko Sentral ng
Pilipinas and Citi Foundation and coordinated by
the Microfinance Council of the Philippines, the CMA
recognizes outstanding microentrepreneurs across
the Philippines who have shown grit and tenacity in
growing their small businesses while contributing to
uplifting the socio-economic standards of their families
and communities. Through the awards, BSP, Citi, and the
Microfinance Council aim to strengthen microfinance,
enterprise development, and financial inclusion in the
country. Mr. Viado received a cash prize of Php100,000,
a laptop, life and health insurance coverage for one
year, and access to grassroots entrepreneurship
management and basic computer training. His RMB loan
officer, Giovanne Gonzales received a cash incentive of
Phpl10,000 and a plague of appreciation, while Rizal
MicroBank also got a plague of appreciation.

This recognition, together with the positive numbers
and figures posted by the subsidiary in 2018, has
definitely buoyed the morale of the Rizal MicroBank
team. These accomplishments fuel RMB’s commitment
to advancing financial, economic, and digital inclusion
in the country.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

STEADFAST
LEADERSHIP




Believe in corporate
stability driven by
unwavering values.
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CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

RCBC affirms its commitment to good corporate
governance. With an empowered Board leading the
way, RCBC continues to work towards a solid control
environment, high levels of transparency and disclosure,
and well-defined shareholders’ rights.

The corporate governance framework of RCBC combines
global best practices such as the G20/OECD Principles
of Good Governance and the general principles of the
ASEAN Corporate Governance Scorecard, and the
regulatory requirements of SEC Memorandum Circular
No.19, series of 2016 or the Code of Corporate Governance
for Publicly-listed Companies and BSP Circular No. 969,
series of 2017 or the Enhanced Corporate Governance
Guidelines for BSP Supervised Financial Institutions.
RCBC'’s corporate governance framework is embodied
in its Corporate Governance Manual, the latest version
of which was approved by the Board in November 2017.

BOARD GOVERNANCE
Key Roles and Responsibilities

RCBC is headed by a competent and working board
that oversees the implementation of the Bank’s strategic
objectives, governance framework and corporate values.

The Board of Directors is primarily responsible for
establishing a sound corporate governance framework
not only for the Bank but for the whole RCBC Group.
It has the fiduciary responsibility to the Bank and all its
shareholders, including minority shareholders. Among
its many functions include the approval and oversight
on the implementation of RCBC’s strategies to achieve
corporate objectives, risk governance framework,
and systems of checks and balances. The Board also
approves the selection of the CEO and key members of
senior management and heads of control functions.

Board Composition

In accordance with RCBC’'s By-Laws and Corporate
Governance Manual, its Board of Directors is comprised
of fifteen (15) members, all of whom are known for
their integrity, experience, education, training and
competence. The Corporate Governance Committee
ensures that majority of the Board are non-executive
directors who possess the necessary qualifications
to effectively participate and help secure objective
and independent judgment on corporate affairs
and to substantiate proper checks and balances.
Out of the 15-member board, 14 are non-executive
directors including the 7 independent directors, and 1
executive director.



The Board of Directors promotes diversity in its
membership. It is the policy of RCBC that no person
shall be disqualified to sit as member of its Board on
the basis of gender, age, religion or political affiliation.
The representation of women in the Board has increased
from 14% in 2015 to 20% in 2016, and remained at 20% in
2017 and 2018. Among the women in the Board is Mrs.
Helen Y. Dee, the Chairperson.

Nomination and Election

Directorsof RCBC are elected at the Annual Stockholders’
Meeting, each of whom shall hold office for a term of one
year or until his successor shall have been duly chosen
and qualified. The first fifteen candidates receiving the
highest number of votes shall be declared as elected.

All nomination for election of directors by the
stockholders shall be submittedin writing to the President
and the Corporate Secretary at RCBC's principal place
of business at least thirty (30) working days before
the regular or special meeting of the stockholders
for the purpose of electing directors. The Corporate
Governance Committee reviews the qualifications of
persons nominated to the Board, and applies the fit
and proper standards in its evaluation. The Committee
considers the nominee’s educational background,
professional experience, nature and business of the
corporations of which he/she is a director, age, number
of directorships/active memberships and officerships in
other corporations/organizations, and possible conflict of
interest in determining his/her suitability to be nominated
to the Board. The Committee ensures that each nominee
possesses all of the minimum qualifications and none of
the disqualifications as prescribed under existing laws
and regulations. It is provided in the By-Laws that no
person shall be qualified or be eligible for nomination
or election to the Board of Directors if he is engaged in
any business that competes with or is antagonistic to
that of RCBC, its subsidiaries and affiliates, as may be
determined by the Board of Directors, in the exercise of
its judgment in good faith, by at least a majority vote.

Maximum Board Seats

Being a director of the Bank necessitates commitment.
Thus, under the Bank’s Corporate Governance Manual,
a non-executive director may concurrently serve as
a director in a maximum of five (5) publicly-listed
companies. In applying this policy to concurrent
directorships in entities within a conglomerate, each
entity where the non-executive director is concurrently
serving as director shall be separately considered in
assessing compliance with this requirement.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Independent Directors

The Bank adopts the definition of independent directors
under SEC’s Code of Corporate Governance and BSP’s
Enhanced Guidelines on Corporate Governance for
BSP Supervised Financial Institutions. In 2016, the
Board reinforced its independence by increasing the
number of independent directors. The attributes of
an independent director include independence from
management or from any business or relationship which
could, or could reasonably be perceived to materially
interfere with the exercise of independent judgment,
and the lack of relationship to the Bank, its related
companies or substantial shareholders as a regular
director or officer or relative of said director or officer,
as an executive or professional adviser within the past
three (3) years, or business relations other than arm’s
length, immaterial or insignificant transactions.

The Bank’s independent directors are active in board-
level committees. It is the policy of the Bank, however,
that an independent director who is a member of any
committee that exercises executive or management
functions that can potentially impair such director’s
independence cannot accept membership in
committees that perform independent oversight or
control functions such as the Audit and Compliance
Committee, Risk Oversight Committee, Corporate
Governance Committee, Related Party Transactions
Committee, and the Anti-Money Laundering Committee.

An independent director of RCBC is only allowed
to serve for a maximum cumulative term of nine (9)
years. After which the independent director shall
be perpetually barred from serving as independent
director in the Bank, but may continue to serve as a
regular director. The maximum cumulative term of nine
(9) years shall be reckoned from 2012.

The incumbent independent directors are Amb. Lilia R.
Bautista, Mr. Gabriel S. Claudijo, Mr. Armando M. Medina,
Mr. Vaughn F. Montes, Ph.D., Mr. Melito S. Salazar, Jr!, Mr.
Juan B. Santos, and Atty. Adelita A. Vergel De Dios.

The Chairperson

The Chairperson of the Board of Directors, Mrs. Helen
Y. Dee, provides leadership in the Board of Directors.
She ensures the effective functioning of the Board of
Directors, including maintaining a relationship of trust
with members of the Board of Directors.

To promote checks and balances, it is provided under
the Bank’'s Corporate Governance Manual that the

'Mr. Melito S. Salazar, Jr. passed away on February 16, 2019 and was replaced by
Mr. Laurito E. Serrano (Independent Director)

Chairperson of the Board of Directors shall be a non-
executive director or an independent director, and
must not have served as CEO of the Bank within the
past three (3) years. Moreover, the Chairperson should
not concurrently serve as CEO. However, in exceptional
cases where the positions of Chairperson and CEO of
the Bank are allowed by the Monetary Board of the
Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas to be held by one person,
the Corporate Governance Manual prescribes that a
lead independent director shall be appointed who
shall perform a more enhanced function over other
independent directors. The lead independent director
is tasked to direct the independent directors at Board
of Directors meetings in raising queries and pursuing
matters, and to head meetings of independent directors
without the presence of executive directors.

The Corporate Vice Chairman

The By-laws of the Bank provides that the Corporate
Vice Chairman shall have such powers and perform
such duties as the Board of Directors may from time
to time prescribe. In the absence or inability of the
Chairperson to act, the Corporate Vice Chairman will
act in her stead, and will exercise any and all such
powers and perform any and all duties pertaining to
the office of the Chairperson conferred upon it by the
By-laws. Mr. Cesar E.A. Virata is the Bank’s Corporate
Vice Chairman.

Meetings and Quorum Requirement

The regular meeting of the Board of Directors is every
last Monday of the month at the principal office of
RCBC. Should the meeting date fall on a holiday, the
meeting shall be held at the same hour on the next
succeeding business day. A majority of the incumbent
Directors shall constitute a quorum at any meeting, and
a majority of the members in attendance at any Board
meeting shall decide its action.

The meetings of the Board of Directors may be
conducted through modern technologies such as, but
not limited to, teleconferencing and video conferencing
as long as the director who is taking part in said
meetings can actively participate in the deliberations
on matters taken up therein. It is further required that
every member shall participate in at least twenty-five
percent (25%) of all meetings of the Board of Directors
every year. The absence of a director in more than fifty
percent (50%) of all regular and special meetings of
the board of directors during his/her incumbency is a
ground for disqualification in the succeeding election.



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Meetings of board committees are prescribed in their respective charters. Participation of committee
members may likewise be in person or through modern technologies. A director’'s attendance in
committee meetings is considered by the Corporate Governance Committee in the assessment of the
director’s continuing fitness and propriety as a member of the said board-level committee and of the Board
of Directors.

Non-executive directors are required to have separate periodic meetings with the external auditor and
heads of the internal audit, compliance and risk functions, without any executive directors present to ensure
that proper checks and balances are in place within the Bank.

From the period January to December 2018, the members’ attendance at Board and Committee meetings
are as follows:

BOARD EXCOM TRUST TECH PERC ACC ROC CcG RPT AML TOTAL
DIRECTORS % TOTAL

M A M A M A M A M A M A A M A
HELEN Y. DEE 13 1 47 42 .. 12 N .... 75 67 89.33%
CESAR E.A. VIRATA 1313 47 41 12 12 12 12 84 78 92.86%
GIL A. BUENAVENTURA 1313 47 42 12 12 12 N 84 78  92.86%
TZE CHING I. CHAN 13 12 12 92.31%
RICHARD G.A. WESTLAKE 13 12 23 92.00%
YUH-SHING (FRANCIS) PENG S i --. 27 7714%
JOHN LAW 13 12 13 92.86%
FLORENTINO M. HERRERA IlI 13 13 25 100.00%
ARMANDO M. MEDINA 13 13 -. 60  9524%
MELITO S. SALAZAR, JR, 13 12 48  90.57%
ADELITA A. VERGEL DE DIOS 13 1 51  80.95%
JUAN B. SANTOS g @ 18 66.67%
LILIA R. BAUTISTA 13 12 66  92.96%
GABRIEL S. CLAUDIO 13 12 42 87.50%
VAUGHN F. MONTES g | 18 75 98.68%

M = NUMBER OF MEETINGS
A = MEETINGS ATTENDED

Board Performance

The Corporate Governance Committee oversees the periodic evaluation of contribution and performance of the
Board of Directors, board-level committees, and senior management. This exercise covers the assessment of the
ongoing suitability of each member, taking into account his or her performance in the board of directors and board-
level committees.

The Corporate Governance Committee decides the manner by which the Board’s performance may be evaluated,
and propose an objective performance criteria approved by the Board. The performance indicators determine how
the Board has enhanced long-term shareholder value.
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Board of Directors Training Program

The Corporate Governance Committee oversees
the continuing education program for the Board of
Directors. The Training Program for the members of
the Board has been adopted in the Bank’s Corporate
Governance Manual.

Under the Bank’s Corporate Governance Manual, all
new directors must undergo proper orientation upon
joining the Board. This ensures that new members are
appropriately apprised of their duties and responsibilities
before beginning their directorships. The orientation
program covers SEC-mandated topics on corporate
governance and an introduction to the Bank’s business,
Articles of Incorporation, and Code of Conduct. The
Orientation Program is designed to meet the specific
needs of the individual directors and aid any new director
in effectively performing his or her functions.

In addition to the Orientation Program, first-time
directors are required to attend a seminar on corporate
governance following the BSP-prescribed syllabus.
The directors are required to submit a certification of
compliance of this requirement to BSP.

The members of the Board also undergo the Annual
Continuing Training Program. The program covers
courses on corporate governance, matters relevant
to the company, including audit, internal controls, risk
management, sustainability and strategy. The Board
of Directors, through the Corporate Governance
Committee, assesses its members training and
development needs in determining the coverage of the
Annual Continuing Training Program. The directors are
required to complete at least four hours of the Annual
Continuing Training Program.

Remuneration of the Board

Remuneration of directors is commensurate with their
contributions and scope of their responsibilities.

Executive directors do not receive any per diem for
attendance in board and board committee meetings.
They are entitled to remuneration and benefits by virtue
of their being officers of the Bank.

Non-executive directors are entitled to reasonable per
diem for attendance in board and board committee
meetings. Non-executive directors receive a per diem
of P35,000.00 for attendance in board meetings. The
Audit and Risk Oversight Committee Chairmen receive
P20,000.00 while members of the said committees

receive P15,000.00 per diem for attendance in meetings.
Per diem in other board committees is at no greater
than P15,000.00 for the chairman and P10,000.00
for members.

The members of the Board of Directors, the Advisory
Board, the Executive Committee and the Officers of the
Bank are entitled to profit sharing bonus in accordance
with the By-Laws of the Bank.

Remuneration Item 2018

(a) Per diem Allowance Php12,205,000.00
Non-Executive Directors,
Independent Directors and
members of the Advisory Board
are entitled to per diem

(aggregate amount for
NED’s, ID’s, for the Board and
Committees for the year 2018)

(b) Directors’ Bonuses

Directors’ bonuses are given to
executive, non-executive and
independent directors based on
the formula provided for in the
Bank’s By-Laws

TOTAL

N/A

Php12,205,000.00

Board Committees

The Board of Directors has delegated some of its
functions to the following board-level committees:

1. Executive Committee
Composition:

Chairman and at least four (4) members of the Board of
Directors

Members:

Helen Y. Dee - Chairperson

Gil A. Buenaventura - Vice Chairperson
Cesar E.A. Virata

Armando M. Medina (ID)

Lilia R. Bautista (ID)

The Executive Committee has the power to act and pass
upon such matters as the Board of Directors may entrust
to it for action. However, matters affecting general policy
are always referred to the Board of Directors for decision.
The Executive Committee has the power to review an
asset or loan to ensure timely recognition and resolution
of impaired assets. In 2018, the Executive Committee:



e Discussed various

agencies;

issuances by regulatory

e Approved non-DOSRI loans that reach the Single
Borrower’s Limit (SBL);

e Evaluated and approved various operations/
product manuals;

e Reviewed and endorsed for Board approval
various management matters;

e Deliberated upon and approved various
management matters within its approving
authority.

2. Audit and Compliance Committee
Composition:

The Audit and Compliance Committee shallbe composed
of at least three (3) non-executive directors, majority of
whom shall be independent including the Chairperson.
The Chairperson should not be the Chairperson of the
Board or of any other board-level committees. Members
of the committee should have accounting, auditing or
related financial management expertise or experience.

Members:

Melito S. Salazar, Jr. (ID) - Chairperson
Vaughn F. Montes (ID)
Adelita A. Vergel De Dios (ID)

The Audit and Compliance Committee assists the Board
in oversight responsibilities on: (1) financial reporting
framework (2) internal control system (3) internal audit
function (4) external audit function (5) compliance
function (6) implementation of corrective action and (6)
investigation of significant issues or any matter within its
terms of reference.

In 2018, work done include, but not limited, to the
following:

e Performance of oversight functions over the
internal and external auditors and ensuring that
they acted independently from each other and
both auditors were given unrestricted access to
records, properties and personnel in the discharge
of their functions.

¢ Review of audit reports of both internal and
external auditors and engaging in discussions
of the results of audits during Audit and
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Compliance Committee meetings to evaluate the
adequacy and effectiveness of internal control
system and risk management including financial
reporting and information technology security.
This also included the review of the annual and
quarterly financial statements before submission
to the Board and regulators focusing on the
following matters:

- Any changes in accounting policies and
practices;

- Significant adjustments arising from audit;
-  Compliance with accounting standards;

- Compliance with tax, legal and regulatory
requirements;

- Going concern assumptions;
- Major judgmental areas; and

- Completeness of disclosures of material
information including subsequent events and
related party transactions.

Review of the extent and scope, activities,
staffing, resources and organizational structure
of the Internal Audit function and approved
the annual audit plan to ensure its conformity
with the objectives of the Bank. This also
included quarterly review of audit plan
accomplishment /status including capacity and
manpower complement.

Review of the extent and scope, activities,
staffing, resources and organizational structure of
the Compliance Function.

Review and approval of the annual testing plan
and monitoring the status thereof.

Review and approval of the Compliance Charter
and Manual

Review of the compliance reports of the
Compliance Officer to assess compliance with
laws, rules and regulations. This also included
the review of findings of any examinations by
regulatory agencies (e.g., BSP).

Review of the Audit and Compliance Charter.

Approval of the Subsidiary Oversight framework
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*  Approval of the AML sanctions policy

*  Approval of the Compliance Issues Management
Procedures

*  Approval of the Written Supervisory Procedures

3. Risk Oversight Committee
Composition:

The Risk Oversight Committee (ROC) shall be composed
of at least three (3) members of the board of directors,
majority of whom shall be independent directors,
including the chairperson. The ROC's chairperson
shall not be the chairperson of the board of directors,
or any other board-level committee. The risk oversight
committee shall possess a range of expertise
and adequate knowledge on risk management issues
and practices.

Members:

Vaughn F. Montes (ID) - Chairperson
Melito S. Salazar, Jr. (ID) - Vice Chairperson
Richard G.A. Westlake

Observers:

John Law
Gil A. Buenaventura

The highlights of the Risk Oversight Committee’s actions
in 2018 are as follows:

Risk Governance Framework

¢ Approval of amended ROC Charter

* Approval of amended Risk Governance
Framework

* Approval of revised CRISMS organizational
structure

Enterprise Risk and ICAAP

*  Approval of ICAAP and Recovery Plan Document

*«  Approval of creation of
Committee

ICAAP Management

¢ Approval of Risk Appetite Framework
« Approval of Stress Testing Framework

*  Approval of SEMS Policy

¢ Monitoring of capital adequacy
*  Monitoring of adherence to risk appetite

¢ Monitoring of RCBC Group Risk Profile, Monitoring
of Risk Dashboards, and Risk Heat Maps

¢ Notation of Portfolio reports

*  Notation of SEMS reports

« Notation of Risk-Weighted Asset analysis reports
Credit Risk

* Endorsement of Credit Risk Policy Manual for
Board approval

* Notation of Credit Risk reports and Loan Portfolio
Stress Test reports

» Notation of Credit Rating Model Performance
Review reports

*  Approval of Independent Credit Review Manual
« Notation of Independent Credit Review reports

*  Notation of credit strategy presentations and
industry reports

Market & Liquidity Risk

*  Approval of Market & Liquidity Risk limits for 2018

* Approval of Risk

Framework

Liquidity Management

« Notation of Market & Liquidity Risk reports and
Stress Test reports

Operational Risk

* Approval of amended Risk

Management Framework

Operational

*  Notation of Operational Risk reports

* Notation of Key Risk Indicator (KRI) monitoring
reports

*  Notation of 2018 RCSA results
« Notation of Control Sample Test results
* Notation of Surprise Branch Visit updates

¢ Notation of fraud incident reports and fraud
management updates



IT & Information Security

*  Approval of Information Security Program (ISP)
Document

* Notation of Information Security reports

¢ Notation of Information Security KRI monitoring
reports

¢ Notation of the Risk Management Systems reports

Business Continuity Management

» versight of Annual Disaster Recovery and Business
Continuity Program (BCP) exercise

*  Notation of Business Continuity Management
(BCM) Framework presentations

* Notation of update on process of escalating
material incidents to the Board

* Notation of Business Resiliency reports

Compliance & AML Risk

*  Approval of AML Sanctions Policy
*  Notation of revised AML Key Risk Indicators

*  Notation of AML Control Sample Test results

4. The Corporate Governance Committee
Composition:

At least four (4) members of the board of directors
who shall all be non-executive directors, majority of
whom shall be independent directors, including the
chairperson, with (1) one member representing the
minority shareholders.

Members:

Adelita A. Vergel de Dios (ID) - chairperson
Vaughn F. Montes (ID)

Gabriel S. Claudio (ID)

Yuh-Shing (Francis) Peng

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Corporate Governance Committee assists the
Board of Directors in fulfilling its corporate governance
responsibilities. The highlights of the actions of the
Corporate Governance Committee in 2018 are as follows:

*  Approval of the 2017 Integrated Annual Corporate
Governance Report (ACGR)

* Exercised oversight on the nomination process
for members of the Board of Directors and for
positions requiring board approval;

* Ensured the implementation of the training
program for the members of the Board of
Directors;

* Facilitated the performance evaluation process
of the Board of Directors, the Board-level
Committees, the individual members, the
Chairperson and the CEO;

* Reviewed and endorsed for Board approval the
interlocking positions of directors and officers;

* Exercised oversight on the Bank’s Performance
Management Framework;

* Exercised oversight on the Bank’s succession plan
for the CEO and senior executives;

* Enhanced disclosures by ensuring that gaps
identified in ASEAN Corporate Governance
Scorecard are addressed.

5. The Related Party Transactions Committee
Composition:

The Related Party Transactions (RPT) Committee shall
be composed of at least three (3) members of the board
of directors, two (2) of whom shall be independent
directors, including the chairperson. The Committee
shall at all times be entirely composed of independent
directors and non-executive directors, with independent
directors comprising majority of the members.

Members:

Adelita A. Vergel De Dios (ID) - chairperson
Gabriel S. Claudio (ID)
Yuh-Shing (Francis) Peng
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The RPT Committee assists the Board in ensuring that
transactions with related parties are handled in a sound
and prudent manner, with integrity, and in compliance
with applicable laws and regulations. In 2018, the
RPT Committee fulfilled its mandate under its charter
particularly on the review and disclosure of material
related party transactions. Work done by the Committee
in 2018 includes the following:

¢ Review of related party transactions with a
threshold amount of Phpl0,000.00 and above
and those that require Board approval, i.e., DOSRI
loans, to ensure that such transactions are not
undertaken on more favorable economic terms to
such related parties than similar transactions with
non-related parties under similar circumstances;

* Oversaw the filing of required reports under BSP
Circular No. 895, as amended, i.e, Report on
Conglomerate Structure and Report on Material
Related Party Transactions.

6. The Anti-Money Laundering Committee
Composition:

Three (3) directors, majority of which are independent
directors including the chairperson.

Members:

Gabriel S. Claudio (ID) - Chairperson
Florentino M. Herrera |l
Vaughn F. Montes

Observer:
Gil A. Buenaventura

The AML Committee assists the Board of Directors
in its mandate to fully comply with the Anti-Money
Laundering Act, as amended, its Revised Implementing
Rules and Regulations and the Anti-Money Laundering
Regulations under the Manual of Regulations for Banks
(MORB); and to ensure that oversight on the Bank’s
compliance management is adequate. Its specific duties
and responsibilities include:

Client Profiling

* Toreview and approve the AML client risk profiling
model and changes thereto;

¢ To review and note changes in the risk profiles of
clients, i.e., downgrading from high risk to normal
or low risk, and upgrading from low risk to normal
or high risk;

« To review and approve changes in the sensitivity
of watch list name screening on Base60;

STR Reporting

« To note the suspicious transaction reports filed
pursuant to the approval of the AML Management
Committee;

Alerts Monitoring

e To approve changes in alert scenarios, rules,
parameters and thresholds in AML alert
management and transaction monitoring systems;

< To review and approve reports on transactions
disposed as false positive;

Disposition of Issues

e Toreview and recommend actions for AML critical
issues;

* To review and approve reports on transactions
disposed via Triage;

* To review and note closure of accounts;

Compliance Testing and Monitoring

e To review and approve AML compliance risk
assessment;

* To review and approve the annual testing plan
and changes thereto;

* To review the findings of Compliance Testing for
AML and approve sanctions to be imposed as a
result of such findings;

e To monitor and oversee timely compliance and
responses to BSP/AMLC findings on regular or
special examination in relation to AML.

Policy and Manuals

* Toreview the Bank’s MLPP for the approval of the
Board of Directors;

e To review and approve the Manuals on the
following:

a. System;

b. Alerts



c. Policy;
d. Testing
Others

« To review and approve training plan for the Board
and bank employees on AML;

* To note the Covered Transactions Reports;

¢ To note the AML risk indicators set by the Risk
Oversight Committee;

e To confirm minutes of the AML Management
Committee;

¢ To monitor the status of requests for information
by the regulators, i.e., BSP and AMLC.

7. The Trust Committee
Composition:

At least five (5) members including (i) the president or
any senior officer of the bank and (ii) the trust officer.
The remaining committee members, including the
chairman, may be any of the following: (i) non-executive
directors or independent directors who are not part of
the Audit Committee or (ii) those considered as qualified
independent professionals, provided that in case there
are more than five (5) Trust Committee members, the
majority shall be composed of qualified non-executive
members

Members:

Juan B. Santos (ID) - chairperson
Gil A. Buenaventura

Cesar E.A. Virata

Lilia R. Bautista (ID)

Trust Officer!

Lourder M. Ferrer (retired effective May 27, 2018), replaced by Mario T. Miranda

The Trust Committee is a special committee which
reports directly to the Board of Directors and is primarily
responsible for overseeing the fiduciary activities of the
Bank. lts activities in 2018 include the following:

¢ Formulation of new policies and guidelines

o Approval of Revised Trust Policy Manual (April
2018)
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Approval of Revised Trust Risk Policy Manual
(February 2018)

Approval of the Stock Transfer Operations
Manual (March 2018)

Approval of new policies and guidelines

Revision of the Trust Operations Manual on
the process of closure/termination

Amendments to the Guidelines on
Provisioning for Loans and Other Risk
Assets

Addendum to the Policy on Related
Party Transactions covering investment
management and trust accounts

Amendment to Credit Scoring of Local and
Foreign Financial Institutions

Amendments to the Basic Security Deposit
for the Faithful Performance of Trust Duties

Amendment to the
Transaction Policy

Related  Party

Revised Procedures and Documentary
Requirements in relation to Retirement and
Separation Benefit Payments

Changes in the Documentation of the
termination/closure of corporation and
institutional clients

Guidelines and Procedures on Customer
Information File (CIF) Creation and and
Maintenance

Update on the TIG Business Continuity
Plan (BCP)

Inclusion of Product-to-FRPTI Mapping
Table to the Trust Policy Manual

Revised TIG Equity Rating System

Differentiated Policies and Procedures in
the Trust Policy Manual

Revised Reqguirement for becoming a
certified UITF marketing personnel
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Conducted oversight of trust business
o Review of Trust performance for 2017
o Approval of Trust business plans for 2018

o Approval of the Audited Financial Statements
of TIG and the Rizal UITFs for 2017 (February
2018)

o Discussions on the results of the Self-
Assessment of the Trust Committee for 2017

o Review of financial performance of Trust for
2018

o Discussions of impact of new regulations
issued on the trust business

o Review of industry landscape and trends

o Monthly review of status of trust loan portfolio
and past due loans

o Annual status report on ROPAs held by Trust
o Performance review of accounts

o Administrative review of accounts (Year-round
as presented by management)

o Report on compliance with client prescribed
limits (quarterly)

o Monthly review of pre-need assets

o Review of various directed equities (March
2018)

o Discussions on the monthly market updates
and investment strategies of Trust

o Product development efforts for 2018

=  Termination of the Rizal Global Equity
Feeder Fund

= Revised Benchmark for Rizal USD Bond
Fund

= Release of various UITF teasers and
advertisements to promote product
awareness

o Discussions on accounts opened and closed
on a monthly basis together with new
mandates obtained

o Review of organization structure, succession
plan for Trust and other HR matters

o Discussions on the pertinent provisions of
Republic Act (RA) No. 10963 (TRAIN)

o Discussions on the implementation of PFRS9,
Financial Instruments

Evaluation and approval of management
recommendations on the investment and
disposition of funds or properties held in trust

o Approval of lines for local financial institutions
(November 2018)

o Approvaloflines of foreign financial institutions
(July 2018)

o Accreditation of stockbrokers (September
2018)

o Approval of credit lines for corporate
borrowers and bond issuers (as necessary)

o Approval of the list of investment outlets for
various accounts (as necessary)

o Approval of various issues (tender offers,
bonds, IPOs and preferred shares) offered in
the market

o Approval of list of equity issues (November
2018)

Management of risks in the conduct of the trust
business

o Monthly discussions and review of various risk
management reports (market risk, credit risk,
operational risk, reputation risk, strategic risk,
legal risk)

o Discussions on incident reports and issues
affecting Trust

o Monitoring of the proper implementation of
approved policies and guidelines

o Review of compliance with applicable laws
and regulations

o Development of the New Trust core system
(Miles Moneyware)

o Updates on regulatory developments affecting
the Trust business



¢ Audit and compliance

o Composite rating of 3 or “Satisfactory” from
the BSP Audit as of May 31, 2018

o Completed compliance review of TIG as of
August 31, 2018

o Addressed various audit and compliance
issues in BSP examination, internal audit and
compliance reviews

8. The Technology Committee

Composition:

At least three (3) members of the Board of Directors.
Members:

Helen Y. Dee - chairperson
Gil A. Buenaventura
Cesar E.A. Virata

The Technology Committee exercises authority over all
IT Project Steering Committees of the various RCBC
Business Groups and subsidiaries (The Group), with the
principal purpose of assisting the Board in fulfilling the
following oversight responsibilities:

« Approves major IT investments.

¢ Manages and aligns IT initiatives across the Group.
* Reviews status of major projects.

* Prioritizes IT initiatives, when warranted.

e Evaluates emerging IT solutions for use of the
Group.

¢ Reviews and resolves IT risks and other IT related
issues raised in the TechCom.

e Ensures compliance to BSP rules and regulations
relating to Information Technology.

9. The Personnel Evaluation and Review Committee
Composition:

A Chairperson, who shall be a member of the Board
of Directors, and other members who may either be
directors or senior management officers of RCBC.
The Head of the Internal Audit Group shall sit during
meetings as a resource person.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Members:

Chairperson of the Board
Head, Human Resources Group
Head, Retail Banking Group
Head, Operations Group

Head, Controllership Group
Head, Business Risk Group
Head, Legal Affairs Group

The Personnel Evaluation and Review Committee is
created by the Board of Directors for the following
purposes:

« To act as an independent body in the evaluation
and review of cases involving dishonesty, fraud,
negligence or violation of any internal Bank
policy, rule or procedure committed by an RCBC
employee resulting to an actual or potential
loss to the Bank of at least One Million Pesos
(Php1,000,000.00).

e To ensure that the appropriate preventive,
corrective and disciplinary measures are imposed
on cases involving dishonesty, fraud, negligence
or violation of any internal Bank policy, rule or
procedure committed by an RCBC employee.

e Such other purposes as may be necessary in the
performance and discharge of its functions.

Advisory Board

The Bank has an Advisory Board that provides informed
guidance to the Board of Directors. Members of the
Advisory Board are appointed by the Board of Directors.
They do not have any voting rights but contribute by
way of providing non-binding but relevant advice
during board meetings. While the By-Laws allow for
up to 10 members in the Advisory Board, the Bank
has 3 appointed Advisory Board members. Each of
these members is considered as business leaders and
is of known probity and integrity. The members of the
Advisory Board are Atty. Lilia B. De Lima, Mr. Francis C.
Laurel and Ms. Yvonne S. Yuchengco.
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SHAREHOLDINGS IN THE COMPANY

As of December 31, 2018, only the following stockholders own more than 5% of RCBC’s common stock:

Name, Address of record

Name of Beneficial

Corporation (IFC) &
IFC Capitalization (Equity)
Fund, L.P.

Address: 2121 Pennsylvania
Avenue, NW Washington, DC
20433 USA

Relationship with Issuer:

Stockholder

Ui @) owner and relationship with | Owner and Relationship | Citizenship umbenol Perocent
Class . Shares Held (%)
Issuer with Record Owner
Common Pan Malayan Management & Pan Malayan Filipino 804,431,469* 41.56%
Investment Corporation Management &
Address: 48/F Yuchengco Investment Corporation
Tower, RCBC Plaza 6819 Ayala | The records in the
Avenue Makati City possession of the
Relati hi ith i ) Bank show that the
elationship with issuer. beneficial ownership of
RCBC is a subsidiary of PMMIC | this company belong
to the shareholders of
record of said company.
The Bank has not been
advised otherwise.,
Common | Cathay Life Insurance Non-Filipino 452,018,582 | 23.35%
Corporation
Address: 296 Ren Al Road
Sec4 Taipei 10633
Taiwan R.O.C.
Relationship with Issuer:
Stockholder
Common | International Finance Non-Filipino 107,875,642 557%

*Combined Direct and Indlirect Shares of PMMIC
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The following directors and officers directly and indirectly own shares in RCBC:

Title of Name of Beneficial Owner Amount and nature of record Citizenship Percent of
Class / beneficial ownership Class
Par Amount Nature %)
Directors
Common Helen Y. Dee 13,988,060 R/B Filipino 0.07
Common Gil A. Buenaventura 50 R/B Filipino 0.00
Common Cesar E.A. Virata 1,384,340 R/B Filipino 0.01
Common Lilia R. Bautista 50 R Filipino 0.00
Common Vaughn F. Montes 50 R Filipino 0.00
Common Florentino M. Herrera Il 46,730 | R/ B Filipino | Filipino 0.00
Common Richard G.A. Westlake 10 R New Zealander | 0.00
Common Tze Ching Chan 10 R Chinese 0.00
Common Yu - Shing Peng 10 R R.O.C. Taiwan 0.00
Common Armando M. Medina 1,950 R Filipino 0.00
Common John Law 10 R French 0.00
Common Gabriel S. Claudio 10 R Filipino 0.00
Common Melito S. Salazar Jr. 10 R Filipino 0.00
Common Adelita A. Vergel de Dios 10 R Filipino 0.00
Common Juan B. Santos 50 R Filipino 0.00
Subtotal 15,421,350
Executive Officers
Common Evelyn Nolasco 27,000 B Filipino 0.00
Subtotal 27,000
TOTAL 15,448,350

CONGLOMERATE STRUCTURE

The Bank is a member of the Pan Malayan Management and Investment Corporation (PMMIC)/Yuchengco Group of
Companies (YGC) conglomerate, and the parent of the RCBC Group. The Board of Directors of the Bank ensures the
RCBC Group’s compliance with corporate governance policies, practices and requirements under existing regulations.
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PAN MALAYAN MANAGEMENT AND INVESTMENT CORPORATION (PMMIC)

GPL HOLDINGS, INC.
MICO EQUITIES, INC. 60.313% PMMIC,
77.26% 15.623% AT Yuchengco,
Inc., 10.024% RCBC

SUNLIFE GREPA FINANCIAL, INC.
LIFE INSURANCE
—— MALAYAN INSURANCE 51% GPL Holdings
COMPANY, INC.
80% MICO Equities Inc.

BANKERS ASSURANCE GREPALIFE ASSET MANAGEMENT
CORPORATION CORPORATION®
Non-Life Insurance Company - 99.99%
(99.99%)
GREAT LIFE FINANCIAL
FIRSHNATIONWIDE | ASSURANCE CORPORATION
ASSURANCE CORP. T00%

MEI 45.27%; MICO 54.72%

GREPA REALTY HOLDINGS CORP.
51% Sun Life Grepa,
MALAYAN INTERNATIONAL 49% GPL Holdings

—— INSURANCE CORP. LTD

REINSURANCE (99.99%)

I GREPALAND, INC. REALTY
COMPANY
——  41% GPL Holdings, 32% PMMIC,
MALAYAN INSURANCE CO. 27% Albert S. Yuchengco
(HK) LTD.

Reinsurance Company (99.99%)

PAN PACIFIC COMPUTER CENTER, —
IN %

PEOPLE ESERVE CORPORATION 100%  se——

MALAYAN EDUCATION SYSTEM, —
INC. 93%

MAPUA INFORMATION
—— TECHNOLOGY CENTER,
INC. 100%

MALAYAN HIGH SCHOOL
OF SCIENCE, INC. 100%

MALAYAN COLLEGES
LAGUNA, INC. 100%

MAPUA TECHSERYV, INC.
99.99%

SAN LORENZO RUIZ
INSTITUTE OF HEALTH
SCIENCES, INC. 100%

HOUSE OF INVESTMENT (HOI)
47.83% common,
37.49% preferred

EEI CORPORATION
Engineering Construction 44.32%

EQUIPMENT ENGINEERS,
INC.; GULF ASIA INTERNA-
TIONAL CORPORATION; GAIC
MANPOWER SERVICES, INC.,
EEI CONSTRUCTION AND
MARINE, INC., EEI REALTY
CORPORATION; EEI (BVI)
LTD.; EEI CORPORATION
(GUAM) INC., CLEAR
JEWEL INVESTMENTS, LTD.;
NIMARIDGE INVESTMENTS,
LTD,, EEI (NC) LTD. 100%

EEI POWER CORPORATION
86.61% EEI, 13.39% Equipment
Engineers, Inc
i
i
PETROSOLAR CORPORATION
43.998% EE| Power Corporation,
55.996% PetroGreen Energy

LANDEV CORPORATION?
Realty Management Service 100%

‘GREYHOUNDS SECURITY AND
INVESTIGATION CORPORATION
99.99%

HEXAGON LOUNGE, INC.
100%

ZAMBOWOOD REALTY AND
DEVELOPMENT CORP. 100%

MANILA MEMORIAL PARK
CEMETERY, INC.
25.98% HOI, 13.53% GPL
Holdings, Inc.

LA FUNERARIA PAZ SUCAT, INC.
Services 37.5% HOI

HONDA CARS KALOOKAN INC.
55%

ZAMBOANGA IND’L FINANCE

Finance Company 50%

XAMDU MOTORS, INC. 99.2%

ZAMBOANGA CARRIERS 100%

HI-ESAI PHARMACEUTICALS,INC.

Joint Venture Pharmaceutical Co.
50%

INVESTMENT MANAGERS, INC.
100%

IPEOPLE, INC.
IT Company 67.02%

I—

RIZAL COMMERCIAL BANKING PMMIC
CORPORATION — (OTHERS)
33.70%
LUISITA INDUSTRIAL PARK
RCBC CAPITAL CORPORATION
INVESTMENT BANKING 99.96% —— CORP. REAL ESTATE DEVELOPER

56% PMMIC, 35% RCBC

RCBC SECURITIES, INC. Y REALTY CORPORATION
STOCK BROKERAGE 100% —— REALTY COMPANY
100%

RCBC LAND, INC.
| LAND DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
PetroEnergy Resources 100% PMMIC
Corporation 92.475% PCD Nominee
Corp. (51.323% RCBC Securities: [
9.709% GPL Holdings, Inc. 24.531% 1
HI, 10.686% RCAP, 6.397% Others)

RCBC REALTY, CORPORATION
27.34% RCBC Land,
22.66% PMMIC, 10% HOI,
40% RECO Rizal Pine Pte Ltd

RCBC BANKARD SERVICES CORP.
100%

ET YUCHENGCO, INC.

—— REALTY COMPANY

RCBC FOREX BROKERS CORP. 45.89%, 12.76% AS Yuchengco Il
Forex Brokers 100%

BCECSAVINGEBANKYCON MONA LISA DEVELOPMENT

Realty Company

56.25%
MERCHANTS SAVINGS AND LOANS

ASSOCIATION, INC./
RIZAL MICROBANK 98.03%

SEAFRONT RESOURCES CORP.
HOLDING COMPANY

RCBC LEASING AND FINANCE 18.69% PMMIC

CORPORATION’® 97.80% RCBC

PHILIPPINE INTEGRATED
e ADVERTISING AGENCY, INC.

RCBC RENTAL CORP. 100% 100%
RCBC-JPL HOLDING COMPANY, INC. PAN MALAYAN EXPRESS, INC.
99.41% RCBC — TRAVEL AGENCY
100%
RCBC INT’L. FINANCE, LTD. PAN MALAYAN REALTY, INC.
HONG KONG FINANCING COMPANY I 24.09% PMMIC,
100% 38.45% Amb. Alfonso T. Yuchengco

RCBC INVESTMENTS, LTD. 100%

NIYOG PROPERTY HOLDINGS, INC.
4811% RCBC, 51.89% RSB

'YGC CORPORATE SERVICES, INC.
40% RCBC, 30.7% MICO, 10.7%
Sun Life, 11.9% EEI, 5.4% HOI

ISUZU PHILIPPINES CORPORATION
15%

HONDA CARS PHILIPPINES
12.88%



MANAGEMENT

Chief Executive Officer

The Bank’s CEO is Mr. Gil A. Buenaventura. He is
responsible for the management of the business and
affairs of the Bank, guided by the strategic direction
and risk appetite approved by the Board of Directors.
He is primarily accountable to the Board of Directors
in championing the desired conduct and behavior,
implementing strategies, and promoting the long-term
interest of the Bank. He ensures that the business and
affairs of the Bank are managed in a sound and prudent
manner, and that operational, financial and internal
controls are adequate and effective.

The CEO is also in charge of public relations and
advertising relations with the BSP and other offices,
agencies and instrumentalities of the Philippine
government, the Bankers’ Association of the Philippines
and other industry associations. He is a member of the
Executive Committee and of all major management
committees, and exercises such other powers and
performs such other duties as the Board of Directors
may prescribe from time to time.

The CEO provides leadership for Management in
developing and implementing business strategies, plans
and budgets to the extent approved by the Board. He
provides the Board with a balanced and understandable
account of the Bank’s performance, financial condition,
results of operations prospects on a regular basis.

The Bank’s Corporate Governance Manual prescribes
that the positions of Chairperson and CEO shall not be
held by one person.

Duties and Responsibilities of Management

Under the direction of the Board, Management shall
ensure that the Bank’s activities are consistent with
the business strategy, risk tolerance and appetite, and
policies approved by the Board. Senior Management
is responsible and held accountable for overseeing the
day-to-day management of the Bank. Thus, itis required
that members of Senior Management shall have the
necessary experience, competencies and integrity to
manage the businesses under their supervision as well
as have appropriate control over the key individuals in
these areas.

Management Committees

The Bank has four senior management committees
that provide a regular forum, at a lower level, to take up
risk issues:
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The Credit and Collection Committee (CRECOL),
chaired by the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and
composed of the heads of credit risk-taking business
units and the head of credit management segment,
meets weekly to review and approve credit exposures
within its authority. It also reviews plans and progress
on the resolution of problem loan accounts.

The Asset/Liability Committee (ALCO), chaired by the
Treasurer of the Parent Bank and with the participation
of the CEO and key business and support unit heads,
meets weekly to appraise market trends and economic
and political developments. It provides direction in the
management of interest rate risk, liquidity risk, foreign
currency risk and trading and investment portfolio
decisions. It sets prices/rates for various asset and
liability and trading products in light of funding costs
and competitive and other market conditions. It receives
confirmation that market risk limits (as described in the
succeeding pages) are not breached; or if breached,
provides guidance on the handling of the relevant risk
exposure in between ROC meetings.

The Related Party Transactions Management
Committee (RPT ManCom), composed of select Group
Heads of the business units as specified in the charter or
their respective designates. It meets monthly to review
and approve proposed RPT below the materiality
threshold for the purpose of determining whether or
not the transaction is on terms no less favorable to the
Bank than terms available to any unconnected third
party under the same or similar circumstances unless
the transaction requires board approval. On favorable
review, the RPT ManCom endorses the transaction for
BOD confirmation.

The Anti-Money Laundering Committee (AMLCQC),
chaired by the Chief Compliance Officer, meets weekly
for the evaluation of suspicious transaction reports
(STRs) filed by various units prior to its submission
to the Anti-Money Laundering Council (AMLC). In
addition to the evaluation of STRs, the Committee also
reviews filed AML cases and tagged frozen accounts.
The Committee is also advised on the status or results
of AML testing/audit conducted on the business units,
and is informed and consulted on internal policies and
external laws pertaining to AML. Lastly, the Committee
ensures proper compliance with BSP rules and
regulations relating to AML.
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Long-Term Bonus Plan for Key Employees and Material Risk Takers

The Bank has set a performance period of 5 years in establishing a long-term bonus plan for key employees and
material risk takers as this is seen as necessary to ensure that they do not take a short-sighted view, and will be
driven to work for the long-term financial success of the organization. The performance-driven approach aligns the
interests of key employees with the shareholders’ interests and links the long-term bonus plan to the achievement
of business and performance objectives by key employees which is deemed to have a major influence on the long-
term performance of the Bank and to the market value of the shares of the Bank. In determining the bonus pool,
consideration is given to the Bank’s financial performance, market benchmarks and market conditions, as well as
to individual performance of the employees. Consideration is given to audit findings and a general evaluation of
the risks taken.

The right long-term bonus plan for an organization is one that meets the following objectives:

1. Alignment with shareholder interests. The long-term bonus plan must be one that drives high performance
and contributes to overall business goals, including sustainable long-term growth, thereby increasing
shareholder value.

2. Key employees’ retention. It must attract, retain and reward the key employees that are able to successfully
execute the organization’s strategic objectives.

3. Alignment of the bonus plan with prudent risk-taking. The bonus plan must be one that is designed to
provide incentives to build sustainable sources of income and enterprise value. Long term bonuses awarded
are earned over a 5 year period and are directly correlated to changes in profitability and enterprise value.

Senior Executive Compensation

The aggregate compensation paid or accrued to the Bank’s Chief Executive Officer and four other most highly
compensated executive officers are as follows (in thousand pesos):

Names Principal Position Aggr&geattgfcboomnzse:ss)ation Bonuses
Gil A. Buenaventura President & Chief Executive Officer 68,992 21,756
Redentor C. Bancod Senior Executive Vice President
John Thomas G. Deveras Senior Executive Vice President
Rommel S. Latinazo Executive Vice President
Emmanuel T. Narciso First Senior Vice President




TABLE OF ORGANIZATION

The following is an overview of the Bank’'s Table of
Organization as of March 31, 2019:

BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

H. Y. DEE
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GGG DELA
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FSVP CORPORATE
SECRETARY

RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS
COMMITTEE

PERSONNEL
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EXECUTIVE
COMMITTEE

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE

RISK
OVERSIGHT
COMMITTEE

AML
COMMITTEE
AUDIT &

COMPLIANCE
COMMITTEE

HE CEBRERO Il
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BCD SANTIAGO
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GGG DELA CUESTA
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LEGAL AFFAIRS
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MP ALVAREZ
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CORPORATE
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JG DEVERAS
SEVP HEAD,
l—  STRATEGIC
INITIATIVES &
RC BANCOD ASSET MGT &
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SEVP HEAD,
IT SHARED
SVCS GROUP RC BANCOD
SEVP HEAD,
™  (CONCURRENT)
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SENIOR RC BANCOD e
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—  OFFICER/HEAD, SEVP CHIEF OF
TRUST AND COMMITTEE STAFF RF SUBIDO
INVESTMENT
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— HUMAN
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GROUP
PRESIDENT &
CHIEF
e FM MADONZA
—  FSVPHEAD,
CONTROLLERSHIP
GROUP
R ASSETE ER ERMITA
COLLECTION LIABILITY SVP BANK
COMMITTEE MMITTEE SECURITY
£o OFFICER REELER
L—  FSvPHEAD,
DATA SCIENCE AND
J AHMAD ANALYTICS
FSVP, CHIEF RISK
OFFICER / HEAD,
CORPORATE RISK ES ACEVEDO RCLIM
MGT SVCS GROUP
DEPUTY CHIEF EVP HEAD,
EXECUTIVE RETAIL BANKING
OFFICER GROUP
ALS LIM EE CORONEL
| —  FSVPHEAD,
COMPLIANCE CONGLO &
OFFICER/HEAD, GLOBAL CORP
REGULATORY
AFFAIRS GROUP HRNAING ol
MO DE JESUS
EMD VEGAMORA
| EVPHEAD,
EVP/CHIEF NATIONAL
AUDIT EXEC & CORPORATE
0UP HEAD, BANKING GROUP
AUDIT GROUP

MB LOPEZ
— FSVP HEAD,
DIGITAL BANKING
GROUP
ET NARCISO
FSVP HEAD,
GLOBAL

TRANSACTION
BANKING GROUP

MCF NATIVIDAD

— SVP HEAD,
MARKETING
GROUP
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SHAREHOLDERS

Shareholders’ Rights and Protection of Minority
Stockholders’ Interest

The Bank respects the rights of the stockholders as
provided for in the Corporation Code; namely:

1. Right to vote on all matters that require their
consent or approval;

2. Right to inspect the books and records of the
Bank;

3. Right to information;
4. Right to dividends; and
5. Appraisal right.

It is the duty of the Board to promote the rights of the
stockholders, remove impediments to the exercise of
those rights and provide an adequate avenue for them
to seek timely redress for breach of their rights, i.e., any
shareholder or group of shareholders with at least five
percent (5%) share of the total outstanding shares of the
company shall be allowed to propose any relevant item
for inclusion in the agenda for the meeting.

Right to Nominate Candidates for Board of Directors

The By-Laws of the Bank allows to all shareholders,
including minority stockholders, the right to nominate
candidates for the Board of Directors.

Voting Right

The Board shall be transparent and fair in the conduct
of the annual and special stockholders’ meetings of
the Bank. The stockholders shall be encouraged to
personally attend such meetings.

In case the stockholders cannot attend the annual
and special stockholders’ meetings, they shall be
apprised ahead of time of their right to appoint a proxy.
Subject to the requirements of the by-laws, the exercise
of that right shall not be unduly restricted and any doubt
about the validity of a proxy shall be resolved in the
stockholders’ favor,

The Board shall take the appropriate steps to remove
excessive costs and other administrative impediments
to the stockholders’ participation in meetings, whether
in person or by proxy. Accurate and timely information
shall be made available to the stockholders to enable
them to make a sound judgment on all matters brought
to their attention for consideration or approval.

Stockholders shall have the right to elect, remove and
replace directors and vote on certain corporate acts in
accordance with the Corporation Code.

A director shall not be removed without cause if it shall
deny minority stockholders representation in the Board.

Conduct of Shareholders’ Meeting

Stockholders are encouraged to personally attend
shareholders’ meetings. In case the stockholders cannot
attend the annual and special stockholders’ meetings,
they are apprised ahead of time of their right to appoint
a proxy. Accurate and timely information is made
available to the stockholders to enable them to make a
sound judgment on all matters brought to their attention
for consideration or approval. Stockholders are allowed
to pose questions and/or raise matters in person during
the meeting and are addressed by the Chairperson,
members of the Board and/or management.

The last Annual Stockholders’ Meeting was held on
June 25, 2018. The Bank hired an independent party,
Punongbayan & Araullo, to count and validate votes
cast at the said meeting. Proper and timely disclosures
were made immediately after the ASM. Results of the
meeting as well as minutes thereof are available in the
Bank’s website.

Right to Inspection

All stockholders shall be allowed to inspect corporate
books and records including minutes of Board meetings
and stock registries in accordance with the Corporation
Code and shallbe furnished with annual reports, including
financial statements, without cost or restrictions.

Right to Information

The stockholders shall be provided, upon request,
with periodic reports which disclose personal and
professional information about the directors and officers
and certain other matters such as their holdings of
the Bank’s shares, dealing with the Bank, relationships
among directors and key officers, and the aggregate
compensation of directors and officers.

The minority stockholders shall be granted the right
to propose the holding of a meeting, and the right to
propose items in the agenda of the meeting, provided
the items are for legitimate business purposes.

The minority stockholders shall have access to any
and all information relating to matters for which the
management is accountable for and to those relating to
matters for which the management shall include such
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information and, if not included, then the minority stockholders shall be allowed to propose to include such matters
in the agenda of stockholders’ meeting, being within the definition of “legitimate purposes”.

Dividend Policy

Article XI, Section 1 of the By-Laws of the Bank, provides that dividends shall be declared and paid out of the surplus
profits of the Bank as often and at such times as the Board of Directors may determine after making provisions for
the necessary reserves in accordance with law and the regulations of the Central Bank of the Philippines.

As a policy, management shall determine the amount of dividends to be declared and present the recommendation
for the declaration of the same to the Board of Directors for approval. If it has stipulated dividend payment obligations,
the Bank shall declare dividends in accordance with its commitment.

The Bank ensures compliance with pre-requisites set by the BSP for the declaration of dividends.

The net amount available for dividends is also in accordance with the formula provided under & X136.3 of the BSP’s
Manual of Regulations for Banks, as follows:

Amount of unrestricted or free earned surplus and undivided profits less:
a. Bad debts against which valuation reserves are not required by the BSP to be set up;

b. Unbooked valuation reserves, and other unbooked capital adjustments required by the BSP, whether or not
allowed to be set up on a staggered basis;

c. Deferred income tax;

d.  Accumulated profits not yet received but already recorded by a bank representing its share in profits of its
subsidiaries under the equity method of accounting;

e. Accrued interest as required to be excluded pursuant to Iltem “d” of Subsec. X305.4, net of booked valuation
reserves on accrued interest receivable or allowance for uncollectible interest on loans; and

f.  Foreign exchange profit arising from revaluation of foreign exchange denominated accounts.

For purposes of the subsection, any balance of Paid-in Surplus account may be included in the amount available for
stock dividends.

Details of the 2018 cash dividend distribution are as follows:
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Dividend Record Date Date Approved
Natur_e .°f T?tal Amount Date Paid / Payable
Securities Per Share (in Thousand By BOD By BSP
Php)
Preferred P0.0919 P0O.02 March 21, 2018 January 29, 2018 March 1, 2018 March 28, 2018
Common PO.0616 P862.35 April 20, 2018 March 26, 2018 April 5, 2018 May 7, 2018
Preferred PO.0616 PO17 April 20, 2018 March 26, 2018 April 5, 2018 May 7, 2018
Preferred P0.1080 P0O.03 June 21, 2018 April 30, 2018 June 14, 2018 June 25, 2018
Preferred PO.1108 P0.03 September 21, 2018 July 30, 2018 September 4, 2018 | September 24, 2018
Preferred PO.OTII PO.32 December 21, 2018 | November 26,2018 | BSPapprovalno | oo e o8 2018
longer required

Appraisal Right

The stockholders shall have appraisal right or the right to dissent and demand payment of the fair value of their
shares in the manner provided for under Section 82 of the Corporation Code of the Philippines.
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Investor Relations Program

The Board shall commit at all times to fully disclose
material information dealings. It shall cause the timely
filling of all required information for the interest of its
shareholders and other stakeholders. The reports or
disclosures required under this Manual shall be prepared
and submitted to the SEC and Philippine Stock Exchange
(PSE) by the responsible committee or officer through
the Bank's Compliance Officer. Material Information
emanating from the Board of Directors shall be disclosed
and the responsibility of the Corporate Information
Officer (CIO). The CIO shall be responsible for efficiency
providing information and addressing concerns of its
shareholders and other stakeholders through the Bank
webpage which provides complete information about
the Bank in a form that is user-friendly.

Transactions between related parties shall be disclosed
to include the nature of the related party relationship
as well as information about the transactions and
outstanding balances necessary for an understanding
of the potential effect of the relationship of the
financial statements.

All material information about the Bank, ie., anything
that could adversely affect share price, shall be publicly
disclosed. Such information and/or transactions shall
include, among others, earnings results, acquisition or
disposal of significant assets, related party transactions,
board membership changes, shareholdings of directors
and officers and any changes thereto, and such material
events or information which are required to be disclosed
pursuant to the SRC and its Implementing Rules
and Regulations.

Other information that shall always be disclosed includes
remuneration (including stock options) of all directors
and senior management, corporate strategy, and off
balance sheet transactions.

All disclosed information shall be released via the
approved and established stock exchange procedure
for corporate announcements as well as through the
annual report.

The governance of the bank shall be adeqguately
transparent to its shareholders and other stakeholders.

The Bank shall designate authorized signatories and
alternates for disclosures. All disclosures or information
state or relayed by the authorized signatory shall be
presumed to have been made with the approval of

the Chairman of the board, and principal officers of
the Bank. The officers, including the signatories and
their alternates, shall be responsible and liable for the
truthfulness of the disclosures.

Material Information / Transactions

The Bank is committed to disclose material information
to its stakeholders as part of its adherence to
transparency, accountability, and fairness. The following
are the material information / transactions approved by
the Board of Directors for 2018:

e Additional
Offering

disclosure regarding Stock Rights

e Statement of Condition as of December 31, 2017

e Approval of the Board of Directors of the Audited
Financial Statements of Rizal Commercial Banking
Corporation and RCBC—Trust and Investments
Group as of year ended December 31, 2017, as
audited by Punongbayan & Araullo, for final approval
of the stockholders.

e Appointment of Ms. Cecilia E. Tabuena as Segment
Head, Local Corporates 2, National Corporate
Banking Group

e Audited Financial Statement for Fiscal Year 2017

e Medium Term Note Program (the

Program™)

“Updated

e Declaration of cash dividends on convertible
preferred shares amounting to P0.09187
(US$0.00184) per share to holders of convertible
preferred shares as of March 21, 2018

e US$ Senior Unsecured Fixed Rate Reg S Notes
offering under its US$ 2,000,000,000 Medium Term
Note Programme

e Declaration of cash dividends on convertible
preferred shares amounting to PO.616 per share to
holders of convertible preferred shares as of the
10th trading day after April 5, 2018 (April 20, 2018),
and payable 10 trading days after (May 7, 2018)

e Update - Re-opening of RCBC Senior Notes Due
2023 for USD 150 mm

e Statement of Condition as of March 31, 2018



Appointment of Ms. Elizabeth E. Coronel as
First Senior Vice President and Group Head of
Conglomerates and Global Corporate Banking
effective June 16, 2018

Appointment of Ms. Ma. Carmela S. Bolisay as Senior
Vice President and Management Services Division
Head of the Operations Group

Dissolution of RCBC North America, Inc. (RCBC NA)

Declaration of cash dividends on convertible
preferred shares  amounting to P0.10796
(US$0.00207) per share to holders of convertible
preferred shares as of June 21, 2018

Results of the Board of Directors’ Meeting, Annual
Stockholders’ Meeting, and Organizational Meeting
of the Board on June 25, 2018

Statement of Condition as of June 30, 2018

Capital infusion of P800 Million into RCBC Leasing &
Finance Corporation

Recall of secondment to RCBC Savings Bank (RSB)
of Mr. Richard C. Lim and his appointment to the
Bank as Retail Banking Group Head with the rank
of Executive Vice President effective September 14,
2018. Mr. Lim currently serves as the Chief Operating
Officer of RSB, overseeing both the retail banking
and consumer lending business. He has 25 years of
experience in retail banking and was Executive Vice
President and Head of Maybank’'s Retail Banking
Group before joining the Bank

Appointment of Mr. Jonathan C. Diokno as Segment
Head of Global Filipino Banking with the rank of
First Senior Vice President effective September
14, 2018. Mr. Diokno currently serves as the Retail
Banking Group Head of the Bank. He has over 22
years of professional experience in transaction
banking, cash management services, and overseas
Filipino remittance, with extensive focus on sales
and product management. Prior to joining the Bank,
he was the Head of BDO Remittance Origination
and Head of Business Development BDO Cash
Management Services.

RCBC offering its first tranche of Long-Term
Negotiable Certificates of Time Deposit (LTNCDs)
due 2024 out of the PHP20 billion approval granted
by the Monetary Board of the Bangko Sentral ng
Pilipinas last July 12, 2018.
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e Declaration of cash dividends on convertible
preferred shares amounting to P0O.11078 per share
payable to holders of convertible preferred shares
as of September 21, 2018

e Statement of Condition as of September 30, 2018

¢ Plan of Merger between RCBC and RRCBC Savings
Bank (RSB). A copy of the approved Plan of Merger
is attached.

e Setting a Special Stockholders Meeting on February
26, 2019 with record date of January 25, 2019 for the
purpose of approving the merger between the Bank
and RSB, and the terms and conditions set forth in
the Plan of Merger.

e Results of Board Meeting December 10, 2018

e Declaration of cash dividends on convertible
preferred shares amounting to PO.11053 per share
payable to holders of convertible preferred shares
as of December 21, 2018.

OTHER STAKEHOLDERS
Creditors’ Rights

It is the policy of the Bank to conduct its business in
an efficient and fair manner in order for it to meet its
contractual obligations to its depositors, subordinated
debt noteholders, and service providers. In the event
of any liquidation or bankruptcy proceeding, such
creditors have preference over the assets of the Bank in
accordance with Philippine laws on preference of credits.

As a listed company, the Bank discloses, either through
its website or the required stock exchanges, the relevant
terms and conditions of their investment and fund-
raising activities.

Supplier/Contractor Selection and Criteria

The Bank has a board-approved Policy on Outsourcing
in accordance with BSP Circular No. 765 re: “Revised
Outsourcing Framework for Banks.” The Bank’s policy
provides for guidelines, processes, and controls in
managing outsourcing risks. The Bank is required under
the policy and in accordance with the BSP Circular to
conduct due diligence on service providers to ensure
their integrity, technical expertise, operational capability,
financial capacity, and suitability to perform the
outsourced activity.

59



60

In certain cases as permitted by law and regulations,
the supplier/contractor selection process is being
handled by House of Investments, Inc. (HOI), an affiliate
of the Bank.

HOI's Procurement Shared Services has the following
policies:

a. Code of Ethics for Procurement

b. Code of Ethics for Suppliers

c. Supplier Management

d. Policies in Choosing a Supplier

e. Procurement Process

f. Contract Management

g. Manual Structure, Use, Revisions/Amendments
h. Early Involvement in Procurement

Suppliers are evaluated based on compliance with
user requirements, quality, performance record in the
industry, technical competence, customer service,
design, delivery, dependability. Accreditation of new
suppliers is based on recommendations of procurement
heads or officers and is evaluated and approved by the
HOI's PSS Manager and General Manager. Accredited
suppliers are likewise subject to performance evaluation.

Environmentally-friendly Value Chain

It is the Bank’s policy to promote sustainable practices
for the Bank and its clients that will minimize any
negative environmental, social and reputation impact of
the Bank’s financing activities and its clients’ operation.
The sustainable practices that the bank wishes to
pursue aims to encourage borrowers to adhere to the
preservation and development of the natural, social,
and cultural environment. The bank believes that good
sustainable practices eventually pay dividends and are
in the best interest of the borrowers.

In pursuit thereof, the Bank has instituted the SOCIAL
AND ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
(SEMS). It requires that all lending relationships/credits,
both pipeline and portfolio, are duly vetted by the SEMS
process.

The SEMS is based on IFC Performance Standards,
directives of Environmental Management Bureau (EMB)
and other government agencies, and international/
domestic best practices.

The social and environmental impact assessment
process is a systematic way of identifying and assessing
the type and scale of impact a project may have on
the environment and social conditions. The SEMS
assessment takes place before a lending decision is
made and continues during the life cycle of the lending
agreement with the client.

INTERNAL CONTROL

Effective internal control is the foundation of safe and
sound banking. It reduces the possibility of significant
errors and irregularities, and in the event of occurrence,
said internal control assists in timely detection. A
properly designed and consistently enforced system
of operational and financial internal controls helps the
Bank’s Board of Directors and Management to safeguard
the Bank’s resources, produce reliable financial reports
and comply with applicable laws and regulations.

The Bank has established an effective internal control
system to ensure that the Bank is managed and
controlled in a sound and prudent manner. It includes
the following critical components:

e Control Environment

Control environment is the framework under which
internal controls are developed, implemented and
monitored. It consists of the mechanisms and
arrangements that ensure internal and external risks
to which the company is exposed to are identified,
and appropriate and effective internal controls are
developed and implemented to manage said risks
soundly.

The control environment emanates from the Board
of Directors and reflects Management’'s commitment
to internal controls. Inline with this, the Management
has ensured the strategic implementation of
internal controls that provide for an organizational
structure that establishes clear lines of authority
and responsibility for monitoring adherence to
prescribed policies, effective risk assessment, timely
and accurate financial and regulatory reports, and
adequate procedures to safeguard and manage the
Bank’s assets.



Risk Assessment

Risk assessment is the identification and analysis
of relevant inherent and residual risks and the
corresponding control mechanisms that can
adversely affect the achievement of the Bank’s
objectives. The assessment helps determine the
adequacy and effectiveness of control mechanisms
in mitigating risks and the strengths and weaknesses
of the risk environment.

The Corporate Risk Management Services Group
(CRISMS) has come up with a Risk Management
Manual which provides a detailed discussion on each
type of risk including the identification, measurement
and management of risks.

The assessment of control mechanisms in managing
inherent and residual risks by the business units is an
effective risk engine in the risk management process.
By determining and assessing the risks involved
in banking operations, the Bank can decide what
types of controls are needed and how they should
be managed.

Control Activities

Control activities refer to the policies and procedures
designed to help ensure that all bank personnel are
properly guided by the control measures established
by the Bank. Control activities form an integral part of
the daily activities of the Bank. An effective internal
control system requires that appropriate control
mechanisms are set up, with control activities defined
at every business level. In this regard, the Bank has
ensured that control activities, which are directed
through policies and procedures, are designed
and implemented to address the risks involved in
banking operations.

The control activities implemented by the Bank
include, but are not limited to, the following:

a. Establishing approvals and authorization for
transactions and activities;

b. Reconciliation;

c. Review of operating performance and exception
reports;

d. Establishing safeguards or physical controls for
use of assets and records;
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e. Segregation of duties to reduce a person’s
opportunity to commit and conceal fraud
or errors;

f. Requirement on mandatory leaves;
9. Rotation of duties; and

h. Number control

«  Management Reporting System

Another element in an effective internal control program
involves accurate accounting and comprehensive
information and communication systems that are
relevant to decision-making. These systems not only
capture information and generate necessary reports,
but also enable all personnel to understand their roles
in the overall control system, how their activities relate
to others, and their accountability for the activities
they conduct.

¢ Monitoring Activities and Correcting Deficiencies

Monitoring activities entails assessing the quality of
performance over time and making any necessary
modifications to correct any deficiencies.

The overall effectiveness of the Bank’s internal
controls is monitored on an ongoing basis. In
view of changing internal and external conditions,
Management continually monitors and evaluates the
Bank’s internal control system to ensure that these
are adequate and continue to function properly.
Periodic assessment and evaluation of control
mechanisms used in managing risks are conducted
by the business units in coordination with internal
audit, risk management and other support units.
Internal control deficiencies, whether identified
by business units, internal audit or other control
personnel, are reported in a timely manner to the
appropriate management level so that the same can
pbe addressed immediately.

Internal control is the responsibility of all employees of
the Bank. Everyone in the organization is responsible
in ensuring that the internal control measures being
adopted by the organization are properly and
strictly enforced and are effectively operational. The
channels of communication have ensured that all
employees fully understand and adhere to policies
and procedures affecting their work, and that other
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relevant information is properly communicated to
the appropriate personnel. Likewise, the Bank’s
internal audit, risk management unit and external
audit provide an objective, independent review of
bank activities, internal controls and management
information systems to help the Board of Directors
and the Management monitor and evaluate internal
control adequacy and effectiveness.

Compliance Function

The compliance function of the Bank facilitates the
effective management of compliance risks or risks of
legal or regulatory sanctions, material financial loss, or
loss to reputation that a bank may suffer as a result of its
failure to comply with laws, rules, related self-regulatory
organization standards, and codes of conduct applicable
to its activities.

The Compliance Functionis discharged by the Regulatory
Affairs Group (RAG) headed by the Chief Compliance
Officer (CCO). The RAG is a separate and independent
unit with no business function. It reports to the Board of
Directors through the Audit and Compliance Committee
and the AML Committee.

The Regulatory Affairs Group shall facilitate the effective
management of compliance risks by:

a. Advising the board of directors and senior
management on relevant laws, rules and
standards, including keeping them informed on
developments in the area;

b. Apprising Bank personnel on compliance issues,
and acting as a contact point within the Bank for
compliance queries from its personnel;

c. Establishing written guidance to staff on the
appropriate implementation of laws, rules and
standards through policies and procedures and
other documents such as compliance manuals,
internal codes of conduct and practice guidelines;

d. Identifying, documenting and assessing the
compliance risks associated with the Bank’s
business activities, including new products and
business units;

e. Assessing the appropriateness of the Bank’s
compliance procedures and guidelines, promptly
following up any identified deficiencies,
and where necessary, formulating proposals
for amendments;

f.  Monitoring and testing compliance by performing
sufficient  and representative  compliance
testing; and

g. Maintaining a constructive working relationship
with the BSP and other regulators.

The functions of the RAG are discharged by the following
divisions which are under the direct supervision
of the CCO:

a. The Regulatory Affairs Divisions (RADs) performs
horizon scanning and impact assessment of
new regulations and market trends, and the
embedding of rules and regulations to the Bank’s
policies, procedures, and controls.

b. The Anti-Money Laundering and Fraud
Management Division (AFMD) is responsible
for the monitoring, analysis, disposition and
investigation of AML and fraud alerts; reporting
of possible suspicious transactions and detected
fraud; monitoring filing of reports on crimes and
losses; filing of covered transactions report and
suspicious transactions report; preparing and
recommending new policies; recommending
new or updating AML and fraud alert rules; and,
maintaining Base60 and Predator parameters.

c. The Testing and Monitoring Division (TMD) is
responsible for the identification, assessment
and monitoring of compliance risks and level
of compliance of the different business lines,
products and services with the relevant regulations
governing banks.

d. The Standards and Resource Management
Division (SRMD) shall serve as support to the
overall operations of RAG. Functions include
project management for key compliance projects;
dissemination and reporting of regulatory
issuances; planning, and administrative matters

Internal Audit

The Bank has in place an independent internal
audit function headed by the Chief Audit Executive
(CAE) who functionally reports to the Audit and
Compliance Committee.

The scope of work of Internal Audit encompasses the
examination and evaluation of all business systems,
processes, operation, function and activities within
the Bank including functions that are outsourced,
its subsidiaries and branches. Such scope of work



determines the adequacy and effectiveness of the Bank’s
risk management, control and governance process to
provide reasonable assurance that:

* Risks are appropriately identified and managed in
the context of current and potential risks;

¢ Interaction with various groups occurs as needed;
*  Programs, plan and objectives are achieved;

* Resources are acquired economically, used efficiently
and protected adequately;

¢ Quality and continuous improvement are fostered in
the Bank’s control process;

« Significant financial, managerial and operating
information is accurate, reliable and timely;

«  Employees’ actions including performance of trading
activities are in compliance with policies, standards,
procedures and applicable laws and regulations;

« Significant legislative or regulatory issues impacting
the Bank are appropriately recognized and addressed
including areas of interest to regulators such as,
among others monitoring of compliance with
relevant laws, rules and regulations, including but
not limited to the assessment of the adequacy of
capital and provisions; liquidity level; regulatory and
internal reporting;

¢ Management and financial information system
including the electronic information system and
electronic banking services are reliable and effective
and resulting data has integrity.

The Internal Audit subscribes to and complies with
all applicable professional standards and code of
ethics, including the Institute of Internal Auditors -
“International Standards for the Professional Practice
of Internal Auditing,” Information Systems Audit and
Control Association and the relevant requirements of the
Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas and other bank regulators.

An independent assessment of the effectiveness of the
internal audit function is conducted every 3 or 5 years by
an external auditor through a quality assurance review. In
2015, the internal audit function underwent full external
quality assessment review by an independent assessor
and the latest Quality Assurance Report was released on
November 25, 2015.
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The External Auditor

External Audit Fees and Services. The Audit and
Compliance Committee is empowered to appoint the
external auditor of the Bank and approve all auditing
and non-audit services. It recommends to the Board the
selection of external auditor considering independence
and effectiveness and recommends the fees to be paid.

The following are audit and non-audit fees paid to the

bank’s external auditor, Punongbayan and Araullo,
in 2018:
Audit Fee Non-Audit Fee Total
(in Million (in Million (in Million
2018 Pesos) Pesos) Pesos)
Parent P 372 P7.53 P11.25
Group P12.32 P8.98 P21.30

Non-audit fees include engagements for the quarterly
review and agreed upon procedures in connection with
the Bank’s Offering Circulars.

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on
Accounting and Financial Disclosure. In connection with
the audits of the Bank’s financial statements for the two
(2) most recent years ended December 31, 2018 and
2017, there were no disagreements with Punongbayan
and Araullo on any matter of accounting principles
or practices, financial statement disclosures, audit scope
or procedures.

Policies
Code of Conduct

All employees are governed by the Bank's Code of
Conduct, which revolves around the Core Values of the
company. It is designed to serve as a guide to employees
on how they should conduct themselves within and
outside the Bank premises and in dealing with clients/
customers and co-associates.

Adherence to this Code is the responsibility of each and
every associate. It is administered uniformly throughout
the Bank and is independent of the practices of other
banks. It is a condition for continuous employment. Any
breach of this Code may result in disciplinary action
ranging from reprimand to termination of employment,
depending on the gravity of the offense, after the
observance of due process.
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The Code of Conduct is divided into five parts as follows:
Treatment of Clients

Treatment of Bank Assets

Treatment of Others

Conflict of Interests

m o o © >

Knowledge, Understanding & Compliance
Anti-Corruption Policies

Under Part D of the Code of Conduct on Conflict of
Interests, to avoid conflict of interest, employees are to
conduct business transactions for the Bank inaccordance
with Bank policy and avoid direct or indirect use of the
Bank’s goodwill, reputation, funds and property or other
resources for personal gain. This involves, among other
things, accepting gifts, entertainment or favors from
customers or suppliers; outside employment; outside
directorship; and receiving commissions or benefits
from customers or suppliers.

Gifts and Entertainment. The Bank does not allow
solicitation of gifts, directly or indirectly, from customers
or suppliers. Under no circumstance do employees
accept, directly or indirectly, payments, loans, kickbacks,
special privileges or services in exchange for favors.

Favors. The Bank does not buy business. This is
obtained on the merits of the Bank’s products, services
and people. It does not bend rules nor offer money,
illegal or inappropriate favors of unusual value to obtain
or retain business. In this regard, any and all significant
donations or contributions to or through a customer for
whatever purpose using Bank property or funds should
be with the prior authorization of the concerned Group
Head. Should said donation or contribution be through
the purchase of a raffle or lottery ticket, any prize or
winnings therefrom, regardless of whether the ticket is
in the employee’s possession or in the employee’s name,
must be turned over to the Bank.

Receiving Commissions or Benefits. Employees
must avoid situations which may unduly influence the
relationships with customers or suppliers in a position
to transact business with the Bank. Employees must
make sure that the procedures laid down in providing
customer services or in purchasing goods and services
are strictly followed. Employees who have a direct
hand in choosing companies from which purchases of
the Bank’s business requirements are to be made, are

discouraged to use said authority to obtain commissions
or leverage to purchase the same item/s for personal
interests at terms not otherwise available to his/her
colleagues or the public. Suppliers and customers are
chosen based on merit and not on what can be gained
from them.

The Code of Conduct is a main topic included in the
Bank’s Employee Orientation Program which is held on
a regular basis.

The Code of Discipline provides for penalties for
violations of the Code of Conduct. Administrative cases
are handled in accordance with the Bank’s Administrative
Cases Procedure and existing laws. The Personnel
Evaluation and Review Committee, as mentioned, acts
as an independent body in the evaluation and review of
cases involving dishonesty, fraud, negligence or violation
of any internal Bank policy, rule or procedure committed
by an RCBC employee and ensures that the appropriate
preventive, corrective and disciplinary measures are
imposed on cases involving dishonesty, fraud, negligence
or violation of any internal Bank policy, rule or procedure
committed by an RCBC employee.

Use of Insider Information

There are laws that prohibit the use of inside information
when buying, selling or trading publicly traded securities,
including RCBC securities. Inside information can take
many forms, but always includes information which
is not available to the public and which might influence
an investor’'s decision to buy, sell or hold securities
ina company.

Under the Code of Conduct, employees are prohibited
from buying, selling or trading RCBC securities or
the securities of other companies about which employees
have inside information, until that information becomes
public. In addition, this information should not be shared
with anyone else, including family members or friends
or anyone about trading in any securities based on
this information.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Bank’s Whistleblowing Policy is a key element in
safeguarding the Bank’s integrity. It aims to enhance
the Bank’s transparency and system for combating
practices that might damage its activities and
reputation. Protecting the integrity and reputation of
the Bank requires the active support of its stakeholders,
particularly its employees.



The following are the basic principles of the Bank’s
Whistleblowing Policy:

1. Employees and other stakeholders must be
provided with alternative and sufficient channels
for whistleblowing and communication. In certain
instances, they must be able to bypass the
main channels for whistleblowing if these prove
inappropriate;

2. Employees and other stakeholders making
the report in good faith should at all times be
protected against reprisals;

3. ldentity of the whistleblower making the report in
good faith should remain confidential;

4. Reported incidents shall be verified in an
appropriate manner, and if confirmed, the Bank
must take the necessary actions;

5. The rights of any person implicated in any report
must be respected.

Reports of any actual or suspected criminal activities,
unlawful acts or omissions, fraud, violations of the
Code of Conduct and other bank policies, danger to
health and safety, improprieties or malpractice in
the workplace, including those relative to matters of
financial reporting, internal control and/or auditing may
be sent through YGC’'s Open Communication system at
www.rcbc.com/TalktoUs.

AMLA

The Bank’s Money Laundering and Terrorist Financing
Prevention Program (MLPP) is a comprehensive
and risk-based policy geared toward the promotion
of high ethical and professional standards and the
prevention of the of the bank being used, intentionally
or unintentionally for money laundering and terrorist
financing. The MLPP is consistent with the Anti-Money
Laundering Act of 2001, as amended, The Terrorism
Financing Prevention and Suppression Act of 2012, and
BSP Circular No. 706, as amended. The MLPP is updated
at least once every two years. This covers policies on
Know Your Customer procedures, Record Keeping and
Retention, Training, Risk Profiling and Covered and
Suspicious Transaction Alerts Management. Central to
improving the Bank's compliance to AML/CFT related
regulations is the revision of the MLPP at least once
every two years. The revised MLPP addresses the
requirement outlined in new regulations and addresses
changes in Bank practices considered significant as
part of its ongoing process of re-framing the Bank’s
Compliance Program.
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Related Party Transactions

In June 2018, the Board approved the revised Policy on
Related Party Transactions following BSP’s issuance of
Circular No. 969 or Enhanced Corporate Governance
Guidelines for BSP-supervised Financial Institutions on
August 22, 2017. The said policy adopted the definition
of “related party transactions” under the circular which
are transactions or dealings with related parties of
the Bank, including its trust department, regardless of
whether or not a price is charged. These shall include,
but not limited, to the following:

« On- and off-balance sheet credit exposures
and claims and write-offs;

* Investments and/or subscriptions for debt/
equity issuances;

e Consulting, professional, agency and other
service arrangements/contracts;

e Purchases and sales of assets, including
transfer of technology and intangible items
(e.g. research and development, trademarks
and license agreements)

e Construction arrangements/contracts;
. Lease arrangements/contracts;
e Trading and derivative transactions;

e Borrowings, commitments, fund transfers and
guarantees;

e Sale, purchase or supply of any goods or
materials; and

e Establishment of joint venture entities.

RPTs shall be interpreted broadly to include not only
transactions that are entered into with related parties
but also outstanding transactions that were entered
into with an unrelated party that subsequently becomes
a related party.

The term “related parties” under the Bank’s policy is
broader in scope as includes members of the Advisory
Board and consultants of the Bank.
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The Bank constituted the Related Party Transactions
Committee and RPT Management Committee
to review and approve, as the case may be,
related party transactions.

The Related Party Transactions Committee is a board-
level committee that reviews material related party
transactions to ensure that the terms are no less
favorable to the Bank than terms available to any
unconnected third party under the same or similar
circumstances. A transaction is considered “material” if
it involves an amount of at least P10,000,000.00, or the
transaction requires Board approval such as in the case
of DOSRI loans and other credit transactions. Material
related party transactions are approved by the Board
and subsequently presented to the stockholders at the
Annual Stockholders Meeting for confirmation.

Transactions below the materiality threshold of
P10,000,000.00 are reviewed and approved by the RPT
Management Committee composed of Group Heads of
the following units, or their respective designates:

1. Controllership Group
2. Operations Group

3. Corporate Risk Management Services (“CRISMS”)
Group

4. Retail Banking Group
5. Corporate Planning Group

Transactions approved the RPT Management
Committee are confirmed by the Board of Directors.

The Bank observes the following limits on exposures to
related parties:

INDIVIDUAL AGGREGATE
LOANS / CREDIT 25% of Capital 50% of Capital
OTHER CONTRACT NONE 10% of Capital

Breaches in the foregoing limits are reportable to the
Board of Directors with the decision of the Board to
accept the exposure or to take steps to address the
breaches, as may be necessary, duly documented in the
minutes of the meeting.

Under BSP Circular No. 895, Banks are required to
submit a report on material exposures to related parties,
which shall include the material RPTs of their non-bank
financial subsidiaries and affiliates within 20 calendar
days after the end of the reference quarter.

Details of the Bank’s major related party transactions in
2018 are described below:

» Sale and Purchase of Securities - The Parent
Company and certain subsidiaries engage in the
trading of investment securities as counterparties
to the transaction. These transactions are priced
similar to transactions with other counterparties
outside the Group and there are no unsettled
transactions as of the end of each reporting
period.

e Retirement Fund - The Parent Company and
certain subsidiaries’ retirement funds covered
under their defined benefit post-employment
plan maintained for qualified employees are
administered and managed by the Parent
Company’s and RSB’s Trust Departments in
accordance with the respective trust agreements
covering the plan.

Transactions with subsidiaries which are eliminated in
the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

e [ease contract with RRC and Sublease
Agreements with Subsidiaries - The Parent
Company and certain subsidiaries occupy
several floors of RCBC Plaza as leaseholders of
RRC. The occupancy of some of subsidiaries in
RCBC Plaza is covered by sublease agreements
with RCBC. RCBC's lease contract with RRC is
effective until December 31, 2020

e [ease Contract on RSB Corporate Center - In
October 2013, the Parent Company and RSB
entered into a lease agreement covering certain
office and parking spaces of RSB Corporate
Center at a monthly rental fee of P7. The monthly
rental payments are subject to an escalation
rate of 5% annually effective in 2014 up to the
5th year of the lease term. The initial lease is for
a period of five years which ended in October
2018 and was renewed in September 2018 for an
extended period.



Service Agreement with RBSC - The Parent
Company has Service Agreement with RBSC,
wherein RBSC shall provide the Parent Company
with marketing, distribution, technical, collection
and selling assistance and processing services
in connection with the operation of the Parent
Company’s credit card business.

Capital Infusion to RCBC LFC - In August 2018,
the Board of Directors of RCBC approved
the additional capital infusion to RCBC LFC
amounting to P800 million, which was paid to
the latter in November 2018 after RCBC LFC’s
BOD approved the increase in its authorized
capital stock in its meeting held in October 2018.
As the application for the increase in authorized
capital stock is not yet filed by RCBC LFC to the
SEC as of December 31, 2018, the P800 deposit
for future stock subscription is recognized and
presented as part of Other Resources Account in
the 2018 statement of financial position of RCBC.

The Bank has service agreements with RSB and
RBSC for the in-sourced internal audit services.
The Bank provides full-scope audit services
to RSB and limited audit services to RBSC,
specifically IT audit, operations audit and financial
statements review. Also, the Bank has formalized
the service agreements for the internal audit
services being provided to subsidiaries namely:
RCBC Capital Corp., RCBC Securities, Inc., RCBC
Forex Brokers Corp., Merchant Savings and
Loan Association, Inc. (Rizal Microbank), RCBC
Leasing and Finance Corporation and Niyog
Property Holdings, Inc.

The Bank has a service agreement with RCBC
Forex Brokers Corporation (RCBC Forex) for
in-sourced services, rendered by the following
business units: 1) business and operational risk,
2) compliance, 3) internal audit, 4) information
technology, and 5) human resources. The services
shall be limited to: compliance with relevant
laws, rules and regulations, market, liquidity, and
operational risk management, internal audit,
information technology, review of salary and
processing of payroll on a bi-monthly basis,
and implementation of exclusive succession
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planning, human resources information system
and database administration and organization of
training programs.

e The Bank has a service agreement with RCBC
Forex and RSB for the referral of money service
business customers to RCBC Forex, to facilitate
the purchase and/or sale of foreign currencies.
The services to be rendered are relative to
account opening and compliance with customer
identification regulatory requirements.

The Bank’s other transactions with affiliates include
service agreements, leasing office premises to
subsidiaries which is eliminated during consolidation,
accreditation of RCBC Trust agent and of insurance
companies, and regular banking transactions (including
purchases and sales of trading account securities,
securing insurance coverage on loans and property
risks and intercompany advances), all of which are at
arms’ length and conducted in the ordinary course
of business.

The Bank does not have any transactions with promoters
within the past five (5) years. The Bank does not have
transactions with parties that fall outside the definition
of related parties under regulations, but with whom
the registrants or its related parties have a relationship
that enables the parties to negotiate terms of material
transactions that may not be available from other, more
clearly independent parties on an arm’s length basis.
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Risk Governance Framework

The RCBC Group (the Group) recognizes that Risk is
inherent to its activities, and that banking is essentially
a business of managing risks. The Group views risk
management as a value proposition imbued with the
mission of achieving sustainable growth in profitability
and shareholder value through an optimum balance of
risk and return.

This corporate risk philosophy further translates to the
following policy precepts:

e Prudential risk-taking and proactive exposure
management as cornerstones for sustainable
growth, capital adequacy, and profitability;

e Standards aligned with internationally accepted
practices and regulations in day to day conduct
of risk and performance management; and

¢ Commitment to developing risk awareness across
the Group, promoting the highest standards of
professional ethics and integrity, establishing a
culture that emphasizes the importance of the risk
process, sound internal control, and advocating
the efficient use of capital.

The RCBC Group’s Risk Governance Framework aims to:

¢ |dentify, measure, control, and monitor the risk
inherent to the Group’s business activities or
embedded in its products and portfolios;

e Formulate, disseminate, and observe the
corporate risk philosophy, policies, procedures
and guidelines;

Guide risk-taking units in understanding and
measuring risk-return profiles in their business
transactions;

¢ Continually develop an efficient and effective risk
management infrastructure; and

¢ Comply with regulations on risk and capital
management.

RISK MANAGEMENT PRINCIPLES'

Risk management is a dynamic activity. For risk
management to be effective, it needs to be practiced
within all layers of the organization. The Board of RCBC
expects the management of risk to be guided by the
following principles:

! ISO 31000 enumerates 11 principles



Principle 1: Risk management creates
and protects value

Risk management creates and protects value by
increasing the likelihood of achieving the organization’s
objectives. It also creates and protects value as it resultsin
improving governance and control process, compliance
with regulations and effectiveness and efficiency in the
allocation of scarce capital and resources.

Principle 2: Risk management is an integral part of all
organizational processes

Risk management is not a standalone activity that is
separate from the main activities and processes of
the organization. Aside from ensuring profitability and
delivering shareholder value, risk management should
form part of the responsibilities of management.

Principle 3: Risk management is part
of decision making

To be effective, risk management should be part of the
decision-making process. Risk management should
help decision makers make informed choices, prioritize
actions and distinguish among alternative courses of
action.

Principle 4: Risk management explicitly
addresses uncertainty

Risk management does not view risk in a deterministic
manner. Risk management should explicitly take into
account uncertainty, the nature of the uncertainty and
how that uncertainty can be addressed.

Principle 5: Risk management is systematic,
structured, and timely

Risk management is a systematic, structured, and
timely process that contributes to efficient, consistent,
comparable, and reliable results. It is a rigorous process
that encourages everyone in an organization to assess
uncertainty in a structured and systematic manner, and
design mitigation strategies methodically.

Principle 6: Risk management is based on best
available information

While risk management aims to assess and manage risk
in a forward-looking manner, it has to rely on the best
available information as of a specified predetermined
date. Below are some examples of information sources
that can be used as inputs to the risk management
process:

e Historical data
e Past experience
* Stakeholder feedback

RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
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e Observation
e Forecasts
o Expert judgment
Principle 7: Risk management is tailored

Risk management is not a one size fits all exercise. Each
banking organization has unique circumstances that
must be considered in designing the organization’s risk
governance framework and process. Risk management
should be aligned with the organization’s external and
internal context and risk profile.

Principle 8: Risk management takes human and
cultural factors to account

The effectiveness of risk management processes, no
matter how sophisticated the designs are, still depends
on the commitment and capabilities of everyone in
the organization. Risk management considers the
capabilities, perceptions and intentions of external and
internal people that can facilitate or hinder achievement
of the organization’s objectives.

Principle 9: Risk management is transparent
and inclusive

To be effective, risk management should not be an
isolated activity. Everyone in an organization should be
involved. Risk management is relevant and up-to-date
if stakeholders and decision makers at all levels are
involved in an appropriate and timely manner.

Principle 10: Risk management is dynamic, iterative
and responsive to change

Risk management should continually evolve and
recognize the dynamic environment in which the banking
organization operates in. As external and internal events
occur, context and knowledge change, monitoring and
review of risks take place. New risks emerge. Some
risks evolve. Some risks change. Some disappear. Risk
management should be able to capture and calibrate its
responses to the changing nature of uncertainty.

Principle 11: Risk management facilitates continual
improvement of the organization

Risk management should develop and implement
strategies to improve their risk management maturity
alongside all aspects of the organization.

RISK CULTURE?

There are four elements of a sound risk culture.

2 Financial Stability Board (FSB), 2014. “Guidance on
Supervisory Interaction with Financial Institutions on Risk
Culture: A Framework for Assessing Risk Culture”

Tone from the Top

The Board of Directors and senior management establish
a risk culture that represents an expectation of values
and conduct from all staff. An expectation of values and
conduct outlines what is expected from each individual
in terms of behavior and actions. The Board expects all
staff to demonstrate exemplary conduct, act responsibly,
fairly, and with integrity towards clients, staff, and in the
communities in which we live and work.

The Board of Directors expects all staff to:

« Establish, monitor, and adhere to an effective
risk appetite statement

* Have a clear view of the risk culture
« Systematically monitor and assess the prevailing

risk culture and proactively address any
identified areas of weakness or concern

Leading by o
Example

Promote through action and words, a risk
culture that expects integrity and a sound
approach to risk

« Promote an open exchange of views, challenge,
and debate

¢ Have mechanisms in place which help lessen
the influence of dominant personalities and
behaviors

« Systematically monitor and assess whether
the espoused values are communicated and
adhered to by management and staff at all
levels

« Ensure that the risk appetite statement, risk
management strategy, and overall business
strategy are clearly understood and embraced
by management and staff at all levels and
effectively embedded in the decision-making
and operations of the business

Espoused
Values

« Establish a compensation structure that
supports the institution’s espoused values and
promotes prudent risk-taking behavior

« Demonstrate a clear understanding of the
quality and consistency of decision-making
throughout the business, including how
decision-making is consistent with the Group’s
risk appetite and risk strategy

Have a clear view on the business lines
considered to pose the greatest challenges
to risk management and these are subject to
constructive and credible challenge about the
risk-return balance

Common .
Understanding
and Awareness
of Risk

« Systematically monitor how quickly issues
raised by the Board, supervisors, internal audit,
and other control functions are addressed by
management

« Establish processes to ensure that failures
or near failures in risk culture are reviewed
at all levels of the Group and are seen as
opportunities to strengthen the Group’s risk
culture and make it more robust

Learning from
Risk Culture
Failures




Accountability

The Board of directors and senior management ensure
that employees are held accountable for their actions
and are aware of the consequences of not adhering to
the desired behavior toward risk. There should be a clear
delineation of responsibilities with regard to monitoring,
identification, management, and mitigation of risk.
Employees at all levels should understand the core
values of the Group’s risk culture and its approach to
risk, be capable of performing their prescribed roles, and
be aware that they are held accountable for their actions
in relation to the Group’s risk-taking behavior.

« Clear expectations should be set with respect
to monitoring, reporting, and responding to
current and emerging risk information across
the institution, including from the lines of
business and risk management to the Board
and senior management. Mechanisms should
be in place for the lines of business to share
information on emerging and unexpected risks.

*« Employees are held accountable for their
actions and are aware of the consequences for
not adhering to the desired risk management
behavior.

Risk
Ownership

« Escalation processes should be established
and used with clear consequence for non-
compliance with risk policies and escalation
procedures.

*« Employees should be aware of the process and
believe that the environment is open to critical
challenge and dissent. These mechanisms
should be established for employees to raise
concerns when they feel discomfort about
products or practices.

« Whistleblowing should be proactively
encouraged and supported by the Board and
senior management.

Escalation

« Conseqguences should be clearly established,
articulated, and applied for the business lines or
individuals who engaged in excessive
risk-taking relative to the risk appetite
statement. Breaches in internal policies,
procedures, and risk limits and non-adherence
to internal codes of conduct should impact an
individual’'s compensation and responsibilities
or affect career progression, including
termination.

Enforcement

Effective Communication and Challenge

Asoundrisk culture promotes anenvironment of effective
communication and challenge in which decision-making
processes promote a range of views, allow for testing
of current practices and stimulate a positive, critical
attitude among employees and an environment of open
and constructive engagement.

A sound risk culture must encourage transparency and
open dialogue in order to promote the identification and
escalation of risk issues.
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« Alternative views or questions from individuals
and groups are encouraged, valued and
respected, and occur in practice. Senior
management should have mechanisms in
place to ensure that alternate views can be
expressed in practice, and should request regular
assessments of the openness to dissent at all
layers of management involved in the decision-
making process.

Alternative
Views

* The Chief Risk Officer and risk management
function (CRISMS and CMG) share the same
stature as the lines of businesses, actively
participating in the Senior Management
Committee, and proactively involved in all the
relevant risk decisions and activities. They should
have appropriate access to the Board and senior
management.

« Compliance, legal, and other control functions
should have sufficient stature, not only to act
as advisors, but also to effectively exert control
tasks with respect to the institution’s risk culture.

Stature
of Risk
Management

Incentives

Financial and non-financial incentives should support
the core values and risk culture at all levels of the Group.
Performance and talent management should encourage
and reinforce maintenance of the institution’s desired
risk management behavior. Remuneration systems
should reward servicing the greater, long-term interest
of the Group and its clients. Risk management and
compliance considerations should have sufficient
status in driving compensation, promotion, hiring, and
performance evaluation.

* Remuneration and performance metrics
should consistently support and drive
the Group’s desired risk-taking behavior,
risk appetite, and risk culture. Annual
performance reviews and objective-
setting processes include steps taken by
the individual to promote the Group’s
desired core values, compliance with
policies and procedures, internal audit
results, and supervisory findings.
Incentive compensation programs
systematically include individual and
group adherence to the Group’s core
values and risk culture, including:
o Treatment of clients;
o Cooperation with internal control
functions and regulators;
o Respect for risk exposure limits;
and

o Alignment between performance
and risk.

Remuneration and .
Performance

» Understanding key risks and essential
elements of risk management and the
culture of the organization is a critical
skill for senior employees. These should
be reflected in the development plans
for employees. Succession planning
processes for key management positions
include risk management experience
and not only revenue-based accomplish-
ments. Training programs are available
for all staff to develop risk management
competencies.

Talent Development
and Succession
Planning
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RISK APPETITE FRAMEWORK:?

The Risk Appetite Framework (RAF) is the overall
approach, including policies, processes, controls and
systems, through which risk appetite is established,
communicated and monitored. It includes a risk appetite
statement, risk limits and an outline of the roles and
responsibilities of those overseeing the implementation
and monitoring of the RAF.

A fully-functioning risk appetite framework establishes a
firm-specific quality and style of internal communication
that enables risk messages to feed up the organization
from the people who take or manage risk.

Conscious Risk-Taking

No business can thrive without taking on risks. A key
benefit of deploying a risk appetite framework is that
these risks are identified and quantified in a structured
way that relates them to the firm’s business objectives
and strategy.

The trade-offs between risk and reward in a risk appetite
framework are made upfront, in a conscious attempt to
decide the right calibration, and at a firm-wide level.

A risk appetite framework ensures that risk-
taking is specific, measured, and consistent within
established limits.

Joined-Up Risk Management

Beyond the benefits of breadth, arisk appetite framework
also provides depth to risk management activities. Itis the
collective impact of risk-taking across a firm that needs
to be managed. This will always require coordination
between different parts of a firm, alignment between
broader objectives and the more specific objectives of
business units or individuals, and a translation between
technical language of the risk or product specialist and
the more general firm-specific risk appetite language.

This is where risk appetite frameworks come to the
fore. Firstly, they facilitate top-down direction from the
Board via the cascading of risk appetite statements and
their ongoing monitoring and control - in a risk appetite
language that is meaningful to everyone. Secondly, they
rely on bottom-up information and insight from the
businesses and control functions through the calibration
of risk appetite limits and triggers, as well as the reporting
of risks and the risk profile versus risk appetite.

Drive Quality Risk Management

In order to have an effective risk appetite framework, the
following must be present:

3 Deloitte, 2014. “Risk Appetite Frameworks: How to Spot the
Genuine Article”

¢ A strong, independent risk function that has
the confidence of its convictions and the internal
clout to design, build, launch and embed risk
language and concepts across the firm; the risk
personnel need to be good at reaching out to their
colleagues in the business lines and advocating
the risk appetite perspective;

¢ A sponsor at the executive level who has
enough authority to make risk appetite the way
the firm approaches risk. Without senior buy-in
from a President/Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
or Chief Risk Officer (CRO), risk appetite will
wither on the vine;

¢ A robust process to aggregate risk - Risk
definitions are uniformly understood across the
firm. The people and processes that identify
and aggregate risk need to be of high caliber to
support completeness of coverage - this should
cover financial and non-financial risks;

* A well-established methodology to produce risk
adjusted metrics (with the active buy-in of both
the finance and risk departments) so that the risk
appetite perspective takes root outside of the
risk department;

¢ A good capacity for change management, since
embedding risk appetite requires some deep-
seated changes to be made to the way a lot of
people go about their jobs;

* A culture within a firm that enables free flow
of information up and down the hierarchy. The
bosses are not afraid to hear bad news, nor do
the business units water down messages for fear
of giving offense; and

¢ A culture that weaves risk considerations into
the rest of the firm in such things as business
strategy, capital planning, day-to-day risk-taking
by the business, governance and the design of
remuneration plans.

Risk Appetite Statement of RCBC

Risk appetite is the amount of risk the RCBC Group
is willing to take in pursuit of its strategic objectives,
reflecting the Group’s capacity to sustain losses and
continue to meet its obligations under normal as well as
adverse circumstances.

The RCBC Group’s risk appetite statement is approved
by the Board and forms the basis for establishing the risk
parameters within which the businesses must operate,
including risk management policies, and limits.



The Group defines its risk appetite in terms of volatility
of earnings, the maintenance of adequate capital buffers,
and the assessment by the Regulator.

The RCBC Group recognizes that risk is an inherent part
of its activities, and that banking is essentially a business
of managing risks. The Group aims to achieve sustainable
growth in profitability and shareholder value through an
optimum balance of risk and return.

The Group shall take on risk prudently and manage
exposures proactively for the purpose of sustainable
growth, capital adequacy, and profitability. It shall
be aligned with internationally accepted standards,
practices, and regulations in the day to day conduct of
risk and performance management.

The Board and Senior Management are committed to
developing risk awareness across the Group, promoting
the highest standards of professional ethics and integrity,
establishing a culture that emphasizes the importance of
the risk process, sound internal control, and advocating
the efficient use of capital.

The Group sets risk limits to constrain risk-taking within
its risk appetite, taking into account the interest of
customers and shareholders as well as capital and other
regulatory requirements.

The Group will not compromise adherence to its
risk appetite in order to pursue revenue growth
or higher returns.

The Risk Oversight Committee shall oversee compliance
to the established risk appetite, risk management
policies, and limits.

Furthermore, the Group articulates its appetite for
specific risk types.

RISK APPETITE FOR SPECIFIC RISK TYPES

RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Risk Type

Definition

Risk Appetite

Credit
Concentration
Risk

Risk of loss arising
from overexposure
to specific
industries, borrower,
counterparty, or
group

The RCBC Group shall not
be overexposed to specific
industries, borrowers,
counterparties, or groups,
where the risk of loss

has not been considered
and/or mitigated. The
Group shall manage credit
concentration risk in its
portfolio to ensure that
credit risk losses do not
cause material damage to
the Group’s liquidity and
capital position.

Market Risk

Risk of loss arising
from movements in
market prices

The RCBC Group shall
manage market risk in its
portfolio and activities to
ensure that losses arising
from movements in market
prices do not cause
material damage to the
Group’s liquidity

and capital position.

Interest Rate
Risk

Risk of loss arising
from movements in
interest rates

The RCBC Group shall
manage interest rate risk

in its portfolio and activities
to ensure that losses arising
from movements

in interest rates do not
cause material damage to
the Group’s liquidity and
capital position.

Risk of loss arising
from a bank’s
inability to meet its

The RCBC Group shall be
able to meet its obligations
when they come due, under
normal as well as adverse
circumstances, while
ensuring compliance with
regulatory requirements.

Risk Type Definition Risk Appetite
The RCBC Group shall only
engage with counterparties
that are foreseen to be
Risk of loss arising able to meet the terms of
from a counterparty’s | the contract or perform
failure to meet the as agreed. The Group shall
Credit Risk terms of any contract | manage credit risk in its

with the bank or
otherwise perform
as agreed

portfolio and activities
to ensure that credit
risk losses do not cause
material damage to the
Group’s liquidity

and capital position.

Liquidity Risk ?k?e‘;/gig%nesc\ﬂéen _The_ Gr_oup shaII_ manage
without incurring |tsthqwd\éy Fo|s|t|o_rg)|under
extreme but plausible
unacceptable losses liquidity stress scenarios
without recourse to
extraordinary central
bank support.
’ . The RCBC Group shall
Ergrn?;g%sesqrfgye\tmg control operational risks
. . - to ensure that operational
Operational or failed internal losses do not cause
Risk processes, people ¢ Id to th
and systems or from material damage to the
external events Group’s liquidity and capital
position, and reputation.
The RCBC Group shall
manage its computer
Risk of loss resulting hardware, software, devices,
from failure of systems, applications,
IT Risk computer hardware, and networks to ensure

software, devices,
systems, applications
and networks

that losses resulting from
their failure do not cause
material damage to the
Group’s liquidity and capital
position, and reputation.
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Security Risk

security/cyber
security breaches

assets to ensure that
breaches do not cause
material damage to the
Group’s liquidity and capital
position, and reputation.

Risk of loss resulting

The RCBC Group shall be

affecting current
position and/or
strategy

Business from the prospective .
Continuity inability to resume abﬁ fo rest;mfe og_erattmns‘
Risk operations in the mt e ‘even or a disaster, In
event of a disaster a timely manner.
Risk of loss arising
from probable mid- The RCBC Group shall be
stream changes in prepared for any changes
E;esg;u\atory the regulatory regime | in regulations affecting

its current position
and/or strategy.

Compliance

Risk of loss resulting
from failure to
comply with laws,
regulations, rules,
related self-regulatory

The RCBC Group shall
comply with laws,
regulations, rules, related
self-regulatory organization
standards, and codes of
conduct applicable to its

or expected to be
involved in

Risk Type Definition Risk Appetite Risk Type Definition Risk Appetite
The RCBC Group has zero The RCBC Group shall
tolerance for information Risk of loss resulting manage legal risk to ensure
security/cyber security from uncertainty of that losses arising from
Risk of loss resulting breaches. The Group shall Legal Risk legal proceedings legal proceedings do not
Information from information protect its information 9 that we are currently | cause material damage to

the Group’s liquidity and
capital position,
and reputation.

Strategic Risk

Risk of loss arising
from adverse business
decisions or lack of
responsiveness to
industry changes

The RCBC Group shall

only pursue strategies
whose foreseeable risks
have been considered and/
or mitigated. The Group
shall manage strategic risk
to ensure that there is no
material damage to the
Group’s liquidity and capital
position, and reputation.

Risk of loss arising

The RCBC Group has zero
tolerance for knowingly
engaging in any business
activity where foreseeable
reputational risk or damage

(ML/TF) Risk

financing activities

Risk organization banking activities. The
standards, and codes | Group has no appetite for
of conduct deliberately or knowingly
applicable to its incurring a breach of the
banking activities letter or spirit of

regulatory requirements.
The RCBC Group has
zero tolerance for any

Money Risk of loss resulting mvo\vement In money

Laundering/ from the involvement ‘f?#;?g;'n%fga;ggqﬁ;

Terrorist in money laundering Grou s%all mana 'e ML/

Financing and terrorist P 9

TF risk to avoid any
involvement in money
laundering and terrorist
financing activities.

Fraud Risk
(Internal &
External)

Risk of loss resulting
from falling victim to
activities involving
internal and/or
external fraud

The RCBC Group shall
manage fraud risk to ensure
that losses resulting from
activities involving internal
and/or external fraud do
not cause material damage
to the Group’s liquidity
and capital position, and
reputation. The Group

has zero tolerance for any
incident involving internal
fraud, or any inappropriate
conduct by a member of
staff or by any

Group business.

Eiesiutat\on from negative has not been considered
public opinion and/or mitigated. The
Group shall protect its
reputation to ensure that
there is no material damage
to the Group.
Risk Limits*

Risk Limits are quantitative measures based on forward-
looking assumptions that allocate the Group’s aggregate
risk appetite statement to business lines, subsidiaries as
relevant, specific risk categories, concentrations, and
other levels as deemed appropriate. The Risk Oversight
Committee’s expectations with regards risk limits are
as follows:

e Risk limits should be set at a level to constrain
risk-taking within the approved risk appetite,
taking into account the interest of customers
and shareholders as well as capital and other
regulatory requirements, in the event that a risk
limit is breached and the likelihood that each
material risk is realized.

¢ Risk limits should be established for business
lines and subsidiaries, and generally expressed
relative to:

o Earnings
o Capital
o Liquidity

o Other relevant measures, e.g. growth and
liquidity

4 Financial Stability Board (FSB), 2013. “Principles for an
Effective Risk Appetite Framework”



¢ Risk limits should include material concentrations
at the group-wide, business line and subsidiary
levels.

e Risk limits should not be strictly based on
comparison to peers or default to regulatory
limits.

¢ Risk limits should not be overly complicated,
ambiguous, or subjective.

e Risk limits should be monitored regularly.

RISK GOVERNANCE

The Risk Governance Framework of the Group follows a
top-down approach, whereby the Board takes ultimate
accountability for: the risks taken, setting the tolerance
level for these risks, business strategies, operating
budget, policies, and overall risk philosophy.

In the interest of promoting efficient corporate
governance, the Board constitutes committees to
perform oversight responsibilities. These committees
perform oversight functions in the area of risk policy
formulation, decision-making, and risk portfolio
management.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

AML COMMITTEE

FIG. 9 RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT INFRASTRUCTURE

Board of Directors

The Board ensures that the Group’s corporate objectives
are supported by a sound risk strategy and an effective
risk governance framework that is appropriate to the
nature, scale, and complexity of its activities. The Board
provides effective oversight of senior management’s
actions to ensure consistency with the risk strategy and
policies, including the risk appetite framework.

RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Board:

e Sets policies, strategies and objectives and
oversees the executive function

e Sets the risk appetite and ensures that it is
reflected in the business strategy and cascaded
throughout the organization

e Establishes and oversees an effective risk

governance and organizational structure

Board Committees

Overall responsibility for risk management is with the
Board of Directors. More specific responsibilities of
the Board and management committees involved,
and assisting the Board, in the risk process are
provided below.

THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Executive Committee has the authority to act
on matters as the Board of Directors may entrust
to it for action in between meetings of the Board.
More specifically, it reviews and approves loans and
other credit-related matters, investments, purchase of
stocks, bonds, securities and other commercial papers
for the bank.

THE RISK OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE

The ROC supports the Board with respect to oversight
and management of risk exposures of the RCBC parent
bank and subsidiaries (the Group). In this regard, the
ROC exercises authority over all other risk committees
of the Group, with the principal purpose of assisting the
Board in fulfilling its risk oversight responsibilities. The
ROC oversees:

¢ The Risk Governance Framework. The ROC
ensures that an appropriate risk governance
framework is in place, and adopted (as
appropriate) across all entities of the RCBC Group.

e The Risk Management Function. The ROC
is responsible for the appointment/selection,
remuneration, and dismissal of the Chief Risk
Officer (CRO). It shall also ensure that the risk
management function (CRISMS and CMG) has
adequate resources including personnel, systems,
and other risk management capabilities necessary
for the conduct of sound risk management, and
effectively oversees the risk taking activities of
the Group.
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* Adherence to Risk Appetite. The ROC oversees
compliance to established risk management
policies and limits. The ROC ensures that the
currentandemerging risk exposures are consistent
with the Group’s strategic and overall risk appetite.
It assesses the overall status of adherence to the
risk appetite based on the quality of compliance
with the limit structure, policies, and procedures
relating to risk management and control, and
performance of management, among others;

¢ Capital Planning and Management. The ROC
reviews, evaluates, periodically assesses for,
and reports to the Board, the Group’s Internal
Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP),
especially relating to:

o Current and projected capital and risk-

weighted asset levels and requirements;

o Capital allocation among risk-taking units of
the Group; and

o Perceived threats to capital adequacy
arising from both identified and unexpected
risk factors

e Recovery Plans. The ROC ensures periodic
review of the effectiveness of the risk
management systems and recovery plans. It
ensures that implementation is carried out on
an enterprise-wide basis, and that corrective
actions are promptly implemented to address risk
management concerns.

THE ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING BOARD COMMITTEE

The Anti-Money Laundering Committee is constituted
by the Board of Directors for the purpose of carrying
out its mandate to fully comply with the Anti-Money
Laundering Act, as amended, its Revised Implementing
Rules and Regulations and the Anti-Money Laundering
Regulations under the MORB; and to ensure that
oversight on the bank’s AML compliance management
is adequate. The AML Board Committee has oversight
on all AML-related matters such as the bank’s Money
Laundering and Terrorist Financing Prevention Program
(MLPP), AML findings, PCA commitments, alerts
management, and CTRs & STRs.

THE AUDIT AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

The Audit and Compliance Committee is a board-
level committee constituted to perform the following
core functions:

¢ Oversight of the institution’s financial reporting
and control, and of internal and external audit
functions. This includes responsibility for the
setting up of internal audit and for the appointment
of the internal auditor as well as the independent
external auditor who shall both report directly to
the Audit and Compliance Committee.

* |nvestigation of any matter within its terms of
reference, with full access to and cooperation
by management and full discretion to invite any
director or executive officer to attend its meetings
and adequate resources to enable it to effectively
discharge its functions.

* The review of the effectiveness of the institution’s
internal controls, including financial, operational
and compliance controls, and risk management,
to be conducted at least annually.

e Oversight of regulatory/compliance aspects.

Risk Management Function

The following functions support the above-mentioned
committees and are an integral part of the risk
organization of the bank:

THE RISK MANAGEMENT GROUPS

Supporting the ROC in carrying out its mandate are the
Corporate Risk Management Services Group (CRISMS),
and the Credit Management Group (CMG).

Administratively and functionally, enterprise risk
management follows the “centralized risk monitoring
- decentralized risk management” approach. The risk
units in the subsidiaries implement the risk management
process individually, and report to their respective
risk committees.

The parent bank’s risk management groups implement
the risk management process in the parent and
consolidate the risk MIS from the subsidiary risk units for
a unified risk profile that is presented to the ROC.

The risk management groups are responsible for
overseeing the risk-taking activities across the Group,
as well as in evaluating whether these remain consistent
with the bank’s risk appetite and strategic direction. It
shall ensure that the risk governance framework remains
appropriate relative to the complexity of the bank’s risk



taking activities. The risk management groups shall be
responsible for identifying, measuring, monitoring, and
reporting risk on an enterprise-wide basis. It shall directly
report to the ROC. Personnel in the risk management
groups should collectively have knowledge and technical
skills commensurate with the bank’s business activities
and risk exposures.

The Corporate Risk Management Services Group
(CRISMS)

CHIEF RISK OFFICER

FIG. 3 CORPORATE RISK MANAGEMENT SERVICES GROUP

Enterprise Risk Division: The Enterprise Risk Division
(ERD) is responsible for credit risk analytics and

credit portfolio risk function, the bank’s Social and
Environmental Management System (SEMS) and
Sustainability Framework, and the Internal Capital
Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP). A quantitative
risk unit is responsible for quantitative analysis,
backtesting and review of risk models.

ENTERPRISE RISK DIVISION HEAD

FIG. 4 ENTERPRISE RISK DIVISION

RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Portfolio Quality Division: The Portfolio Quality Division
(PQD) is responsible for conducting independent credit
review and ensuring compliance with the requirements
of BSP Circular 855 on credit review process. PQD
contributes to Risk Portfolio Management through the
assessment of the overall portfolio quality of the bank,
with a view to enhancing the credit review framework
covering credit review procedures, policy formulation,
and action plan monitoring. Findings are reported
periodically to the ROC, following discussions with
accountable groups in line with the requirements of BSP
Circular 855.

PORTFOLIO QUALITY DIVISION HEAD

FIG. 5 PORTFOLIO QUALITY DIVISION

Market and Liquidity Risk Division: The Market
and Liquidity Risk Division (MRD) is tasked with the
development and implementation of market and
liquidity risk policies and measurement methodologies,
recommending and monitoring compliance to market
and liquidity risk limits, and reporting the same to the
appropriate bodies. Itis also the primary unit in the Group
responsible for the formal management of interest rate
risk (IRRBB). It regularly reports to the ROC and the
Asset & Liability Committee (ALCO) activities relevant
to market, liquidity, and interest rate risk management
of the Group.
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MARKET AND LIQUIDITY RISK DIVISION HEAD

FIG. 6 MARKET AND LIQUIDITY RISK DIVISION

Operational Risk Management Division: The
Operational Risk Management Division (ORMD) is
responsible for implementing the Operational Risk

Management (ORM) Framework across the Group.
ORMD also covers Consumer Protection, Trust Risk,
and Enterprise Fraud Risk.

To facilitate implementation of ORM tools in the business
lines of both the parent bank and its subsidiaries,
officers are deputized and serve as embedded Deputy
Operational Risk Officers (DORO). A DORO therefore
functions as ORMD’s liaison to and implementation arm
in the business units.

OPERATIONAL RISK MANAGEMENT

DIVISION HEAD

FIG. 7 OPERATIONAL RISK MANAGEMENT DIVISION

Resiliency, Information Security, and Systems Division:
The Resiliency, Information Security, and Systems Division
(RISS) is responsible for ensuring the bank’s capability to
plan and respond to incidents and business disruptions
and enable the continuity of key business operations at
predefined acceptable levels. Another function of the
division is to provide the processes and methodologies
designed to protect the information assets of the bank
from unauthorized access, use, misuse, disclosure,
destruction, modification, or disruption. This unit also
ensures the efficiency and proper implementation of the
various systems used by CRISMS.

RESILIENCY, INFORMATION SECURITY,
AND SYSTEMS DIVISION HEAD

FIG. 8 RESILIENCY, INFORMATION SECURITY, AND SYSTEMS DIVISION

The Credit Management Group (CMG)

The Credit Management Group (CMG) focuses on the
operational and front-end aspect of the credit cycle.

CREDIT MANAGEMENT GROUP HEAD

FIG. 9 CREDIT MANAGEMENT GROUP



Major responsibilities of CMG include:

¢ Providing inputs on the credit quality of accounts
to ascertain that all credit issues are disclosed
and discussed thoroughly, so that approving
authorities can render decisions based on
adequate information

o Preparesfinancialanalysisandspreadsheets
to provide input for credit risk assessment
and credit packaging; issues and reviews
credit risk ratings

o Strengthens loan portfolio quality;
guides business units and determines
which accounts are weak or are potential
problem loans

o Subjects the portfolio to stress testing to
determine the potential effect on the loan
portfolio of possible stress scenarios, in
order to assist management in formulating
contingency plans for the portion of the
portfolio that is vulnerable

o Provides property valuation to ensure
adequate collateral security as a second
way out of the bank’s lending activities

¢ Formulating and amending credit policies
through  benchmarking, industry research,
keeping updated with regulatory requirements
and international risk standards, and ensuring
compliance with all BSP requirements

o Reviews policies formulated by various
business units/groups within the bank, and
of subsidiaries such as RSB and Bankard
to ensure that their policies are generally
aligned with the parent bank’s policies

o Reviews/revises annually credit
concentration limits such as industry,
country and counterparty limits for CBG
and Treasury by consulting the Corporate
Planning Group, CBG, and Treasury on
business requirements and risks

e Prepares various regulatory and management
reports to provide the needed inputs for audited
financial reporting, compliance with regulatory
requirements, and as a tool for managing the loan
portfolio and for credit decision-making

RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Chief Risk Officer

The chief risk officer (CRO) shall have sufficient stature,
authority, and seniority within the bank. He shall be
independent from executive functions and business
line responsibilities, operations and revenue-generating
functions, and shall have access to such information as
he deems necessary to form his judgment. The CRO
shall have direct access to the Board of Directors and
the Risk Oversight Committee without any impediment.
He shall serve on a full-time basis and shall functionally
report to the ROC.

Responsibilities of the CRO: The CRO has the broad
and exclusive responsibility for all risk issues. The CRO
performs the critical executive function relating to risk
management. The CRO should be able to adequately
communicate the risk assessment to the Board and
facilitate sound board-level risk decisions. The CRO shall
be responsible for overseeing the risk management
function and shall support the Board in the development
of the risk appetite and risk appetite statement of
the bank and for translating the risk appetite into a
risk limits structure. The CRO shall likewise propose
enhancements to risk management policies, processes,
and systems to ensure that the bank’s risk management
capabilities are sufficiently robust and effective to fully
support strategic objectives and risk-taking activities.

Role of Parent Bank and Subsidiaries

The Board and senior management of subsidiaries
will be held responsible for effective risk management
processes at the subsidiary level and must have
appropriate influence in the design and implementation
of risk management in the subsidiary. Conversely,
the board and management of the parent bank is
responsible for the risk management of the Group
and must exercise oversight over its subsidiaries
with appropriate processes established to monitor
the subsidiaries’ compliance to the Group’s risk
management practices.

Three Lines of Defense Model

Notwithstanding its defined specific risk management
functions, the Group recognizes that the core banking
activity of managing risks is not the sole province of
CRISMS and CMG. It is rather a function that cuts across
the entire organization.

In the Three Lines of Defense model, management
control is the first line of defense in risk management,
the various risk control and compliance oversight
functions established by management are the second
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line of defense, and independent assurance [or audit] is
the third. Each of these three lines plays a distinct role
within the organization’s wider governance framework.®

Responsibilities

e Every employee is a risk officer; the day
to day management of all material risks is
the responsibility of all bank personnel

¢ Business lines & support units:

o Know our customers well and
are best placed to act in both
customers’ and RCBC'’s
best interests

o Own the risks and are responsible
for identifying, monitoring, and
controlling them to stay
within appetite

o Are responsible for promoting a
culture of compliance and control

st Line:

Business Lines &
Support Units

¢ Risk control owners for their respective
specialized risk types:

o Monitor and facilitate the
implementation of effective risk
management practices by the
1st line

o Set standards by which the 1st line is
expected to manage risk, including
compliance with applicable laws,
regulatory requirements, policies,

) and other relevant standards

2nd Line:

Develop and maintain policies,
Risk & Control Units © P P

standards and guidelines, set risk
appetite and limits

o Challenge the st line on effective
risk management, their inputs to,
and outputs from, the bank’s risk
management tools

o Oversee the optimization of risk-
reward trade-off

¢ Scope of responsibilities is defined by risk
type, and not constrained by functional/
business/organizational boundaries

e Auditors:

o Evaluate the effectiveness of the risk
governance framework (design &
implementation)

Provide an independent, objective
assessment to improve the
effectiveness of the first two lines
of defense

3rd Line:
Audit o

1ST LINE OF DEFENSE: BUSINESS LINES
& SUPPORT UNITS

The first line of defense is the risk-originating units of the
bank, which are the business lines and support units. They
originate products and activities which are the source of
risks. They are, therefore, in a best position to address
risk issues at the onset. Business lines are expected to
embed the risk governance framework and sound risk
management practices into their respective standard

s Institute of Internal Auditors, 2013. “The Three Lines of
Defense in Effective Risk Management and Control”

operating procedures. It is the responsibility of every
level of management, in every business or functional unit,
under the oversight of the Board, to ensure that the Risk
Management Process is performed. The establishment
of a bank-wide “independent risk management function”
to assist the Board does not take away the responsibility
for risk management from the line business/functional
units. They must, therefore, adhere to all applicable
policies, procedures, and processes established by the
risk management function.

The management of credit risk for instance encompasses
the Group’s various units involved in the credit or
lending cycle spanning origination, evaluation, approval,
implementation/account management, and collection/
remedial management. Each stage of the cycle is
governed by a specific set of policies and procedures.

The same is true with the management of market,
interest rate, and liquidity risks. As a general principle,
risk-taking units (e.g. Trading, Investment, and Liquidity
desks) are themselves risk managers, and are therefore
expected to recognize and identify the risks attributed
to various traded instruments, investment outlets, and
counterparties. Moreover, they are expected to exercise
risk control via observance of trading and/or investment
rules, and compliance to risk limits set by regulation and
those internally approved and set by the Board. Risk
control units (e.g. Treasury back office, Settlements) on
the other hand are reposed with the responsibility of
being the second line of defense.

The management of operational risk too is the
responsibility of all Group personnel, with all units of the
Group effectively becoming stakeholders in the ORM
Framework. In addition to the ORM tools employed by
the Group, operating manuals and policies relating to
people, process, and systems management are in place
and are supplemented by the Group’s risk-based internal
audit process.

2ND LINE OF DEFENSE: RISK & CONTROL UNITS

The second line of defense are the control functions;
independent of the first line. The second line is
responsible for developing and implementing a policy
framework that reduces or eliminates preventable risks,
and reduces the likelihood and impact of strategic and
external risks. The second line of defense must:

¢ |dentify, monitor, and escalate risk issues to the
Chief Risk Officer;



e Qversee and challenge first line risk-taking
activities and review first line risk proposals; and

e Set risk data aggregation, risk reporting, and data
quality requirements.
Risk Types

Risk types are those risks that are inherent in our strategy
and business model. These risks are managed by distinct
risk type frameworks.

Strategic Risk Corplan, Strategic Initiatives

Risk Type 2nd Line Ownership

1. Credit Risk Credit Management Group
2. Credit Concentration Risk Credit Management Group
3. Market Risk CRISMS

4. Interest Rate Risk CRISMS

5. Liquidity Risk CRISMS

6. Operational Risk CRISMS

7.

8.

Reputation Risk Marketing Group

Operational Risk Subtypes

At the enterprise level, the Operational Risk Management
function under CRISMS has overall responsibility for
Operational Risk as Risk Control Owner in the 2" line of
defense. However, the broad scope of Operational Risk
requires subject matter expertise and specialization in
areas such as: IT, Compliance, ML/TF, Fraud, Legal, etc.
These specialized areas are categorized as Operational
Risk subtypes. The Risk Control Owners responsible
for Operational Risk subtypes have the same level of
authority and responsibility for setting risk management
standards as all other Risk Control Owners. They are
not subordinated to the Operational Risk Management
function. The Operational Risk Management function
collaborates with all Risk Control Owners to ensure Risk
Management standards are applied consistently.

Operational Risk Subtype

2nd Line Ownership

-

IT Risk

IT Shared Services Group

2. Information Security Risk CRISMS

3. Business Continuity Risk CRISMS

4. Regulatory Risk Regulatory Affairs Group
5. Compliance Risk Regulatory Affairs Group
6. ML/TF Risk Regulatory Affairs Group
7. Fraud Risk CRISMS

8. Legal Risk Legal Affairs Group

RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

3RD LINE OF DEFENSE: AUDIT

The third line of defense is internal audit. Internal audit
reviews the effectiveness of risk management practices.
It confirms the level of compliance, recommends
improvements, and enforces corrective actions
when necessary.

Sustainable Finance

Climate change is real and its impact presents a
clear and present danger to humanity. The Philippine
archipelago is highly vulnerable to the impact of climate
change. According to Global Climate Risk Index 2018,
the Philippines is the fifth most vulnerable to climate
change. Communities living in our coastal areas risk
flooding due to rising sea level. Increasing frequency
of extreme weather events, i.e. erratic and high rainfall,
severe typhoons or rising temperatures causing
drought are threatening normal life and endangering
fragile ecosystems.

Under the Paris Agreement on Climate change,
Philippines have committed to reduce 70% of its
greenhouse gas emissions by 2030 to reduce global
warming to 1.5 degrees. We believe that the financial
services sector has the opportunity to play a key
role in this major global initiative and therefore must
spearhead the fight against climate change.

At RCBC we believe that understanding the effects
of and managing climate change is prudent risk
management. As a leading Domestic Financial
Institution and a responsible corporate entity, we are
committed to doing our part to reduce the impact of
global warming and support the Government in its
commitment to Sustainable Development Goals.

RCBC SUSTAINABLE STRATEGY

RCBC is committed to uphold social and environmental
responsibility in all its business activities. We
recognize that balancing non-financial factors such as
environmental and social issues with financial priorities
is essential to being a good corporate citizen and is
fundamental to risk management and the larger interest
of our investors and shareholders.

RCBC aims to embed awareness of environment and
social issues within the organization, with our clients
and in the communities that we serve. The bank
believes that good sustainable practices is a key pillar
of responsible lending which can have a meaningful
impact on the communities and environment.
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SOCIAL AND ENVIRONMENT MANAGEMENT DUE
DILIGENCE

The SOCIAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT
SYSTEM (SEMS) of RCBC requires all lending
relationships/credits, both pipeline and portfolio, are
vetted from a social and environmental risk perspective.

The social and environmental impact assessment
process is a systematic way of identifying and assessing
the type and scale of impact a project may have on
the environment and the communities. The SEMS
assessment takes place before a lending decision is
made and continues during the life cycle of the loan
agreement with the client.

We have conducted social and environment due
diligence reviews on our investments in fossil fuel fired
power plants. We will continue to engage our clients,
share best practices and support their efforts to seek
solutions that reduce the impact on the environment.

RISK AND OPPORTUNITIES

We believe in understanding, measuring and mitigating
the risks associated with transition to low carbon and
climate resilient future. We will align our business
strategy with national priorities and overtime rebalance
our portfolio mix that creates value and benefits our
stakeholders.

We are also cognizant of the opportunities that will arise
as we transition to this new world order. According to
the International Energy Agency a global transition to
meet this goal will require more than €30 trillion to be
invested in clean energy and efficient infrastructure by
2035. We want to be well positioned to participate and
finance this transition.

We have taken important first steps to reduce our
corporate carbon footprint, finance the flow of funds
into low carbon and climate resilient future not only in
the Philippines but also within ASEAN. Our contribution
to lower our carbon footprint, support sustainable
finance initiatives and Sustainable Development Goals
in the following ways:

¢ RCBCs Corporate Head Office in Manila is located
ina LEED Gold certified building

¢ Funded projects that support UN Sustainable
Development Goals. Specifically, Clean Water
and Sanitation, Affordable and Clean Energy,
Decent Work and Economic Goals, Reduce
Inequality, Sustainable Cities and Communities,
Responsible Consumption and Production and
Life on Land.

e Participated in 14 renewable energy and energy
efficiency financing deals including direct
financial support to South East Asia’s largest
solar power plant and served as the biggest
funder to the 132.5MW solar farm in Cadiz City,
Negros Occidental, Philippines

¢ Channeled more than P13Billion to fund projects
and loans that provide access to social needs
directly improve living conditions of Filipinos

We have voluntarily placed several economic sectors
on our funding exclusion list. We will not finance
(new) projects to fund Tobacco, Alcohol and Gaming
investments. Our existing exposure to these sectors
remains considerably small relative to our total loans.

NEXT STEPS

RCBC has recently issued a Sustainable Finance
Framework which articulates our strategy to prioritize
fund raising and lending to priority sectors. Earlier this
year the Bank raised Peso 15 Billion (USD 290 Million)
under its Green Finance Framework. The issue was the
first green bond from the Philippines under the ASEAN
Green Bond Standards and proceeds were utilized to
fund eligible green assets.

The world faces unprecedented challenges on account
of climate change. Achieving global goals requires the
participation of all sectors of civil society. We are ready
to do our part.

Credit Risk
RISK ASSESSMENT

Credit Risk is the risk of loss arising from a counterparty’s
failure to meet the terms of any contract with the bank or
otherwise perform as agreed. Credit risk stems from the
probability that the borrower, issuer or counterparty in a
transaction may default and cause potential loss to the
Group, as it is exposed to risk as a trading counterparty
to dealers and customers, as direct lender, and as a
holder of securities.

The assessment of this risk, in relation to its impact
on capital adequacy, is governed by the Standardized
Approach, as prescribed under Basel Il and by BSP
Circular 855.

The Bank uses a credit risk rating system that
permits credit analytics and qualitative features that
accommodate expert judgment when assessing credit
worthiness. Following the Group’s efforts to align with
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international best practice, the Bank, since 2013, has been using the following Standard and Poor’s (S&P) Scorecards:

Generic Corporate Scorecard: General framework for corporate borrowers regardless of industry
Utilities Suite: Scorecards covering power (electricity, gas, power), generation, transmission, distribution

Real Estate Developer: Scorecards covering real estate entities engaged in diversified development & sale,
and buying & selling of a portfolio of real estate assets

Small & Medium Enterprise: Scorecard for borrowers classified as small or medium
Overlays: Parent-subsidiary and multi-activity & holding company

Financial Institutions: Scorecard for banks

The S&P scorecards are a formalization of the S&P rating methodology. By applying the same principles of assessing
credit-worthiness, the scorecards leverage on S&P’s extensive rating experience and over 30 years of available default
data, thus serving a need specific to low default portfolios and institutions that may have issues with the existence
(or non-existence) of clean historical credit and default data.

The Scorecards are designed to be used for: 1) the whole of corporate lending by RCBC, RSB, and Malayan Leasing,
2) relevant portfolio assessed by Treasury and Trust for investment purposes, and 3) the SME portfolio of both RCBC
and RSB. The resulting ratings shadow the international S&P rating scale.

As of December 2018, the distribution of all rated accounts is as follows:

NUMBER OF ACCOUNTS

NO. OF
S&P RATED ACCOUNTS (PARENT) 4Q 2018 RATING ACCOUNTS e
AAA ] 0.00
1,200 — - 30.00 AA+ o 0.00
5 AA ) 0.01
- 25.00 : AA- o 0.02
g A+ (o] 0.05
Gis - 2000 < A o 0.05
g A- 0 0.08
soo-3 - 1500 2 BBB+ 1 0.3
w BBB 423 0.22
e ~ 1000 & BBB- 21 0.26
w BB+ 64 0.53
s ] | i % BB 88 0.75
BB- 276 1.28
- B Number B+ 865 2.20
| I - - 0.00 —g—pp (%)

RCRORIRAREN v‘ﬁ‘&”’@“&“&d‘" & o °'o°§ B 833 6.26
& B- 480 9.16
¢ CCC+ Down 42 23.96

S&P RATING SCALE TOTAL 3,093

S&P RATED ACCOUNTS (PARENT) 4Q 2016

FIG. 14
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The general description of each rating grade is as follows:

S&P Letter
Grade

Description

Extremely strong capacity to meet financial

AAA )
commitments

AA+
AA

Very strong capacity to meet financial commitments

Strong capacity to meet financial commitments,
A but somewhat susceptible to adverse economic
conditions and changes in circumstances

A-
BBB+
Adequate capacity to meet financial commitments,
BBB ; . -
but more subject to adverse economic conditions
BBB-
BB+ ) )
Less vulnerable in the near-term but faces major
BB ongoing uncertainties to adverse business, financial
and economic conditions
BB-
B+

More vulnerable to adverse business, financial and
B economic conditions but currently has the capacity
to meet financial commitments

B-
CCC+ Currently vulnerable and dependent on favorable
business, financial and economic conditions to meet
ccc financial commitments
Lower than .
ccc Currently highly vulnerable

Following BSP Circular 855, the Group has set out to
subject all accounts to risk rating either on an individual
or collective basis.

Investment securities likewise undergo credit evaluation.
The latter is initiated by the Treasury group, and later
validated by the Credit Management Group (CMG).
International ratings play a major role in the determination
of a security’s acceptability.

Forthe Group’s consumer loans portfolio, risk assessment
is performed on an individual borrower through the use
of credit application scorecards, developed alongside
Fair Isaac Corp (FICO), for Housing, Auto and Personal
Loans. For Corporate Salary Loans, however, a rule-
based set of credit criteria on company accreditation
and borrower evaluation is used.

The credit application scorecard developed with
FICO makes use of customer, loan and collateral
characteristics which have been assigned weights based
on their predictive power in determining the propensity
of an account to default or maintain a satisfactory
credit performance.

The Group likewise utilizes FICO-developed credit
scoring and behavioral scorecards for its cards portfolio.
The main objective of credit scoring is to decrease

the risk of accepting potentially bad applicants, thus,
lowering credit provisions, while balancing the approval
rate to a satisfactory level. The system awards points
for each factor that helps predict who is most likely to
repay a debt. A total number of points - a credit score,
helps predict how credit-worthy an applicant is, how
likely he is to pay a loan, and make payments when due.
The behavioral scorecard on the other hand is a rating
tool based on several existing customer’s characteristics
which are used to evaluate the continuing credit risk
primarily of the existing portfolio. It is expected that the
behavioral scorecard developed would be effective in
discriminating between good and bad accounts across
different time periods.

The assessment of the Group’s exposure to credit risk is
also manifested in its loan loss/impairment provisioning
process which normally considers the worst provisioning
level resulting from the following approaches: a)
required reserves based on the BSP's latest Report
of Examination, b) required provisions following the
application of internal credit risk assessment tools, and
c) impairment testing. The total credit risk exposure of
the Group, net of provisioning, is detailed in Note 4.4.1 of
the accompanying Notes to Financial Statements. The
details of the Group’s impairment testing exercise are
found in Note 16 of the NFS.

Expected Credit Loss

The ECL framework is approached on a group-wide
basis, with peculiarities depending on the portfolio and
asset classes being assessed.

The ECL is computed in line with the standard Basel
formulation of ECL = PD x LGD x EAD. Both the PD
and LGD parameters are based on the Group’s credit
experience, while EAD is the outstanding loan balance
at any given cut-off. At least for the parent bank, the PDs
are validated default probabilities arising from its use of
the S&P Scorecards. LGD on the other hand is based on
an analysis of 5-yrs worth of recovery experience, taking
into account both the facility and collateral position at
time of default, and the recovery method employed.

In addition to the standard ECL formulation, an overlay
methodology is likewise employed. An overlay represents
a forward-looking view of credit that may be based on
nmacroeconomic studies or other bottom-up approaches
that serve to modify any or all of the variables used in
ECL calculation.

To further its assessment of credit risk, the Group
performs credit risk stress testing using break-even sales
and cash flow debt service to determine a borrower’s
vulnerability. In addition, both the Parent Company and
its major subsidiary RSB participate in the semi-annual
run of the uniform stress testing exercise for banks
initiated by the BSP.



RISK MONITORING AND REPORTING

The following table summarizes the various reports

produced by
risk exposures.

the Group

to monitor its credit

ANNUAL REPORTS

DESCRIPTION

Industry Exposure Report
(IER) - FCDU

FDCU breakdown as to industry

SEMI ANNUAL REPORTS

DESCRIPTION

S&P Rating Model
Performance Review

Internal credit risk rating model
performance review and backtesting of
probability of default

Risk Rating Transition/
Migration and Analysis

Matrices that shows actual performance
of the rating system over time

QUARTERLY REPORTS

DESCRIPTION

Bad Debts

Report on accounts considered bad
debts following MORB X136.1 definition

Stress Testing of Credit
Risk

BSP’s Uniform Stress Testing Program
for Banks

Loan Portfolio Stress Test

Assessing the loan portfolio’s
vulnerability to adverse events

NPL Sectoral Analysis

NPL by industry

MONTHLY REPORTS

DESCRIPTION

Expected Credit Loss

Computation of the required allowance
for credit losses and monitoring
adequacy of booked reserves

Credit Exposure Report
(CREDEX)

Credex and BSP code assignment
based on the specific reserves and
rating of account

Past Due Report

Consolidated Status Reporting of Past
Due Accounts as updated by RMs

Non-Performing Loans
(NPL)

Report on past due, NPL and Net NPL
level and ratio of the bank

New Real Past Due Loans

Monitoring of new problem loans based
on lending unit’s status/remarks in Past
Due Report

Industry Exposure Report
(IER)

Monitoring of exposures per industry
against internal limit

Alcohol, Tobacco and
Gaming Exposures

Mnitoring of exposures to alcohol,
tobacco and gaming industries against
internal limit

Top 50 Borrowers

Top 50 Past Due Loans

Top 50 Non-Performing
Loans

Top 50 Exposures
(Group/Individual)

Monitoring of concentration risk

Consolidated Industry
Exposure Report

Monitoring concentration risk per
Industry of consolidated RCBC, RSB
and RLFC Portfolios

Consolidated top
Borrowers Report

Monitoring of concentration risk

RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

These reports in turn are disseminated to both the
Group’s risk-taking units for guidance; and more
importantly to Senior Management and the ROC.

Credit Concentration Risk

Credit Concentration Risk is the risk of loss arising
from over-exposure to specific industries, borrower,
counterparty, or group. The Group monitors
concentrations of credit risk by sector. An analysis of
concentrations of credit risk of the loan portfolio at
the end of the reporting period is shown in Note 111
of the NFS.

RISK ASSESSMENT

Other than the various measures of risk concentration,
the Group measures credit concentration risk using a
simplified application of the Herfindahl-Hirschman Index
(HHI) approach.

Mathematically, the HHI is the sum of the squares of the
relative portfolio shares, divided by the squared portfolio
shares sum. If percentages were to represent the relative
portfolio shares, the HHI formula is simply the sum of the
squares of these percentages, as the square of 100% (the
percentage sum) is one (1). For 2018, credit concentration
risk for both the parent and the consolidated entity has
been assessed as “moderate”.

While the HHI find usefulness in indicating industry
concentration, the same may not be said for borrower
concentration, as the index does not take into account
a possible skewed lending behavior towards individual
borrowers, which itself is an indication of credit
concentration. The parent bank therefore supplements
the HHI by adopting a Comprehensive Concentration
Index (CCl). Mathematically, the CCI is the sum of
the proportional share of the leading borrower (or
borrowers) and the summation of the squares of the
proportional sizes of each borrower, weighted by a
multiplier reflecting the proportional size of the rest of
the portfolio. The CCI therefore provides a view of the
dispersion of the portfolio.

The Group works with correlations to further its analysis
of concentration risk and stress testing. Using latest
national accounts data, the Group regularly tracks
correlations among industries to see which of its
exposures are likely to move in similar directions.

RISK MONITORING AND REPORTING

CRISMS monitors portfolio credit concentration on a
regular basis, with information relayed to frontline and
support units. It is likewise reported monthly to the ROC,
and eventually to the Board. CRISMS likewise includes
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in its monitoring and reporting activity the information on compliance to set individual credit risk limits, particularly
SBL. The daily monitoring of availments vs. limits approved per borrower (including SBL) however rests with the
implementing/operations units.

Market Risk

Market Risk is the risk of loss arising from adverse movements in market prices. The Group assumes market risk in
trading activities by taking positions in various financial instruments, such as foreign exchange, fixed income, and
derivative contracts. Its understanding of what constitutes market risk is guided by relevant local regulatory issuances,
notably BSP Circular 544, as well as by the BIS Basel Committee on Bank Supervision, notably the “Principles for the
Management and Supervision of Interest Rate Risk”.

As of end December 2018, the following tables reflect the balances of the Group’s portfolios exposed to market risk.

FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT AND LOSS

Fixed Income Portfolio (PhP Million)

Weighted L .
Face Coupon Average Average Modlf.led Book Market Ma.rket
Value - Bf>ok Duration Value Value Yield
Yield
FVTPL
Peso Denominated Holdings
CORP BOND 156.27 7.05 2.00 7.02 1.80 156.00 155.62 714
FXTN 1425.52 4.24 394 6.50 3.20 1339.82 1334.20 6.95
ROP GPN 5.00 573 n.21 5.42 6.75 4.99 4.88 6.27
RTB 82.10 4.63 717 7.07 5.51 73.22 72.97 7.06
T BILL 717.05 - 0.76 5.55 0.70 687.66 682.54 6.64
Foreign Currency Denominated Holdings
FGN CORP BOND 1095.50 373 0.76 3.05 0.70 1095.97 109313 3.34
FGN GOCC 106.58 7.26 0.45 3.00 0.43 109.27 108.34 3.43
FGN SOV BOND 708.32 6.67 1.95 2.87 1.60 725.95 719.12 324
FGN T BILL 119.70 0.00 0.30 2.37 0.28 118.86 118.85 2.38
ROP 340.40 7.27 4.25 2.43 310 357.92 351.24 271
TOTAL FVTPL 4756.44 412 2.28 4,57 1.87 4669.65 46 5.03
Foreign Exchange Portfolio (PhP Million) Derivatives Portfolio Year-End Profile
FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK EXPOSURES FX Swaps N?J?ganlﬂﬁmz:)nt N?;:::?'I‘iﬁ:;::)nt
USD -452.35
JPY -42.54 Trading
chrF 8222 Sell/Buy USD (Borrow PHP) 412.05 21,665.67
oBP 4743 Buy/Sell USD (Lend PHP) 368.54 19,377.72
EUR -29716 GROSS POSITION 780.59 41,043.40
CAD 9.09 NET POSITION 43.51 -2,287.95
AUD -1.66
SGD 89.58
Peso IRS USD IRS USD-PHP Cross
OTHER 109.92 Other: Swaps (PHP Millions) | (PHP Millions) | Currency
Sum of net long 338.26 Trading
Sum of net short -766.71 Received Fixed - Pay Float 5,930.00 168.72 124.22
Pay Fixed - Receive Float 5,050.00 27713 28.82
Overall net open position 766.71
Total Risk Weighted FX Exposures 766.71




FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Fixed Income Portfolio (PhP Million)

RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Face Coupon szz-’r:;‘:d “A\ezlegr:;eed Modified | Book Market | Market
Value O B?ok Duration Value Value Yield
Yield
FVTPL
Peso Denominated Holdings
CORP BOND 156.27 7.05 2.00 7.02 1.80 156.00 155.62 714
FXTN 1425.52 4.24 3.94 6.50 3.20 1339.82 1334.20 6.95
ROP GPN 5.00 573 .21 542 6.75 4.99 4.88 6.27
RTB 82.10 4.63 717 7.07 5.51 73.22 72.97 7.06
T BILL 717.05 - 0.76 5.55 0.70 687.66 682.54 6.64
Foreign Currency Denominated Holdings
FGN CORP BOND 1095.50 373 0.76 3.05 0.70 1095.97 109313 3.34
FGN GOCC 106.58 7.26 0.45 3.00 0.43 109.27 108.34 3.43
FGN SOV BOND 708.32 6.67 1.95 2.87 1.60 725.95 71912 3.24
FGN T BILL 119.70 0.00 0.30 2.37 0.28 118.86 118.85 2.38
ROP 340.40 727 4.25 243 310 357.92 351.24 2.71
TOTAL FVTPL 4756.44 412 2.28 4.57 1.87 4669.65 46 5.03

The Group’s exposures are generally sensitive to
market factors such as yield curves, foreign exchange
rates, security prices, as well as the implied volatilities
of the corresponding options instruments of these
factors. Market risk generally emanates from the Bank’s
proprietary trading portfolios. Non-traded market risk
may also arise from the distribution activities covering
traditional treasury products as well as selected
derivatives instruments.

RISK ASSESSMENT

The assessment of market risk, as it relates to capital
adequacy, follows the Standardized Approach.

The market risk metrics in use, each of which has a
corresponding limit, include the following:

¢ Nominal Position: An open risk position that is
held as of any point in time expressed in terms of
the nominal amount of the exposure

* Dollar Value of 01 (DVO1): An estimate of the
price impact due to a one-basis point change in
the yield of fixed income securities. It effectively
captures both the nominal size of the portfolio
as well as its duration. A given DVO1 limit
accommodates various combinations of portfolio
nominal size and duration, thus providing a

degree of flexibility to the trading/risk taking
function, but at the same time represents a
ceiling to the rate sensitivity of the exposure
according to the Group’s risk appetite.

Value-at-Risk (VaR): An estimate of the
maximum potential amount of loss that a given
risk exposure is unlikely to exceed during a
given time period, at a given level of statistical
confidence. Analytically, VaR is the product of: (a)
the sensitivity of the market value of the position
to movement of the relevant market risk factors
and (b) the volatility of the market risk factor
for the given time horizon at a specified level of
statistical confidence. Typically, the Group uses a
99% confidence level for this measurement. VaR
is used as a risk measure for trading positions,
which are marked-to-market (as opposed to
exposures resulting from banking or accrual book
assets and liabilities). Foreign Exchange Position
VaR uses a one-day holding period, while Fixed
Income VaR uses a defeasance period assessed
periodically as appropriate to allow an orderly
unwinding of the position. VaR models are back-
tested to ensure that results remain consistent
with the expectations based on the chosen
statistical confidence level. While the Parent
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Bank and RSB use VaR as an important tool
for measuring market risk, it is cognizant of its
limitations, notably the following:

o The use of historical data as a basis for
determining the possible range of future
outcomes may not always cover all
possible scenarios, especially those of an
exceptional nature.

o VaR is based on historical volatility. Future
volatility may be different due to either
random, one-time events or structural
changes (including changes in correlation).
VaR may be unable to capture volatility
due to either of these.

o The holding period assumption may not
be valid in all cases, such as during periods
of extremely stressed market volatility.

o VaR is, by definition, an estimate at a
specified level of confidence. Losses may
occur beyond VaR. A 99% VaR implies
that losses can exceed VaR 1% of the time.

o In cases where a parametric distribution
is assumed to calculate VaR, the assumed
distribution may not fit the actual
distribution well.

o VaR assumes a static position over the
holding period. In reality, trading positions
change, even during the trading day.

A summary of the VaR position of the trading portfolio as
of December 31, 2018 of both the Group and the Parent
Bank are found in Note 4.3 of the accompanying NFS.

RISK MONITORING AND REPORTING
Market risk MIS includes the following:

Stress Testing, which uses more severe rate/price
volatility and/or holding period assumptions, (relative
to those used for VaR) is applied to marked-to-market
positions to arrive at “worst case” loss estimates. This
supplements the VaR measure, in recognition of its
limitations already mentioned earlier.

The stress testing parameters, at any point in time, are
subject to the approval of the ROC. The Group uses the
following stress parameters for interest rate exposures
in light of the stress events in recent years particularly
the Global Financial Crisis and European Crisis, which
resulted to more volatile global and domestic markets:

e [For global interest rates, an upward and
downward 300 basis point parallel rate shock;

e Forlocalinterest rates, an upward and downward
400 basis point parallel rate shock;

For foreign exchange portfolio, stress assumptions
are mainly based on scenarios that triggered extreme
volatility in currency trading. For financial options, the
stress levels are generally based on the 2007/08 global
financial crisis.

Model Back-Testing

Recognizing that VaR modeling is not perfect, the
Group employs appropriate back-testing methodology
to perform a “reality check” on the VaR models used.
To this end, the Group performs clean and dirty back-
testing on the VaR models across all portfolios. Any
change in portfolio value in excess of the day’s VaR is
treated as an exception.

Report Description Frequency User
Limits Monitoring Report showing the following limits vs. levels: position, P&L, Daily CRO, Treasurer, Portfolio Managers
MAT-Loss, DVO1, MAT-VaR
PVaR, DVaR, and Report showing the maximum potential loss for each portfolio Daily CRO, Treasurer, Portfolio Managers
Stress VaR during business-as-usual and stress scenarios
ALCO Market Risk Report showing latest exposures vs. approved market risk limits Weekly ALCO
Report

On a monthly basis, the daily and weekly information above are reported to the ROC, along with month-on-month

movement, averages, noted exceptions and limit breaches.



Management Action Triggers (MATs)

MAT defines a limit which, if breached, should activate
a process whereby the risk-taking function is to
seek senior management guidance and approval on
appropriate action to take concerning the position
in question. MAT breaches are discussed at the next
ALCO, and in the subsequent ROC meeting.

Limit Breaches

Unlike Management Action Triggers, actual limit
breaches occur when hard limits, such as position
limits, DVOI1, or MTD loss limits are breached.

The risk-taking units are responsible for monitoring
limits and are consequently held accountable for any of
their limit breaches.

All limit breaches are reported to Senior Management,
ALCO, and subsequently to the ROC.

The plan to address the limit breach is discussed and
approved by Senior Management.

Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book

Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book (IRRBB) is the
risk of loss arising from movements in interest rates
that affect the bank’s banking book positions. IRRBB
becomes inherent in the current and prospective
interest gapping of the Group’s balance sheet. Whereas
market (or price) risk is primarily associated with trading
income, IRRBB is more concerned with balance sheet
positions that have more permanence, and therefore
responsible primarily for accrual income.

In general, IRRBB encompasses the following:

* Repricing Risk - risks related to the timing
mismatch in the maturity and re-pricing of assets
and liabilities and off-balance sheet short and
long term positions;

¢ Yield Curve Risk - risks arising from changes in
the slope and the shape of the yield curve;

¢ Basis Risk - risks arising from hedging exposure
to one interest rate with exposure to a rate which
re-prices under slightly different conditions; and

¢ Option Risk - risks arising from options, including
embedded options (e.g. consumers redeeming
fixed rate products when market rates change).

RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

RISK ASSESSMENT

The construction of an Interest Rate (IR) gap is the
starting point of an IRRBB analysis. Such IR gap is
based on certain assumptions, the key ones being:

e Loans and time deposits are subject to re-
pricing on their contractual maturity dates. Non-
performing loans, however, are not re-priced;

e Debt securities classified under FVOCI and HTC
are bucketed based on their repricing profile.
Held-for-trading securities are considered non-
rate sensitive; and

* Forassets and liabilities with no definite repricing
schedule or maturity, slotting is based on the
Group’s empirical assumptions.

The Group’s December 31, 2018 IR Gap is as presented
in Note 4.3.2 of the NFS.

NIl-at-Risk

The Group gquantifies such risk by imputing estimated
interest rate changes to the re-pricing profile of
assets and liabilities and subsequently calculating the
difference between net interest income and expense
over the next 12 months. The resulting figure is called
the Net Interest Income (NIl)-at-Risk. This approach
is commonly referred to as the “earnings” perspective
of calculating IRRBB, consisting of the simulation of
interest flow changes in a short-term horizon, typically
less than one year, bearing in mind repricing moments
in that horizon.

The following table summarizes the potential impact
Group’s annual net interest income, given the above
December 2018 IR Gap. For consistency in the
aggregation of the enterprise wide interest rate risk
exposures, the UniBank applies the same rate shocks
used in determining the stress levels in the investment
and trading portfolios:

e For global interest rates, an upward and
downward 300 basis point parallel rate shock;

e Forlocalinterest rates, an upward and downward
400 basis point parallel rate shock.

Sensitivity of Earnings Sep-18 Dec-18
Nll-at-Risk (BAU) 4.02% 7.80%
NIl-at-Risk (Stress) 410% 5.34%
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Additional scenarios may be simulated as the need
arises more so during period of heightened volatility.
Moreover, the same is updated should any of the stress
points be breached.

RISK CONTROL

Consistent with the view that reputation risk is a product
of other material risks, controlling the magnitude
of reputation risk is attained by controlling those
of the others’.

Quantitative Controls

Limits are quantitative measures based on forward-
looking assumptions that form the risk appetite
statement of the Bank. These are set to manage the
impact of IRRBB to capital (Economic Value of Equity)
and earnings (Net Interest Income-at-Risk).

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

a) The Balance Sheet Management Segment of the
Treasury Group, which is part of the first line of
defense, shall comply with all limits set, and shall
be responsible in managing the Bank’'s asset
and liability mix, repricing gaps, and net interest
margin through pricing to mitigate potential
IRRBB.

b) The Market and Liquidity Risk Management
Division, which is part of the second line of
defense, shall identify, measure, control, and
monitor IRRBB. Regular reporting and immediate
escalation and notification are important to
ensure active management of the risk.

c) The Asset and Liability Management Committee
approves the Bank’s funding initiatives and
pricing structure, and endorses to the ROC for its
approval, all limits and policies governing IRRBB.

Qualitative Controls

To ensure IRRBB metrics remain reliable and reasonable,
models and assumptions used need to undergo the
following checks:

a) Model Validation: The models to measure IRRBB
are validated (regularly or as needed) by a third-
party - either internal or external, to assess
the conceptual soundness and mathematical
calculations of the models used.

b) Back-Testing: This involves statistical methods
to determine whether a model’s risk estimate is
consistent with the assumptions on which the
estimate is based on.

c) Independent Assessment: This involves auditing
exercise across the whole risk management
process. Internal Audit, as a third line of
defense, shall perform regular and independent
assessment of the IRRBB process and practices
to ensure consistency and compliance with
established practices.

RISK MONITORING AND REPORTING

The Nll-at-Risk is regularly monitored by CRISMS, and
reported monthly to the ROC.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity Risk is the risk of loss arising from a bank’s
inability to meet its obligations when they come due
without incurring unacceptable losses. A potential or
probable loss to earnings and capital arising from the
Group’s inability to meet its obligations when they fall
due may be dueto either the Group’sinability to liquidate
assets or obtain adequate funding, or the inability to
unwind large exposures without significantly lowering
market prices. BSP Circular 981 is the Group’s principal
guide for its liquidity risk management activities.

As a general policy, the Group holds that managing
liquidity risk is among the most critical components
of bank management and operations. This is carried
out by an ongoing analysis of the liquidity position
and risk profile, and by regular examination of how
funding requirements are likely to evolve under various
scenarios, including adverse conditions. At all times,
the Group must hold enough liquidity to survive
a liquidity crisis.

The ROC has the main responsibility for establishing
a robust liquidity risk management framework
adhered to by all business units. Treasury oversees
the implementation of the relevant liquidity guidelines,
including the deployment and maintenance of liquid
assets, as well as business initiatives ensuring that they
remain consistent with the framework. The outcome
of such activities is ultimately monitored by CRISMS
using tools for liquidity risk management such as the
Maximum Cumulative Outflow (MCO) Report, Liquidity



Stress Testing (LST), the BSP prescribed Liquidity
Coverage Ratio (LCR) and Net Stable Funding Ratio
(NSFR). Policies relating to the management of liquidity
risk are approved by the ROC.

RISK ASSESSMENT

Liquidity risk is measured using the established
Maximum Cumulative Outflow (MCO) method, which in
turn is based on historical observations and simulations
of prospective liquidity risk events. The starting point
an MCO analysis is liquidity (cash flow) gapping. Both
the parent and the consolidated entity’s gap reports
are found in Note 4.2 of the accompanying NFS.

Following standard practice, the Group likewise
evaluates liquidity risk based on behavioral and
hypothetical assumptions under stress conditions.
“Stress” is normally used in relation to a short-term
crisis specific to the Group’s operations. However, a
stress condition covering a general market crisis is also
simulated for risk management purposes.

The Group stress parameters are as follows:

¢ Institution-Specific Liquidity Crisis: 50%
withdrawal in  deposits; 20% haircut in
securities; 10% loan pay-off; 50% reduction of
counterparty lines

RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

¢ General Market Liquidity Crisis: 50% withdrawal
in deposits; 50% haircut in securities; No loan
pay-off; 100% reduction of counterparty lines

In addition to the quantitative assessment of the
Group’s over-all liquidity profile, it has a well-established
Contingency Funding Plan (CFP). The plan strives to
define the liquidity stress levels from the standpoint of
both systemic and name-specific crisis including the
early warning indicators and the crisis management
process once the plan is activated.

LIQUIDITY COVERAGE RATIO (LCR)

BSP issued Circular 905 - /mplementation of the
Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR), which requires banks
to have an adequate stock of high quality liquid assets
(HQLA) that can be easily and immediately converted
into cash to absorb shocks arising from significant
stress scenario lasting 30 calendar days.

In 2018, to improve the liquidity profile of the Bank
and to manage compliance to LCR and new liquidity
risk ratio NSFR, the following actions were taken by
the Bank: (1) regular forecasting of the ratio versus
buffer levels; (2) lengthening the maturity profile of
liabilities such as via bond issuance and marketing
5-Yr time deposits and long term negotiable certificate
of deposits (LTNCD); and (3) encouraging retail
deposits and operating accounts by offering attractive
deposit pricing.
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LIQUIDITY COVERAGE RATIO DISCLOSURE TEMPLATE

(In Single Currency, Absolute Amount)

NATURE OF ITEM

STOCK OF HIGH-QUALITY LIQUID ASSETS (HQLA)
1. TOTAL STOCK OF HQLA

EXPECTED CASH OUTFLOWS

2. Deposits, of which:

3. Retail Funding

4. Wholesale funding, of which:

5. Operational deposits

6. Non-operational deposits (all counterparties)

7. Unsecured wholesale funding (all counterparties)
8. Secured funding

9. Derivatives contracts, of which:

10. Outflows related to derivative exposures (net)

1. Outflows related to collateral requirements

12. Structured financing instrument

13. Committed business facilities (all counterparties)

RCBC CONSOLIDATED GROUP

TOTAL UNWEIGHTED VALUE
(AVERAGE)

14. Other contractual obligations within a 30-day period

15. Other contingent funding obligations

16. TOTAL EXPECTED CASH OUTFLOWS
EXPECTED CASH INFLOWS

17. Secured lending

18. Fully performing exposures (all counterparties)
19. Other cash inflows

20. TOTAL EXPECTED CASH INFLOWS

21. TOTAL STOCK OF HQLA

22. TOTAL EXPECTED NET CASH OUTFLOWS
23. LIQUIDITY COVERAGE RATIO (%)

131,846,275,996

406,382,981,563
137,312,228,039
250,276,005,883
36,620,372,249
213,655,633,634
13,511,900,695
2,228,185
1,031,616,869
809,442,119
222,174,750

65,653,411,486
486,582,138,797

46,323,845
48,527,596,71
19,501,737,348

68,075,657,905
131,846,275,996
418,506,480,892

The average LCR of the RCBC Parent and Consolidated Group is 158% and 132%, respectively.

TOTAL WEIGHTED VALUE
(AVERAGE)

129,197,051,827

139,721,683,614
15190,332,497
124,531,351117
10,986,111,675
113,545,239,442
12,469,369,988
2,228,185
1,031,616,869
809,44219
222,174,750

1,969,602,345
155,194,501,000

6,948,577
37,457,752,028
19,501,737,348
56,966,437,953
129,197,051,827
98,228,063,047
132%
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LIQUIDITY COVERAGE RATIO DISCLOSURE TEMPLATE

(In Single Currency, Absolute Amount)

NATURE OF ITEM

STOCK OF HIGH-QUALITY LIQUID ASSETS (HQLA)
1. TOTAL STOCK OF HQLA

EXPECTED CASH OUTFLOWS

2. Deposits, of which:

3. Retail Funding

4. Wholesale funding, of which:

5. Operational deposits

6. Non-operational deposits (all counterparties)

7. Unsecured wholesale funding (all counterparties)
8. Secured funding

9. Derivatives contracts, of which:

10. Outflows related to derivative exposures (net)

11. Outflows related to collateral requirements

12. Structured financing instrument

13. Committed business facilities (all counterparties)

14. Other contractual obligations within a 30-day period

15. Other contingent funding obligations

16. TOTAL EXPECTED CASH OUTFLOWS
EXPECTED CASH INFLOWS

17. Secured lending

18. Fully performing exposures (all counterparties)
19. Other cash inflows

20. TOTAL EXPECTED CASH INFLOWS

21. TOTAL STOCK OF HQLA

22. TOTAL EXPECTED NET CASH OUTFLOWS
23. LIQUIDITY COVERAGE RATIO (%)

RCBC - Parent Bank

TOTAL UNWEIGHTED VALUE

(AVERAGE)

103,854,277,286

298,710,864,677
86,517,016,732
193,871,330,621
23,081,376,624
170,789,953,996
8,592,432,220
1,031,554,756
809,380,006
222,174,750

65,612,790,294
373,947,641,947

36,569,450,148
18,839,915,724
55,409,365,873
103,854,277,286
318,538,276,074

TOTAL WEIGHTED VALUE
(AVERAGE)

101,336,899,522

98,081,929,304
9,605,972,732
88,475,956,571
6,924,412,987
81,551,543,584
8,592,432,220
1,031,554,756
809,380,006
222,174,750

1,968,383,709
109,674,299,988

26,726,203,948
18,839,915,724
45,566,119,672
101,336,899,522
64,08,180,316
158%

NET STABLE FUNDING RATIO (NSFR) AND OTHER GUIDELINES

Based on Circular 1007 - Implementation of Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR), BSP required banks to submit quarterly
solo and consolidated group NSFR reports during the observation period starting July to December 2018. This
liquidity ratio, which will be implemented in 2019, aims to promote long-term resilience of the Bank against liquidity
risk by limiting overreliance on short-term wholesale funding and promoting enhanced assessment of funding risk
across all on- and off-balance sheet accounts.
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The quarter-end NSFR balances of the RCBC Parent and
Consolidated Group are as follows:

Date Solo Consolidated Regt_llatory
Requirement
Sep-18 125.00% N7.71% 100.00%
Dec-18 126.14% 17.66% 100.00%

In addition, BSP issued a draft circular on Intraday
Liquidity Reporting for all banks last October 2018
to supplement the Section V: Intraday Liquidity Risk
Management of BSP Circular 981. The objective of this
additional reporting is to facilitate sound management
of intraday liquidity risk as well as provide sufficient
understanding and allocation of resources

Operational Risk

Operational Risk is the risk of loss resulting from
inadequate or failed internal processes, people and
systems, or external events. Operational risks include
the risk of loss arising from various types of human or
technical error, settlement or payments failures, business
interruption, administrative and legal risks, and the risk
arising from systems not performing adequately.

MANAGING OPERATIONAL RISK (ORM TOOLS)

For purposes of identification, monitoring and reporting
and analysis, Group categorizes operational risk events
as follows:

1. Internal Fraud: Losses due to acts of a type
intended to defraud, misappropriate funds/
property or circumvent regulations, the law or
company policy, excluding diversity/discrimination
events, which involves at least one internal party.
Example is theft of bank property by staff.

2. External Fraud: Losses due to acts of a type
intended to defraud, misappropriate property
or circumvent the law, by a third party. Example
includes forgery of the drawer’s signature on
checks drawn on the bank.

3. Employment Practices and Workplace Safety
(EPWF): Losses arising from acts inconsistent
with employment, health or safety laws or
agreements, from payment of personal injury
claims, or from diversity/discrimination events.
This includes events arising from organized
labor activity.

4. Clients, Products and Business Practices (CPDP):
Losses arising from an unintentional or negligent

failure to meet a professional obligation to
specific clients (including fiduciary and suitability
requirements), or from the nature or design of a
product. Example is legal liability that may arise
from the sale of products to customers deemed
without proper risk disclosure.

5. Damage to Physical Assets: Losses arising from
loss or damage to physical assets from natural
disaster or other events such as those caused
by natural calamities as well as those caused
by terrorism.

6. Business Disruption and System Failures
(BDSF): Losses arising from disruption of
business or system failures such as information
systems or telecommunications failure which
disables the bank’s ability to conduct its business
with customers.

7. Execution, Delivery and Process Management
(EDPM): Losses or events caused due to failure
of transaction processing, process management
from relations with trade counter parties and
vendors/alliance partners/service providers.
Example is incomplete legal documentation of
credit exposures.

To aid in the management of operational risk and
the analysis of the Group operational risk profile, the
following tools are used:

Loss Events Reporting

Loss information is a fundamental part of the Group’s
operational risk management process, as losses are a
clear and explicit signal that a risk event has occurred.
This may be due to the failure of control, the lack
of control or simply a very unusual event that was
not foreseen.

Businesses are required to report their loss events. These
reports include losses reported to BSP, special audit
cases, and other loss incidents occurring in the business
such as penalties, etc. Potential losses and near misses
are likewise required to be reported.

Key Risk Indicator (KRI)

KRIs are used to monitor the operational risk profile
and alert the Group to impending problems in a timely
fashion. KRIs facilitate the forward looking management
of operational risk and provides information on the level
of exposure to a given operational risk at a particular



point in time. These indicators allow the monitoring
of the Group’s control culture and trigger risk
mitigating actions.

KRIs include measurable thresholds that reflect risk
appetite. These are monitored to serve as alerts when
risk levels exceed acceptable ranges and drive timely
decision making and actions.

Risk and Control Self-Assessment (RCSA)

The Group identifies and assesses all risks within each
business and evaluates the controls in place to mitigate
those risks. Business and support units use self-
assessment techniques to identify risks, evaluate the
effectiveness of controls in place, and assess whether
the risks are effectively managed within the business.

In this annual self-assessment process, areas with
high risk potential are highlighted and risk mitigating
measures toresolve them areidentified. Risk assessment
results are then reviewed and discussed with the heads
and senior officers of business and support units.
These discussions of assessment results enable the
Operational Risk Management Division (ORMD) to
detect changes to risk profiles, and consequently take
corrective actions.

The Internal Audit Group and Compliance Office use
the self-assessment results as a necessary component
in aligning their activities to business priorities to
determine where key risks lie within the Group. The
Resiliency, Information Security, and Systems Division
(RISS) utilizes the results to provide guidance where to
strengthen business continuity areas.

RISK ASSESSMENT

The Group uses the Basic Indicator Approach in its
assessment of this risk, as it relates to capital adequacy
determination. It however uses an Operational Risk
Management System (ORMS) to monitor operational
risks, compile and analyze operational risk data and to
facilitate timely reporting mechanisms for the Group’s
ROC, Senior Management, and business line levels that
support proactive management of operational risk. The
ORMS covers the parent Bank and its subsidiaries.

The following are the current methodologies used in
assessing the Group’s operational risk profile.

RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Probability and Severity Analysis

This toolis used to quantify the likelihood (or frequency)
and impact (or consequence) of identified risks in order
to prioritize risk response activities. The probability
addresses: a) the likelihood of the risk event occurring
(the uncertainty dimension) based on current status
of mitigation actions, and b) the impact detailing
the extent of what would happen if the risk were to
materialize (the effect dimension).

Probability assessment uses a 5-scale likelihood factor
matrix ranging from “least likely” to “almost certain”.
Impact Assessment on the other hand employs a
5-scale severity factor matrix ranging from “least
severe” to “very severe”.

Control Rating

Existing controls are assessed likewise using a 5-scale
control adequacy matrix ranging from “substantially
under control” to “no controls in place”.

Risk Rating

The Probability & Severity Analysis described above,
along with the control rating, result in a Risk Rating. It
is a quantitative measure of the risk level of each event,
and helps to focus on those determined to be high risk.
For each risk event identified, a risk score is calculated
and later classified as: High (Red), Medium (Yellow) and
Low (Green). The scale is as follows:

Classification LS Remarks
Score
1-4 Indicates normal operating condition
Megium 5-10 Requires mamagement attention; must
take specific actions and document such
n-o5 Requires immediate management
attention; further action required

RISK MONITORING AND REPORTING

The continuous monitoring and reporting of Operational
Risk is a key component of an effective Operational Risk
Management Framework. It is imperative therefore that
reports on operational risks are submitted on a timely
basis, and information generated both for external
and internal parties are reported internally to Senior
Management and the Board where appropriate.
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In accordance with its monitoring and reporting
functions, ORMD prepares reports on operational risks
as follows:

Particulars Responsibility Frequenc_:y | i
Reporting to
) CRISMS-

Loss Events Reporting ORMD Quarterly ROC

. . CRISMS-
Key Risk Indicators ORMD Monthly ROC
Risk and Control
Self-Assessment gg%s- Annual ROC
(RCSA)

The Deputy Operational Risk Officers (DOROs)

Each major business line has an embedded operational
risk management officer, headed by the designated
Deputy Operational Risk Officer (DORO). The DOROs
serve asapoint-personontheimplementation of various
operational risk management tools on a per business
unit level. Among others, the DOROs are responsible
for assisting the respective business units in the timely,
correct and complete submission of operational risk
reports. The DOROs report to the ORMD for all its
operational risk-related activities initiated by ORMD.

RISK MITIGATION

The Group operates within a strong control environment
focused on the protection of the its capital and earnings,
but allows the business to operate such that the risks
are taken without exposure to unacceptable potential
losses through the utilization of approved policies,
sound processes, and reliable information technology
systems. These controls include: segregation of duties,
dual controls, approvals and authorization, exception
reporting, sound technology infrastructure, product
manuals, and circulars review.

Insurance

One of the ways operational loss is mitigated is through
insurance policies maintained by the Group. Securing
insurance protects the Group against unexpected and
substantial unforeseeable losses.

ORMD handles the Group’s major insurance needs such
as the Bankers Blanket Bond (BBB). BBB insurance
premiums are allocated to business groups based on
an approved allocation method.

Outsourcing

Outsourcingisanarrangementto contractoutabusiness
function to another party (i.e. the service provider)
which undertakes to provide the services instead of
the financial institution performing the function itself.
The Group maintains an outsourcing policy to guide
business units in outsourcing agreements, and to ensure
the effective management of operational risks that
may arise from such arrangements - ORMD requires
the business units to perform a risk assessment before
engaging the service provider.

Business Continuity Plan (BCP)

The Group has a separate functional unit wholly
dedicated to the conduct and management of its
BCP and Disaster Recovery Plan. These plans aim to
establish a planned process, procedure or strategy that
can assure and provide for the continuity of major and
critical services and operations during any critical event
which may prevent or diminish the Group’s capacity to
perform normal business operations.

The Group’s BCP
CRISMS-RISS.

is currently being managed by

Product Manual, Policies, Procedures and Circulars
(PM and PPC)

The Product Manual is the key document which provides
acomprehensive description about a particular product.
It includes among others, the identification or risks and
appropriate measures on the risks identified through
controls, procedures and limits, as well as compliance
with the consumer protection standards of conduct.

Policies, Procedures and Circulars represent the
Group’s basic and primary set of principles and
essential guidelines formulated and enforced across
the organization. To ensure that risk areas are covered
in all manuals, policies and circulars, ORMD reviews and
signs-off on these documents.

Exception Reporting

Exception reporting provides the ability to monitor
transactions and events that fall outside norms and
deemed as an exception. It documents what is abnormal
and therefore deserves attention.



Risk Awareness

The Group recognizes the importance of raising risk
awareness and instilling an operational risk culture to
be able to understand the operational risk management
business benefits as well as the responsibilities attached
to it. Operational risk and consumer protection are
also in the Group’s standard training module for
new employees, as well as continuing learning for
existing associates.

Information Security Risk

Information Security Risk is the risk of loss resulting
from information security/cyber security breaches.

Information Security Risk Management aims to
reduce the disruptions to the Group’s operations
as a conseqguence of information security incidents.
Concretely, this aim expands to the following objectives:

¢ To protect the information assets that support
the Group’s operation;

¢ To provide management an accurate view
of significant current and future information
security risks and assist them to make well-
informed risk management decisions about the
extent of the risk, risk appetite and risk tolerance;

¢ To provide an end-to-end guidance on how
to manage information security risks, beyond
purely technical control measures;

e To establish a risk profile to better understand
the Group’s full exposure, and better utilize
its resources;

¢ To integrate the management of information
security risk into the overall enterprise risk
management of the Group; and

e To implement and continuous improve a sound
framework for the identification, measurement,
control, monitoring, and reporting of key risks
faced by the Group.

The foregoing objectives are achieved through
the following exercises of information security
risk management:

e |dentification of information assets including

both hardware and software that are considered
essential to the Group;
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* Assistance to business units in identifying risks in
information assets being handled; and

¢ |mplementation of risk assessment to determine
current information security risks and threats
present in the information assets, determine
acceptable risk levels, and implement preventive
measures to mitigate potential high risks.

ASSET IDENTIFICATION AND VALUATION

Asset Identification and Valuation aim to identify
and provide an inventory of all information assets
relating to business processes which may impact
business operations when confidentiality, integrity, and
availability are compromised. At the end of the exercise,
the following are produced:

¢ |nventory of all information assets pertaining to
the processes assessed;

e Qverall criticality value of each information
asset; and
* Sensitivity of process being assessed.
RISK IDENTIFICATION AND ASSESSMENT
This process aims to identify the threats and

vulnerabilities present in the business process and
assess the identified risks in order to determine
measures to mitigating them. Further, this will assist the
process owner in determining the risks to be prioritized
and monitored.

To assess risk likelihood and impact, the current threat
environment and controls are considered. At the end
of the exercise, the following are the expected outputs:

e List of potential threats with medium or high
risks, and prioritization of those that need
immediate mitigation; and

e Risk treatment plan for those threats/
vulnerabilities having medium to high risks, and
determination of the responsible personnel to
mitigate the risk.

RISK TREATMENT

The risk treatment stage aims to determine the overall
risk owner who will be responsible for managing
the risks identified, and for the strategy, activity, or
functions related to the risk.
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RISK MONITORING AND REPORTING

Upon receipt of the approved risk treatment plan, the
Information Security Governance Department (ISGD)
incorporates in the information security risk register
the verified list of risks rated “High,” while all other
identified risks will be monitored by the respective
risk owner.

The overall risk owner for the process assessed is
in-charge of monitoring all necessary action plans
to mitigate high risk items. Also, the risk owner is
responsible for providing ISGD with updates on the
status of action items, planning and implementing
mitigation strategies. ISGD is responsible for tracking,
monitoring, and providing the Risk Oversight
Committee a regular report on the status of all high risk
items registered in the risk register.

Compliance Risk/Regulatory Risk/ML/TF Risk

The Group differentiates compliance risk as the risk
of loss resulting from failure to comply with laws,
regulations, rules, related self-regulatory organization
standards, and codes of conduct applicable to its
banking activities from regulatory risk which refers to
risk of loss arising from probable mid-stream changes
in the regulatory regime affecting current position and/
or strategy. ML/TF Risk represents the Group’s risk
to being a conduit to money laundering and terrorist
financing activities.

The Compliance Risk Management Framework is the
tool used by the Regulatory Affairs Group (Compliance
Office) to manage compliance risk. This framework
operates within the context of the Bank’s Enterprise
Risk Management Framework. The Compliance Risk
Management Framework is embodied in the Group’s
Compliance Policy Manual (CPM).

COMPLIANCE RISK ASSESSMENT

Risks, including their impact to the Group are evolving;
thus, the risk identification and assessment process
is performed on a continuing basis. Risks currently
identified as material to the Group may be treated
differently in succeeding assessments. Any significant
change in either the actual risk profile, or the perception
of threats, must therefore trigger corresponding action
in terms of the management of such threats. The
Compliance Office continuously identifies and assesses
potential and existing compliance risks to ensure that
these are immediately addressed. The Group assesses
compliance risk based on impact and likelihood.

COMPLIANCE RISK MONITORING AND REPORTING

The Compliance Office mainly reports to the Audit and
Compliance Committee (ACC). Compliance risk is also
regularly reported to the Risk Oversight Committee
(ROC) via Key Risk Indicators (KRI) monitoring under
Operational Risk by CRISMS.

Compliance Risk is monitored in a number of ways.
These include the following:

¢  Compliance Certification from Deputy
Compliance Officers (DCO) - This is a
quarterly Certification signed by the designated
DCOs indicating a unit’'s compliance (or non-
compliance) to regulations.

is also monitored via the
corrective  actions  relating

e Compliance risk
progress  of
to ROE findings.

* Regulatory ratios are also monitored at least on a
quarterly basis to ensure compliance.

¢ Submission of regulatory also

monitored to avoid penalties.

reports is

MONEY LAUNDERING / TERRORIST FINANCING
RISK MANAGEMENT

In the implementation of the ML/TF Risk Management
Framework, RCBC adheres to the highest standards
of corporate governance and ML/TF prevention
as embodied in the laws and regulations with due
consideration of other industry leading practices. The
Bank’'s ML/TF risk management is a holistic, continuous,
proactive and systematic process to identify, assess,
manage, monitor and report ML/TF risks from a Bank-
wide perspective.

The process covers all levels of the Bank - Board of
Directors, Senior Management and all personnel.
AML/CFT risk management involves assessing the
risk attributed to money laundering and financing
of terrorism and then implementing an appropriate
response to mitigate the risk. RCBC's AML/CFT
risk management structure, well-defined roles and
responsibilities and transparent escalation process
support the commitment to implement an effective
AML/CFT risk management.

Money Laundering and Terrorist Financing
Prevention Program (MTPP)

The Group’s MTPP’s main purpose is to comply with
any of the provisions of the Philippines’ Anti-Money
Laundering Act (AMLA), as amended, the Terrorism



Financing Prevention and Suppression Act (TFPSA),
their Implementing Rules and Regulations (IRR), and
all Anti-Money Laundering council (AMLC) and Bangko
Sentral issuances.

It is strategically aligned with the results of the National
Risk Assessment (NRA) on Money Laundering (ML) and
Terrorist Financing (TF) of the Philippines, a government-
wide assessment of the overall exposure of the country
to money laundering and its related predicate offenses,
terrorism and terrorist financing. The Group’s MTPP
manual provides a general guide to all employees of the
Bank in order to help them better understand and meet
their obligations under the aforementioned laws and
regulations as well as to support the overall AML/CFT
Risk Management and Compliance program of the Bank.

The MTPP manual is maintained by the Compliance
Office. It is updated at least once every two (2) years
or as needed to properly adhere to new rules and
regulations of regulatory agencies, laws of the Republic
of the Philippines and other countries, and policies and
procedures of the Bank, and presented to the Board of
Directors for approval.

The Board and Management have heavily invested
in the purchase of and/or subscription to systems
or applications that can help mitigate the Group’s
ML/TF risks.

As a matter of policy, the Group has created a more
robust sanctioning system by providing more detailed
and specific guidelines in handling employee violations
of AML/CTF policies. The Group’s AML Sanction Policy
addresses both the preventive and penal nature of the
sanctioning system, promotes a culture of compliance,
and duly recognizes employees that continuously exhibit
a high level of compliance with existing AML-related
laws and policies.

The Compliance Officealso conducts special investigation
of news reports on the commission of unlawful activities
of certain clients, individuals and/or entities, which could
pose as a potential money laundering risk to the Group.

In order to minimize compliance risk and eliminate
deviation from regulatory requirements, the Compliance
Office conducts classroom training and has created an
e-learning module for the employees of the Group. The
AML Training Programs are designed specifically for
the different bank employees depending on their areas
of responsibility and exposure to risk. These training
programs are consistent and in accordance with the
pertinent provisions of the BSP Manual of Regulations
for Banks and related BSP and SEC circulars, as well as,
the Anti-Money Laundering Act of the Philippines.
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The Compliance Office regularly reports to the
AML Management Committee, Senior Management
Committee, AML Board Committee, Audit & Compliance
Committee and the Board of Directors to ensure that
monitoring of AML activities is regularly disclosed
allowing management to perform its oversight function
on AML and TF matters.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

On Corporate Governance, compliance risk is monitored
via reports submitted to the BSP, and through the
implementation of a corporate governance framework
that adheres to the principles set out in BSP Circular
No. 969 or the Enhanced Corporate Governance
Guidelines for BSP Supervised Financial Institutions
and SEC Memorandum No. 19 or the Code of Corporate
Governance for Publicly-Listed Companies.

reporting on the Group’s
and material related

These reports include
conglomerate  structure
party transactions.

The Audit and Compliance Committee has oversight
over the internal audit and compliance functions. The
Risk Oversight Committee oversees the Group’s risk
governance framework. The Corporate Governance
Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its corporate
governance responsibilities. The Related Party
Transactions Committee evaluates all material related
party transactions of the bank to ensure that these
are undertaken on arm’s length terms. Finally, the
AML Committee carries out the mandate of the Board
to fully comply with the Anti-Money Laundering Act,
as amended, its Revised Implementing Rules and
Regulations and the Anti-Money Laundering Regulations
under the Manual of Regulations for Banks ("“MORB”).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In accordance with the requirements of BSP Circular
No. 895, the Group has further enhanced its Policy on
Related Party Transactions which include, among others:

e Definition of related parties;
e Materiality threshold for RPTs;
e Definition of control;

e Further monitoring, identification and reporting
of RPTs;

e Additional provisions on approvals for RPTs,
including voting and abstention;

e Provision on when requirement of a fairness
opinion issued by an independent adviser
is warranted;
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e Creation of a Related Party Transactions
Management Committee to review related party
transactions below materiality threshold;

¢ Composition of the RPT Committee;

* Provision on Individual and Aggregate Exposures
to Related Parties; and

¢ Provision on periodic formal review of the Group's
system and internal controls governing RPTs.

Reports pertinent to election/appointment of directors
and officers are also monitored to avoid penalties.

OTHERS

ASEAN Corporate Governance Scorecard (ACGS) and
the Integrated Annual Corporate Governance Reports
(I-ACGR)

In September 2012, the ASEAN CG Scorecard was
adopted by the Philippines, replacing the national CG
Scorecard for Publicly Listed Companies (PLCs).

On 15 December 2017, SEC issued Memorandum Circular
No. 15, Series of 2017, requiring all listed companies to
submit an Integrated Annual Corporate Governance
Report (I-F-ACGR). The I-ACGR would take the place
of the old Annual Corporate Governance Report. The
[I-ACGR would also be used in place of the PSE Corporate
Governance Guidelines Disclosure Survey.

Responses to notices and correspondence from PDEX
are also monitored to ensure compliance. Issues that
arise are taken up with the concerned unit/department
of the Treasury Group to ensure that adequate
steps, corrective or otherwise, are promptly taken to
ensure compliance.

Outsourced and Insourced Banking Activities

The Compliance Office maintains a bank-wide master
list to effectively monitor and oversee compliance with
all applicable rules and regulations and that no inherent
banking function is outsourced.

Exchange of Information

FATCA

The Group has taken great strides to become globally
compliant with the Foreign Account Tax Compliance
Act (FATCA) and remains steadfast in this direction.
The Exchange of Information Division has and continues
to render various opinions, answers and give frequent
assistance to various units regarding client concerns
and FATCA implementation. To ease FATCA compliance

for clients, the Group rolled out a new self-certification
form for non-U.S. entity clients. This form replaced
the US. IRS Form (W-8BEN-E) to give its clients a
more comprehensible form that covers all mandatory
information required under FATCA. The FATCA status
tags are likewise updated to comply with the reporting
requirements of the IGA.

The bank’s Exchange of Information Division Head is
also its FATCA Responsible Officer.

COMMON REPORTING STANDARD

The Common Reporting Standard (CRS) was first
introduced by the Organization for Economic
Cooperation and Development (OECD) in February
2014. At present, a number of correspondent banks from
outside of the Philippines but within CRS-participating
jurisdictions are already complying with the mandate
of the CRS, including but not limited to requiring their
correspondent banks in the Philippines to submit CRS
certification forms and to answer CRS-related queries in
relation with compliance. The Group’s FCOMD has taken
over the task of answering these queries and reviewing
CRS certifications.

DATA PRIVACY

Republic Act No. 10173 or The Data Privacy Act of
2012 (DPA) was approved into law on August 15, 2012.
Subsequently, the DPA’s Implementing Rules and
Regulations (IRR) were promulgated on August. 24, 2016,
and took effect fifteen (15) days after its publication.
Entities covered by the DPA and its IRR have one (1)
year to comply with their provisions from the date of
effectivity of the IRR.

The Group has completed its registration with the
National Privacy Commission (NPC) in 2017. It created
the Data Privacy Project Team led by the Exchange
of Information Division Head, who was subsequently
appointed as the Group’s Data Protection Officer (DPO).

The Compliance Office and the UniBank’s Legal Affairs
Group have been coordinating closely with Business
Units in conducting a bankwide review of all Service
Agreements ensuring that Data Sharing Agreements
are in place for all contracts with third party service
providers.

The Exchange of Information Division is conducting
a bank-wide Privacy Impact Assessment (PIA) that
determines the DPA’'s impact to its operations,
possible threats, vulnerabilities and risks that can help
it strengthen its already strong data privacy policies.



The PIA is the basis of the UniBank’s future initiatives in
aligning its already existing data privacy-related policies
to what is required by the DPA and the international
standards set by the European Union in its existing
directives. To further educate the UniBank’s employees,
the Data Privacy E-Learning Module was rolled in May
2018. New employees are also trained on data privacy
upon onboarding and branch induction programs.

The UniBank completed its Phase Il of its registration
with the NPC in March 2018.

The Exchange of Information Division was renamed
as Regulatory Affairs Division Il as it now handles all
compliance-related matters for Digital Banking, IT, Risk
Management, Global Transactions Banking, Corporate
Planning, Cash Management, and Marketing as it
simultaneously handles Compliance Office’s compliance
functions related with FATCA, CRS and Data Privacy.

Consumer Protection

The Bank’s Consumer Protection Program follows the
set standards which are reflected in its core principles.
These are embedded in the corporate culture to further
enhance the governance framework and protect the
best interest of the customers. The bank believes that
all consumers shall be protected and each one of them
shall be given an avenue to air out their concerns and
issues in the products and services of the bank.

The complaint reports coming from different channels
are analyzed to identify if there are systemic, recurring
problems, and weaknesses in the Bank's control
procedures or processes. The consolidated report is
presented to the Risk Oversight Committee to ensure
that bank practices remain effective in addressing the
concerns and rights of our consumers.

In 2018, the bank received a total of 29,480 complaints,
a 19.5% increase versus previous year, while transaction
volume increased by 23.3%. As a percentage of
transaction volume, complaints accounted for 0.031%
of transactions, declining slightly from 0.032% versus
previous year.

Total Complaints

2018 2017
Complaints 29,480 24,663
Transactions 94.2 million 76.4 million
Complaints to Transactions Ratio 0.031% 0.032%

RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

ATM and Online Banking complaints accounted for
95% of total complaints. As a percentage of transaction
volume, ATM and Online Banking complaints accounted
for 0.038% and 0.014% of transactions, respectively.
Among the ATM complaints, 14,600 were undispensed
cash concerns; however, 7565 or 52% of these were
issues from withdrawal transactions via ATM terminals
of other banks. Other issues included terminal
hardware problems and the normal wear and tear of
ATM terminals, which were addressed through regular
preventive maintenance.

ATM and Online Banking Complaints

am | i
Complaints 23,569 4,526
Transactions 61.8 million 32.4 million
Complaints to Transactions Ratio 0.038% 0.014%

Reputation Risk

Reputation Risk is the risk of loss arising from negative
public opinion. Moreover, the Group subscribes to the
view that reputation risk is a consequence of other risks.
lts management therefore is tied closely to the manner
by which the Group manages its other risks. By ensuring
effective identification, assessment, control, monitoring,
and reporting of the other material risks, reputation risk
is implicitly managed.

RISK ASSESSMENT

The management of reputation risk in the Group is
framed by its Balanced Scorecard. While growth is
projected to emanate from the drivers in the scorecard,
the Group recognizes that potential failure in the same
ushers in a potential damage to reputation. Without the
public needing to know exactly what the Group plans
to achieve, reputation is impaired when, for example,
profitability dips, a re-branding scheme backfires,
incidence of fraud becomes significant and public, or
when employee attrition is high.

Financial Performance

Other than doing a self-assessment (via quarterly
business reviews) of where the Group is vis-a-vis financial
targets, what to expect in the coming months, and what
can go wrong, the Group relies on assessments rendered
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by external rating agencies and by its regulators.
The potential deterioration of these assessments,
independent of sovereign rating, constitutes a major
reputation event.

Customer

The Group recognizes that campaigns aimed at
deepening customer relations and building brand equity
can potentially backfire due to bad execution; and the
more visible and embedded the Group becomes, the
bigger the potential loss.

Other than the business quarterly review, another tool
used by the Group in identifying customer reputation
risk is a feedback process employed for all products and
services before they are launched, during soft launches,
and throughout the life of a product or service.

Internal Processes

While the Group aims to strengthen its internal processes,
it also recognizes that failure of these processes is a
likely scenario. The Group turns to its own operational
risk identification tools to carry out the identification of
possible risk areas in relation to processes.

People

Failure on the “people” component of the scorecard may
lead to publicly visible manifestations such as strikes,
an exodus of talent and even customers, and the
inability to attract good talent to work for the Group.
Benchmarking of recruitment, compensation, benefits,
and even organizational development practice is a tool
used by the Group in identifying gaps in its people
management process.

RISK CONTROL

Consistent with the view that reputation risk is a product
of other material risks, controlling the magnitude
of reputation risk is attained by controlling those of
the others’.

RISK MONITORING AND REPORTING

The Parent Bank’s Marketing Committee (MarComm)
consolidates the reputation risk management efforts of
the Group. The Chief Marketing Officer of RCBC is the
designhated Chair of the Committee.

The MarComm has the following objectives in relation to
Reputational Risk:

* To serve as venue for surfacing and managing
issues that affect, or tend to affect the public’s
perception principally of the RCBC Group, and by
extension, the members of the Yuchengco Group
of Companies (YGC)

e To design, recommend and, once approved,
implement public relation strategies and/or
marketing campaigns that are designed to
enhance the Group’s positive public image,
avert any potential negative perception arising
from looming reputation issues, and contain or
minimize any incurred or continuing damage
to the Group’s image arising from subsisting
negative public information

RISK MITIGATION

On the public relations front, the Group’s Public
and Media Relations Division sets an annual target
of free media/publicity via the release of positively
slanted stories.

Capital Management Framework

The Capital Management Framework of the Group
incorporates the planning process, the Capital Plan, and
the continuing review and reporting of results.

STRATEGIC AND BUSINESS PLANNING

The Group’s Strategic and Business Planning process
may be summarized by the following illustration:

BUSINESS
VISION- SWOT ANALYSIS  PLANNING

MISSION

FORECAST

STRATEGIC
ISSUES

STRATEGIC
PLANS

BUDGEl'
Strategic
Direction

Macroeconomic View
Market / Opportunities Scan
Risk Identification Process

ANNUAL BUDGET
+ 3 - 5 year Medium Term Forecast

Risk Appetite Determination
Risk Assessment
Controls and Mitigants
Risk tolerance and limits
Required proVIslonlng

Credit and approval process/
policies

FIG. 16: STRATEGIC AND BUSINESS PLANNING PROCESS



This component highlights the use of medium to long-
term forecasts and stress scenarios in the management
of capital. The results of the forecasts are always reviewed
against the internal minimum capital ratios, inclusive of
Pillar 2 charges, and the regulatory minimum.

RISK-ADJUSTED PROFITABILITY MEASUREMENT
(RAPM)

The Risk-Adjusted Profitability Measurement (RAPM)
framework allows for the active monitoring and
management of risk exposures and allocation of
economic capital proportionate to the amount of risk
each business unit takes. The end-product is a dashboard
for RAPM that results to a measure of Risk-adjusted
Return on Capital (RAROC) that may then be used both
for performance measurement and capital and strategic
planning. Capital allocation as a result of RAROC
is also a goal.

The RAPM dashboard is the Group’s way of firmly linking
risk and capital. The RAPM allows Senior Management
to assess the contribution of each business - after
considering the related risks - and its return on the
capital used. It also allows for capital planning at the
business segment and/or subsidiary level, allocating
capital based on the identified risks and strategic intent.
A view of performance, tempered with the risks and
capital requirements, clarifies the components of the risk
appetite for each strategy.

The RAPM Framework is illustrated as follows.

Interest Income / FTP Credit

Individual products are
assigned a cost of funds to

Fund Transfer Pricing
lock in the products spread

Cost of Funds / FTP Charge

Net Interest Margin

Non Interest Income

Profit on deals sold by
multiple business units can
be recognized

Revenue Sharing

E 4 e Costs are assigned to activities
SO CGULIEED which are clear and relevant Cost Allocation

activities for management

Provision for Expected Loss (EL)

Capital Charge

Expected credit loss is calculated
and allocated to products /
organizations and customers

EL Allocation

Risk-measurement techniques
are used to assign risk-based

Risk Capital Allocation
capital to products / businesses

RAROC is computed as risk-adjusted net income over the
allocated economic capita. Risk-adjusted net income is the
financial income of business units after adjustments for FTP,
revenue sharing, cost allocation and EL allocation

FIG. 18: PROFITABILITY MEASUREMENT FRAMEWORK
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A well-designed RAPM Framework shows integrated
risk and finance views of the Group’s business units
and provides for a sound and balanced understanding
of business units’ performance. It also helps Management
in strategic planning activities. As an integrated risk-
finance measure, RAPM drives business units to
optimize risk/return profile and shareholder value. It
encourages risk-based pricing which takes into account
expected losses.

RAPM serves as a tool in improving and enhancing the
process of linking risk with the strategy and performance
of the Bank’s business units, and RAROC is a strategic
management tool used to measure how the business
groups use capital. The current RAPM Framework and
the resulting RAROC numbers will be used to have a
better assessment of the bank-wide strategies, capital
allocation and utilization, and business unit performance.

Moving forward, RAPM will serve as a management
tool for decision-making especially in terms of capital
allocation and strategizing. RAPM will also be adopted as
one of the KPIs of the Parent bank and the Subsidiaries.
The use of RAPM will continue to run in parallel to the
existing capital allocation and performance measure
frameworks in order for the process and resulting values
to attain a certain level of stability and acceptability.
Considering that the process is performed manually,
producing results only after a significant amount of time,
RAPM may not yet be applied as the primary tool for
making decisions and measuring performance, hence
results shall only supplement existing frameworks for
now. For the near future, the Bank will be focusing on
the refinement of the RAPM framework.

IMPLEMENTATION OF BASEL STANDARDS

Capital Adequacy

The Group manages its capital in line with the over-all
growth strategy and regulatory requirements, balanced
with optimizing value for the stockholder and the Group
as a whole. Regulatory developments, primarily the
implementation of Basel Il components in 2015 were a
main consideration for the Group to actively strengthen
its capital base.

The Group began its capital build up as early as 2006 to
make room for organic growth and/or acquisition plans.
By 2009, the Group raised a total of Php22.6 billion of
capital (including Basel Il eligible capital).
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The implementation of Basel Il however required
additional common equity tier 1 capital and beginning
2010, the Group managed a series of capital raising
activities to prepare for this and to further support long
term growth plans. In May 2010, the Board approved the
amendment of the articles of incorporation to increase
the authorized capital from 11 billion common shares to
1.4 billion to allow room and flexibility in raising capital.

In March 201, the International Finance Corp (IFC)
invested Php2.13 billion for 73 million shares resulting to
6.4% ownership share, by the end of 2011. In May of the
same year, the Group raised Php3.67 billion in common
equity, through the investment of Hexagon Investment
Holdings Limited (“HIHL") for a 15% ownership and two
board seats.

In 2013, the Group raised a total of Php8.2 billion in
common equity capital from two different capital
raising activities. In March 2013, a total of Php4.1 billion
raised coming from various investors through a top-up
placement and in April 2013, IFC investment another of
Php4.1 billion for an additional 5.6% ownership share in
the Group.

The Group again raised capital in 2014. In June, the Group
issued Php7 billion of 5.375% Unsecured Subordinated
Notes due 2024 which qualify as Tier 2 Capital pursuant
to BSP circular 781 (Series of 2013) and are Basel llI-
compliant. On September of the same year, the Group
issued another PhP3.0 billion Tier 2 Capital Notes as
part of the BSP approval on May 9, 2014 authorizing the
issuance of up to PhP10.0 billion of Tier 2 Notes.

On December 17, 2014, the Group and Cathay Life
Insurance Co., Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary of Cathay
Financial Holding Co., Ltd. signed definitive agreements
to acquire approximately 20% stake in RCBC on a pro-
forma, post-transaction basis comprising 124,242,272

newly-subscribed shares and 155,757,728 existing shares.
This transaction effectively cancelled the planned Stock
Rights Offering which was earlier approved by the PSE
on September 24, 2014.

The strategic investment in April 2015 by Cathay Life,
Php7.95 billion of new Core Equity Tier 1 ("CET 1) capital
for the Group, is part of RCBC'’s capital raising strategy
in order to comply with the more stringent capital
adequacy rules under the new Basel Il framework and
is expected to enable RCBC to be comfortably above
the minimum CET1 requirements of the BSP. In addition,
the proceeds from the investment is expected to
continue to support the continued growth of RCBC's
loan book and increased expansion into the SME and
Consumer segments to improve margins and risk
diversification/actuarialization. The transaction is also
in-line with Cathay’s strategy to expand its business in
ASEAN region.

On July 24, 2015 the Group redeemed its USD 100 million
9.875% Non-Cumulative Step-up Perpetual Securities
(“the Hybrid Tier 1 Notes”) as approved by the Board
of Directors and by the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas
last March 30, 2015 and May 27, 2015, respectively. The
Hybrid Tier 1 Notes were redeemed for a total price of
USD 113.93 million. Hybrid Tier 1 Notes were redeemed
earlier than expected as they were classified as not
eligible for Basel lll requirement.

Rizal Commercial Banking Corporation and Cathay Life
Insurance Corp, a wholly owned subsidiary of Cathay
Financial Holding Co., Ltd. closed the equity investment
deal for a 20% stake in RCBC on April 20, 2015. The key
terms of the transaction involved the subscription of
primary shares (124,242,272) and the purchase of shares
from CVC (119,033,590 shares) and IFC (36,724,138
shares) all at Php64.00 per share.



The foregoing capital raising activities are summarized below:
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2009 2011 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
P4.0bio P5.8bio Tier P4.1bio P10.0bio P7.95 bio P15.0 bio
Unsecured 1 Common Common Unsecured Equity Common
Subordinated | Stock—P2.1bio | Stock from Subordinated | Investment Stock from
Debt from IFC and a "top-up Debt Stock Rights
Qualifying as P3.7bio from offering” Qualifying as Offering
Tier Il Capital CVC Capital and P4.1bio Tier Il Capital
Partners Common
Stock from
R ) additional
Capital raised investment
of IFC
P5.1bio freed-
up capital
from sale of
RCBC Realty/
Land &
Bankard
Stockholder’s
Equity (P) 30.5bio 37.846bio 44.8bio 52.6bio 58.bio 621 bio 67.0 bio 81.4 bio
CAR (%) 18.5% 18.5% 16.5% 15.37% 15.72% 16.16% 15.46% 16.13%
Tier 1 Ratio (%) 12.6% 13.7% 16.0% 1.83% 12.55% 12.89% 12.45% 13.38%
Net Income (P) 3.3bio 5.03bio 5.3bio 4.4bio 51bio 3.8 bio 4.3 bio 4.3 bio

In January 2018, the Board approved the amendment
of the articles of incorporation to further increase the
authorized capital from 1.4 billion common shares to
2.6 billion, ahead of the Bank’s stock rights offering
(SRO) that was successfully completed in July 2018. The
additional capital from the SRO amounted to Phpl15.0
billion which is aimed to strengthen the Bank’s capital
ratios and fund its business expansion.

In March 2018, the Bank recognized a one-time capital
charge amounting to Php66.3 million representing the
transition adjustments as of January 1, 2018 to cover
provisioning requirements of Expected Credit Losses
under BSP Circular 855 and PFRS 9. This adjustment
includes the appropriation of retained earnings
amounting to Phpl.7 billion representing the additional
general allowance set by the BSP to meet the minimum
1% floor on top of the actual ECL.

Recovery Planning Process

Recovery planning has been designed to be integrated
with the Bank’s existing risk and capital management
processes and functions. The Recovery Planning
Framework emphasizes that the Framework should allow
for proper development, approval and implementation
of the planning process in the Bank’s ongoing business

(normal times), and on the other hand, for a timely
decision on and implementation of recovery options
during a crisis situation.

The Bank has established a robust Recovery Planning
Governance Framework to ensure that all aspects of
recovery planning—including the development, review
and approval, and maintenance of the Plan—receive
appropriate attention by both Senior Management and
the Board. The Recovery Planning Framework leverages
established roles and responsibilities and committee
charters, directs the personnel that the Bank dedicates
to recovery planning, and incorporates enhancements
specifically designed to address recovery planning. As a
result, the recovery plan development, review, approval
and maintenance activities are fully integrated into the
Bank’s existing corporate governance structure.

Risk and Capital Disclosures

The following are the pertinent risk and capital
disclosures for RCBC and its subsidiaries. The figures
for the Group and the Parent are calculated based on
accounting methodologies prescribed by the BSP for
prudential reporting, and therefore may not necessarily
tally with the figures stated in the Group’s Audited
Financial Statements.
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The capital adequacy ratio of the Group and the Parent as reported to the BSP as of December 31, 2018 and 2017
under Basel 3 framework are shown in the table below.

GROUP PARENT
2018 2017 2018 2017
CET 1 Capital 67,539 54,326 53,512 40,873
Tier 1 Capital 67,542 54,329 53,515 40,876
Tier 2 Capital 13,871 13,115 13173 12,457
Total Qualifying Capital 81,412 67,444 66,688 53,332
Credit Risk Weighted Assets 455,812 387,518 368,938 312,090
Market Risk Weighted Assets 8,310 10,376 8,346 10,369
Operational Risk Weighted Assets 40,534 38,375 26,852 25,473
Risk Weighted Assets 504,657 436,269 404,136 347,932
Total Capital Adequacy Ratio 16.13% 15.46% 16.50% 15.33%
Tier 1 Capital Adequacy Ratio 13.38% 12.45% 13.24% 1.75%
Common Equity Tier 1 Ratio 13.38% 12.45% 13.24% 11.75%
Capital Conservation Buffer 7.38% 6.45% 7.24% 5.75%
Capital Conservation Buffer after DSIB 6.38% 5.95% 6.24% 5.25%

The regulatory qualifying capital of the Group and the Parent consists of Tier 1 (Common Equity Tier 1 plus
Additional Tier 1) Capital less regulatory deductions. The components of qualifying capital as of December 31,
2018 and 2017 are as follows:

GROUP PARENT
2018 2017 2018 2017
Tier 1 (Common Equity Tier 1 plus Additional Tier 1) Capital
Paid up common stock 19,356 13,999 19,356 13,999
Additional paid in capital 32,061 22,636 32,061 22,636
Retained Earnings 27,203 24,010 27,203 24,010
Undivided profits 4,372 4,303 4,372 4,303
Other Comprehensive Income
Net unrealized gains or losses on AFS securities 1,436 1,813 1,436 1,813
Cumulative foreign currency translation 54 85 54 86
Remeasurement of Net Defined Benefit Liability/(Asset) (1,248) 42 (1,248) 42
Minority interest in subsidiary financial allied undertaking which
are less than wholly owned 25 33

Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) Capital 83,260 66,921 83,234 66,889
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GROUP PARENT
2018 2017 2018 2017
Less: Regulatory Adjustments to CET1 Capital
Retained Earnings - Appropriated for General Loan Loss Reserves 2,599 2,108
Total outstanding unsecured credit accommodations, both direct and
indirect, to directors, officers, stockholders and their related interests
(DOSRD) 1 1,001
Total outstanding unsecured loans, other credit accommodations and
guarantees granted to subsidiaries and affiliates 196 196
Deferred tax assets 2,233 2,053 965 1,046
Goodwill 269 158
Other Intangible Assets 1,943 2,034 1,786 1,874
Defined benefit pension fund assets (liabilities) 107 107
Investments in equity of unconsolidated subsidiary banks and quasi-banks,
and other financial allied undertakings (excluding subsidiary securities
dealers brokers and insurance companies), after deducting related
goodwill, if any 19,338 18,049
Other equity investments in non-financial allied undertakings and non-allied
undertakings 8,466 8,237 4,315 4,935
Reciprocal investments in common stock of other banks/quasi- banks and
financial allied undertakings including securities dealers/brokers and
insurance companies, after deducting related goodwill, if any (for both
solo and consolidated bases) 15 5 15 5
Total Regulatory Adjustments to CET1 Capital 15,721 12,594 29,722 26,016
Total Common Equity Tier 1 Capital 67,539 54,326 53,512 40,873
Additional Tier 1 (AT1) Capital
Instruments issued by the bank that are eligible as AT1 Capital 3 3 3 3
Less: Regulatory Adjustments to AT1 Capital
Total Additional Tier 1 (AT1) Capital 3 3 3 3
Total Tier 1 (Common Equity Tier 1 plus Additional Tier 1) Capital 67,542 54,329 53,515 40,876
Tier 2 Capital
Instruments issued by the bank that are eligible as Tier 2 capital 9,986 9,968 9,986 9,968
General loan loss provision 3,885 3146 3187 2,488
Total Tier 2 capital 13,871 13,115 13,173 12,457
Less: Regulatory Adjustments to Tier 2 Capital
Total Tier 2 Capital 13,871 13,115 13,173 12,457
Total Qualifying Capital 81,412 67,444 66,688 53,332
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Full Reconciliation of all Regulatory Capital Elements and Regulatory Adjustments/Deductions

(In Millions)
GROUP
2018 2017
BASEL Il BASEL Il
FRP Equity Accounts FRP CET1 Addi- Tier 2 Total FRP CET1 Addi- Tier 2 Total
Capital tional Capital  Basel lll Capital tional Capital  Basel lll
Tier 1 Capital Tier 1 Capital
Paid in Capital Stock 19,359 19,356 3 19,359 14,002 13,999 3 14,002
Common Stock 19,356 19,356 19,356 13,999 13,999 13,999
Perpetual and Non-Cumulative
Preferred Stock 3 3 3 3 3 3
Additional Paid-in Capital 32,061 32,061 32,061 22,636 22,636 22,636
Retained Earnings 27,203 27,203 27,203 24,010 24,010 24,010
Undivided Profits 4,372 4,372 4,372 4,303 4,303 4,303
Other Comprehensive Income 242 242 242 1,940 1,940 1,940
Minority Interest in Subsidiaries (for
consolidated report only) 25 25 25 33 33 33
Total Equity Accounts 83,262 83,260 3 83,262 66,923 66,921 3 66,923
Other Accounts Eligible as Regulatory Capital
Unsecured Subordinated Debt 9,986 9,986 9,968 9,968
General Loan Loss Reserves 3,885 3,885 3146 3146
Regulatory Adjustments/Deductions to
CET1 Capital
Retained Earnings - Appropriated for
General Loan Loss Reserves (2,599) (2,599)
Total outstanding unsecured credit
accommodations, both direct
and indirect, to directors, officers,
stockholders and their related interests
(DOSRD) m M ) )
Total outstanding unsecured loans, other
credit accommodations and guarantees
granted to subsidiaries and affiliates (196) (196)
Deferred tax assets (2,233) (2,233) (2,053) (2,053)
Goodwill (269) (269) (158) (158)
Other Intangible Assets (1,943) (1,943) (2,034) (2,034)
Defined benefit pension fund assets
(liabilities) Qo7 Q07)
Other equity investments in non-financial
allied undertakings and non-allied
undertakings (8,466) (8,466) (8,237) (8,237)
Reciprocal investments in common stock of
other banks/quasi-banks and financial
allied undertakings including securities
dealers/brokers and insurance
companies, after deducting related
goodwill, if any (for both solo and
consolidated bases) 5) a5) ) )
Total Regulatory Capital 83,262 67,539 3 13,871 81,412 66,923 54,326 3 13,115 67,444
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Full Reconciliation of all Regulatory Capital Elements and Regulatory Adjustments/Deductions

(In Millions)
PARENT
2018 2017
BASEL Il BASEL Il
FRP Equity Accounts FRP CET1 Addi- Tier 2 Total FRP CET1 Addi- Tier 2 Total
Capital tional Capital  Basel lll Capital tional Capital  Basel lll
Tier 1 Capital Tier 1 Capital
Paid in Capital Stock 19,359 19,356 3 19,359 14,002 13,999 3 14,002
Common Stock 19,356 19,356 19,356 13,999 13,999 13,999
Perpetual and Non-Cumulative 3 3 3 3 3 3
Preferred Stock
Additional Paid-in Capital 32,061 32,061 32,061 22,636 22,636 22,636
Retained Earnings 27,203 27,203 27,203 24,010 24,010 24,010
Undivided Profits 4,372 4,372 4,372 4,303 4,303 4,303
Other Comprehensive Income 242 242 242 1,941 1,941 1,941
Minority Interest in Subsidiaries (for
consolidated report only)
Total Equity Accounts 83,237 83,234 3 83,237 66,892 66,889 3 66,892
Other Accounts Eligible as Regulatory Capital
Unsecured Subordinated Debt 9,986 9,986 9,968 9,968
General Loan Loss Reserves 3187 3,187 2,488 2,488
Regulatory Adjustments/Deductions to
CET1 Capital
Retained Earnings - Appropriated for
General Loan Loss Reserves (2,08) (2,08)
Total outstanding unsecured credit
accommodations, both direct
and indirect, to directors, officers,
stockholders and their related interests
(DOSRI) (1,001 (1,000 [(®)] )
Total outstanding unsecured loans, other
credit accommodations and guarantees
granted to subsidiaries and affiliates 196) 196)
Deferred tax assets (965) (965) (1,046) (1,046)
Goodwill
Other Intangible Assets (1,786) (1,786) 1,874) 1,874)
Defined benefit pension fund assets
(liabilities) Q07) Qo7
Investments in equity of unconsolidated
subsidiary banks and quasi- banks,
and other financial allied undertakings
(excluding subsidiary securities dealers
brokers and insurance companies),
after deducting related goodwill, if any (19,338) (19,338) (18,049) (18,049)
Other equity investments in non-financial
allied undertakings and non-allied
undertakings (4,315) (4,315) (4,935) (4,935)
Reciprocal investments in common stock of
other banks/quasi-banks and financial
allied undertakings including securities
dealers/brokers and insurance
companies, after deducting related
goodwill, if any (for both solo and
consolidated bases) as) as) (5) 5)
Total Regulatory Capital 83,237 53,512 3 13,173 66,688 66,892 40,873 3 12,457 53,332
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Components of Regulatory Capital

Regulatory Capital consist of the sum of the following
accounts as reported in the BSP Financial Reporting
Package (FRP) which are eligible as Common Equity Tier 1
(CETD) and Additional Tier 1 (AT1) capital guided by Circular
No. 781 - Basel Illl Implementing Guidelines on Minimum
Capital Requirements

a. Paid in Capital Stock
b. Additional Paid-in Capital Stock
c. Retained Earnings
d. Undivided Profits
e. Other Comprehensive Income
Net Unrealized Gains or Losses on AFS Securities
Cumulative foreign currency translation
Remeasurement of Net Defined Benefit Liability/
(Asset) pertains to Reserves on remeasurements
of post-employment defined benefit plan comprise
of net accumulated actuarial gains or losses arising
from experience adjustments and other changes
in actuarial assumptions and actual return on plan
assets
f. Minority Interest in Subsidiaries (for consolidated

report only)

Tier 2 Capital consists of sum of Unsecured Subordinated
Debt with main features discussed below and General Loan
Loss Reserves, limited to a maximum of 1.00% of credit risk-
weighted assets.

Regulatory Adjustments to Capital consists of the sum of the
following accounts :

a. Unbooked valuation reserves and other capital
adjustment based on latest examination of monetary
board (Retained Earnings - Appropriated for General
Loan Loss Reserves)

b. Unsecured credit accomodations

c. Unsecured loans, other credit credit accomodations
and guarantees granted to subsidiaries and affiliates

d. Deferred Tax Assets pertains to the tax impact
of deductible temporary differences such as but
not limited to provisions for impairment,minimum
corporate income tax and retirement benefits

e. Goodwill represents goodwill of RCBC Savings

Other Intangible Assets consist of computer software
and branch licenses
g. Defined benefit pension fund assets pertains to the
excess of the fair value of the plan assets over the
present value of the defined benefit obligation
h. Investments in equity of unconsolidated subsidiary
banks for the solo reporting represents carrying
amount as reported in the FRP, net of related goodwill
RCBC Savings Bank
RCBC Capital Corporation
RCBC Forex Brokers Corp.
RCBC Leasing and Finance Corp.
Merchant Savings & Loan Association inc.
RCBC Telemoney Europe
RCBC International Finance Ltd.

Other equity investments in non-financial allied

undertakings and non-allied undertakings represents

investments in various companies such as Niyog

Properties, YGC Corporate Services, Honda Cars, GPL

Holdings, MICO Equities, Roxas Holdings, Pilipinas

Shell, Isuzu Phils. among others

—

Main Features of Tier 2 Subordinated Debt Issued

On June 27, 2014 the Parent Company issued P7 billion Basel
Ill-compliant Tier 2 Capital Notes (the "Tier 2 Notes”) which
shall be part of the Group’s regulatory capital compliance in
accordance with Basel Il capital guidelines of the BSP. The
Parent Company re-opened the Tier 2 Notes and issued an
additional P 3 billion of the Notes on September 5, 2014,
which constituted a further issuance of, and formed a single
series with the existing P 7 billion Tier 2 Notes.

The significant terms and conditions of the Tier 2 Notes with
an aggregate issue amount of P 10 billion, are as follows :

(a) The Tier 2 Notes shall mature on September 27, 2024,
provided that they are not redeemed at an earlier date.

(b) Subject to satisfaction of certain regulatory approval
requirements, the Parent Company may, on
September 26, 2019, and on any Interest Payment Date
thereafter, redeem all of the outstanding Tier 2 Notes
at redemption price equal to 100% of its face value
together with accrued and unpaid interest thereon.
The terms and conditions of the Tier 2 Notes also
allow for early redemption upon the occurrence of a
Tax Redemption Event or a Regulatory Redemption
Event.

(c) The Tier 2 Notes shall initially bear interest at the rate
of 5.375% per annum from and including June 27, 2014
to but excluding September 27, 2019 and shall be
quarterly in arrears at the end of each interest period
on March 27, June 27, September 27 and December 27
of each year.

(d) Unless the Tier 2 Notes are previously redeemed, the
initial interest rate will be reset on September 26,
2019 at the equivalent of the five-year PDST-R2 or the
relevant five-year benchmark plus the initial spread of
1.93% per annum Such reset interest shall be payable
quarterly in arrears commencing on September 27,
2019 up to and including September 27, 2024, if not
otherwise redeemed earlier.

(e) The Tier 2 Notes have a loss absorption feature which
means the notes are subject to a Non-Viability Write-
Down in case of the occurrence of a Non-Viability
Event, subject to certain conditions as set out in the
terms and conditions of the notes, when the Issuer is
considered non-viable as determined by the BSP. Non-
Viability is defined as a deviation from a certain level
of CET1 ratio or the inability of the Issuer to continue
business (closure) or any other event as determined
by the BSP, whichever comes earlier. Upon the
occurrence of a Non-Viability Event, the Issuer shall
write-down the principal amount of the notes to the
extent required by the BSP, which could go as low
as zero. A Non-Viability Write-Down shall have the
following effects :

(i) it shall reduce the claim on the notes of the
liquidation;

(ii) reduce the amount re-paid when a call or
redemption is properly exercised; and,

(iii) partially or fully reduce the interest payments
on the notes.

For the features of the other capital instruments please refer
to Note 231 of the Audited FS for the Preferred Shares.
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Full Reconciliation of Regulatory Capital Elements back to the FRP Balance Sheet
in the Audited Financial Statements

(In Millions)
RCBC Parent

December 31, 2018

EQUITY ACCOUNTS AUDITED FS BSP FRP CHANGE DETAILS AMOUNT
Common Stock 19,356 19,356 -
Preferred Stock 3 3 -
Capital Paid in Excess of Par 32,061 32,061 -
Revaluation Reserves 265 242 23 Marked to market adjustment of Equity Securities 19
Adjustment on retirement plan benefits (96)
23
Reserve for Trust Business 406 401 5 Additional provision on Reserves for Trust Business 5
General Loan Loss Reserves 212 2,08 4 Additional Requirement on appropriated RE 4
Surplus 26,872 29,065 (2194) Additional provision on Reserves for Trust Business (5)
Adjustment on ECL transition (2,010)
PFRS9 Transition adjustment for RSB 124)
Additional Requirement on appropriated RE 4)
Profit and Loss and prior year adjustment (€D}
(2194)
Total Capital 81,075 83,237 (2,162) (2,162)
Reconciliation for the Group Regulatory Elements are the same as that of the Parent Bank.
Full Reconciliation of Regulatory Capital Elements back to the FRP Balance Sheet
in the Audited Financial Statements
(In Millions)
RCBC Parent
December 31, 2017
EQUITY ACCOUNTS AUDITED FS BSP FRP CHANGE DETAILS AMOUNT
Common Stock 13,999 13,999 -
Preferred Stock 3 3 -
Capital Paid in Excess of Par 22,636 22,636 -
Revaluation Reserves 1,973 1,941 32 Marked to market adjustment of Equity Securities 155
Fxcy translation adjustment on Equity Investment @)
Adjustment on retirement plan benefits 22)
32
Reserve for Trust Business 394 388 6 Additional provision on Reserves for Trust Business 6
Surplus 27,924 27,925 (1) Additional provision on Reserves for Trust Business ®)
Profit and Loss and prior year adjustment 5
Q)
Total Capital 66,929 66,892 38 38

Reconciliation for the Group Regulatory Elements are the same as that of the Parent Bank.

13
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Capital Requirements by type of exposure as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

December 31, 2018

CREDIT RISK MARKET RISK OPERATIONAL RISK
GROUP PARENT GROUP PARENT GROUP PARENT
(in Millions)
On- Balance Sheet Assets 428,434 341,578
Off- Balance Sheet Assets 14,719 14,700
Counterparty Risk-Weighted Assets in the Banking
& Trading Book 12,660 12,660
Credit Linked Notes in the Banking Book
Securitization Exposures
Market Risk-Weighted Assets 8,310 8,346
Operational Risk using Basic Indicator Approach 40,534 26,852
Total 455,812 368,938 8,310 8,346 40,534 26,852
Capital Requirements 45,581 36,894 831 835 4,053 2,685

December 31, 2017

CREDIT RISK MARKET RISK OPERATIONAL RISK
GROUP PARENT GROUP PARENT GROUP PARENT
(in Millions)
On- Balance Sheet Assets 373,572 298176
Off- Balance Sheet Assets 12,546 12,514
Counterparty Risk-Weighted Assets in the Banking
& Trading Book 1,400 1,400
Credit Linked Notes in the Banking Book
Securitization Exposures
Market Risk-Weighted Assets 10,376 10,369
Operational Risk using Basic Indicator Approach 38,375 25,473
Total 387,518 312,090 10,376 10,369 38,375 25,473
Capital Requirements 38,752 31,209 1,038 1,037 3,837 2,547

Risk weighted on-balance sheet assets covered by credit risk mitigants were based on collateralized transactions
as well as guarantees by the Philippine National Government (NG) and those guarantors and exposures with the
highest credit rating.

Standardized credit risk weights were used in the credit assessment of asset exposures. Third party credit
assessments were based on the rating by Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s, Fitch and Philratings on exposures to
Sovereigns, Multilateral Development Banks, Banks, Local Government Units, Government Corporation
and Corporates.
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RCBC Group

Total Credit Risk Exposures by Asset Type, Risk Buckets and Risk Weighted Assets

RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

December 31, 2018

Credit Total Risk Weights Total Risk
On-Balance Sheet Assets AP\ncnpatI M F‘Sk ¢ CEred\t Risk Weighted
moun itigants xposure 0% 20% 50% 75% 100% 150% Assets
(CRM) after CRM
Cash on Hand 17,344 17,344 17,344
Checks and Other Cash ltems 108 108 108 22
Due from Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) 56,497 56,497 56,497
Due from Other Banks 20,342 20,342 1128 17,670 1,544 10,604
Financial Assets Designated at Fair Value through
Profit or Loss
Available-for-Sale (AFS) Financial Assets 15,643 15,643 14,708 509 426 680
Held-to-Maturity (HTM) Financial Assets 91,133 13,489 77644 14,393 2175 41,669 19,407 40,677
Loans and Receivables 396,455 27,442 369,014 69 32,398 10,21 317,464 8,872 354,642
Loans and Receivables Arising from Repurchase
Agreements, Certificates of Assignment/
Participation with Recourse, and Securities
Lending and Borrowing Transactions 10,037 10,037 10,037
Sales Contract Receivable (SCR) 910 910 707 202 .01
Real and Other Properties Acquired 2,410 2,410 2,410 3,616
Other Assets 17182 17182 17182 17182
Total Risk-weighted On-Balance Sheet Assets 628,061 40,930 587,130 112,979 3,480 92,246 10,211 356,730 1,485 428,434
RCBC Group
Total Credit Risk Exposures by Asset Type, Risk Buckets and Risk Weighted Assets
December 31, 2017
Credit Total Risk Weights .
- X Total Risk
On-Balance Sheet Assets :’\nupatl M tR‘Sk ¢ CEred\t Risk Weighted
moun ltigants Xposure 0% 20% 50% 75% 100% 150% Assets
(CRM) after CRM
Cash on Hand 14,881 14,881 14,881
Checks and Other Cash Items 41 4 41 28
Due from Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) 58,764 58,764 58,764
Due from Other Banks 19,632 19,632 1,706 16,438 1,487 10,048
Financial Assets Designated at Fair Value through
Profit or Loss
Available-for-Sale (AFS) Financial Assets
Held-to-Maturity (HTM) Financial Assets 60,606 1,459 59,147 17195 1,340 22,345 18,266 29,707
Unguoted Debt Securities Classified as Loans 1,932 1,932 1,932 1,932
Loans and Receivables 351,456 33,358 318,097 17,637 10,399 286,195 3,867 308,613
Loans and Receivables Arising from Repurchase
Agreements, Certificates of Assignment/
Participation with Recourse, and Securities
Lending and Borrowing Transactions 9,883 9,883 9,883
Sales Contract Receivable (SCR) 1,354 1,354 1163 191 1,449
Real and Other Properties Acquired 2,327 2,327 2,327 3,491
Other Assets 18,304 18,304 18,304 18,304
Total Risk-weighted On-Balance Sheet Assets 539,279 34,818 504,462 100,723 3,188 56,420 10,399 327,347 6,386 373,572
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RCBC Parent

Total Credit Risk Exposures by Asset Type, Risk Buckets and Risk Weighted Assets

December 31, 2018

Credit Total Risk Weights Total Risk
On-Balance Sheet Assets APmcwpat\ M tR‘Sk t CEredlt Risk Weighted
moun Itigants xposure 0% 20% 50% 75% 100% 150% Assets
(CRM) after CRM
Cash on Hand 12,225 12,225 12,225
Checks and Other Cash Items 48 48 48 10
Due from Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) 39,846 39,846 39,846
Due from Other Banks 19,420 19,420 1128 17,515 777 9,760
Financial Assets Designated at Fair Value through
Profit or Loss
Available-for-Sale (AFS) Financial Assets 12,093 12,093 12,093
Held-to-Maturity (HTM) Financial Assets 80,000 13,489 66,511 11,301 2175 36,433 16,602 35,254
Loans and Receivables 299,079 9,500 289,579 69 9,457 9,782 268,359 1912 283,306
Loans and Receivables Arising from Repurchase
Agreements, Certificates of Assignment/
Participation with Recourse, and Securities
Lending and Borrowing Transactions 4,002 4,002 4,002
Sales Contract Receivable (SCR) 28 28 27 1 29
Real and Other Properties Acquired 657 657 657 986
Other Assets 12,234 12,234 12,234 12,234
Total Risk-weighted On-Balance Sheet Assets 479,632 22,988 456,644 79,466 3,421 63,405 9,782 297,999 2,571 341,578
RCBC Parent
Total Credit Risk Exposures by Asset Type, Risk Buckets and Risk Weighted Assets
December 31, 2017
Credit Total Risk Weights
Total Risk
On-Balance Sheet Assets APmcwpat\ M F‘Sk ¢ CEredlt Risk Weighted
WS itigants xposure 0% 20% 50% 75% 100% 150% Assets
(CRM) after CRM
Cash on Hand 10,415 10,415 10,415
Checks and Other Cash Items 87 87 87 17
Due from Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) 47187 47187 47187
Due from Other Banks 18,368 18,368 1,706 16,080 582 8,963
Financial Assets Designated at Fair Value through
Profit or Loss
Available-for-Sale (AFS) Financial Assets
Held-to-Maturity (HTM) Financial Assets 48,634 1459 47175 12,791 1,340 17,400 15,644 24,612
Unguoted Debt Securities Classified as Loans 1199 1199 1199 1199
Loans and Receivables 264,791 14,405 250,386 41 10,399 237,557 2,389 248,961
Loans and Receivables Arising from Repurchase
Agreements, Certificates of Assignment/
Participation with Recourse, and Securities
Lending and Borrowing Transactions 7,437 7,437 7,437
Sales Contract Receivable (SCR) 47 47 397 20 427
Real and Other Properties Acquired 606 606 606 909
Other Assets 13,088 13,088 13,088 13,088
Total Risk-weighted On-Balance Sheet Assets 412,228 15,864 396,363 77,829 3,133 33,521 10,399 268,467 3,015 298,176




Market Risk Weighted Assets

RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Group Parent
2018 2017 2018 2017
Market Market Market Market
Notional Risk Notional Risk Notional Risk Notional Risk
Using Standardized Approach Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted
Amount Amount Amount Amount
Assets Assets Assets Assets
(MRWA) (MRWA) (MRWA) (MRWA)
Interest Rate Exposures 90,880 6,101 69,951 4,307 90,003 6,101 69,951 4,307
Equity Exposures
Foreign Exposures 5,607 2165 11,288 5,870 5,643 2,201 11,281 5,863
Options 470 44 1,376 200 470 44 1,376 200
Total 96,957 8,310 82,615 10,376 96,115 8,346 82,608 10,369
Operational Risk-Weighted Assets under Basic Indicator Approach
(Based on 3 Year Average Gross Income)
Group Parent
Nature of Item
2018 2017 2018 2017
Net interest income 16,450 15,436 11,293 10,676
Other non-interest income 5168 5030 3,028 2,909
Gross Income 21,618 20,467 14,321 13,586
Capital Requirements 40,534 38,375 26,852 25,473

Use of Third Party Assessment for Credit Risk

Following the standardized approach for credit risk, the determination of capital requirement is based on an
approach that links predefined risk weights to predefined asset classes. Standardized credit risk weights following
BSP Circular 538 were used in the credit assessment of these asset exposures. Third party credit assessments in
turn were based on the rating by Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s, Fitch and Philratings on exposures to Sovereigns,
Multilateral Development Banks, Banks, Local Government Units, Government Corporation and Corporates.

Moreover, as of December 31, 2018 the Bank had exposures to the following countries via direct exposure to local
corporates, the range of issuer ratings of which is indicated:

Country Rating Range
United States AAA to BBB-
Mexico AA-
China A-
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CORPORATE
S0CIAL
RESPONSIBILITY

RCBC Savings Bank strengthens financial
inclusion campaign

RCBC Savings Bank (RSB) in partnership with Rotary
Club of Mutya ng Pasig, held a financial literacy forum
in Buting Senior High School at San Joaquin, Pasig.
Participated by over 300 high school students, the
RSB Financial Literacy Forum aims to inform and
train the young generation on smarter ways of saving
and spending.

Facilitated by Ms. Cynthia Bartolome, RSB’s Product
Manager for Cards, the forum tackled building the habit
of saving and the appropriate financial tools to help
them manage their allowances more prudently. For
starters, RSB’s MyWallet Visa Prepaid Card provides the
convenience of safe and managed budgeting without
the maintaining balance.

A heed to BSP’s call for financial inclusion and a
reaffirmation of RSB’s advocacy towards financial
literacy, the forum is the first of the series RSB will
be conducting in the coming months. It endeavors
financial inclusion by instilling the habit of saving, even
at an early age, through its products. Aligned with this
advocacy is RSB’s WISE Savings Account, a deposit
product specially designed for the young ones ages 21
years old and below. Aside from helping maximize their
savings’ potential through earning an interest, it is also
packed with special perks and privileges and comes
with free accident insurance. Opening balance starts
at 100 pesos only.

RCBC creates first-of-its-kind ‘ePiso’
Digital Cash

RCBC developed ePiso for the unbanked and
underserved Filipinos. These are individuals in
grassroots communities who do not have access to
open a bank account or cannot afford to open and
maintain one. They only transact with cash not only



because they feel more secure in tangible exchanges,
but most merchants that they transact with also only
accept cash. They are hesitant to adopt new technology
about their finances because they fear the risk of losing
their hard-earned money, but they are also desperately
seeking ways to avoid theft and safely store their funds.
To this market, every cent counts.

For ePiso’s test launch, RCBC focused on two
grassroots communities, namely the National Housing
Authority’s (NHA) settlement community in Brgy.
Poblacion, Muntinlupa and the farming communities in
Valencia, Bukidnon.

The residents of the NHA community in Brgy. Poblacion,
Muntinlupa were mainly composed of low income, daily
wage earners. While they are urban-dwellers and can
easily have access to banks, they are intimidated by
basic banking services so they still do not get them.
Moreover, their income flow suggested that they
mainly purchase items in small quantities or tingi-ting/
from local community stores (sari-sari stores). Given
this behavior, RCBC recognized that ePiso can make
purchase transactions between merchants and users in
this community more secure and convenient.

On the other hand, the farming communities in Valencia,
Bukidnon were located in remote areas. The residents
have to travel for hours to the town proper just so they
can request for a loan from a thrift bank and purchase
their input supplies. In partnership with its subsidiary,
Rizal Microbank, RCBC aimed to make financial loans
more secure and accessible to famers with ePiso.

These two communities provide an opportune set-
up for RCBC to showcase how ePiso can be a secure
method of storing the residents’ money as well as make
two of these markets’ biggest financial transactions,
namely purchases and loans respectively, more secure
and convenient once digitized.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
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MS. HELEN Y. DEE
CHAIRPERSON, NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
75 years of age, Filipino

BS Commerce, Assumption College,
Masters in Business Administration,
University, Philippines

Philippines;
De La Salle

Ms. Helen V. Dee has been the Bank’s Chairperson
since June 27, 2005.

Ms. Dee also holds positions in other publicly-listed
companies as the Chairperson of House of Investments,
Inc.and EEI Corporation, and Director of Philippine Long
Distance Company and Petro Energy Resources, Inc.
She was also the Chairperson of National Reinsurance
Corporation of the Philippines and Seafront Resources,
and Director of iPeople, Inc. until her resignation
effective January 1, 2018.

Ms. Dee is also the Chairperson/President Hydee
Management and Resource Corporation; Chairperson
of RCBC Savings Bank, RCBC Leasing and
Finance Corporation, Landev Corporation, Hi-Esai
Pharmaceutical Inc., Mapua Information Technology
Center, Inc., Malayan Insurance Co. Inc., and Manila
Memorial Park Cemetery, Inc.; a Trustee of Malayan
Colleges, Inc. (operating under the name Mapua
Institute of Technology); and Vice Chairperson of Pan
Malayan Management and Investment Corporation.

She attended continuing education seminars facilitated
by RCBC in 2013 covering the following topics: SEC
Corporate Governance Initiatives/Trends in Regulatory
Framework, Updates on Anti-Money Laundering Act
of 2001, Basel lll and Financial Regulatory Reform, and
Evaluating Risks in Project Finance Transactions. She
also attended the Corporate Governance seminars
conducted by SGV & Co. forthe directors and key officers
of RCBC, RCBC Subsidiaries and affiliates on March 22,
2014, September 5, 2015. For 2016, she attended the
Corporate Governance Enhancement Session on The
Philippine Competition Act and Philippine Competition
Commissions conducted by PLDT on May 3, 2016, as
well as the Corporate Governance Seminar conducted
by Risks, Opportunities, Assessment and Management
(ROAM), Inc. on November 12, 2016,

On September 26, 2017, she attended the Cybersecurity
Seminar organized by RCBC covering topics on threat
briefing and cyber preparedness, and on October
27, 2018, she attended the seminar on Corporate
Governance and Financial Technology, also organized
by RCBC.

MR. CESAR E.A. VIRATA
VICE CHAIRPERSON, NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
88 years of age, Filipino

BS Mechanical Engineering and Business Administration
(Cum Laude), University of the Philippines; Masters in
Business Administration, Wharton Graduate School,
University of Pennsylvania, USA

Mr. Cesar E.A. Virata has been a Director of the Bank
since 1995, Corporate Vice Chairman since June 2000,
and Senior Adviser since 2007.

Mr. Virata’s roster of companies where he is also a
Director and/or Chairman include, RCBC Savings Bank,
RCBC Realty Corp., RCBC Land, Inc., Malayan Insurance
Company, Inc., Business World Publishing Corporation,
City & Land Developers, Inc., RCBC International
Finance, Ltd. (Hong Kong), Luisita Industrial Park
Corporation, Niyog Property Holdings, Inc., Cavitex
Holdings, Inc.,, ALTO Pacific Company, Inc., Malayan
Colleges, Inc., RCBC Bankard Services Corporation,
AY Foundation, Inc., and YGC Corporate Services, Inc,,
among others.

Mr. Viratais alsoanIndependent Director of the following
listed companies outside YGC: Belle Corporation and
Lopez Holdings Corporation.

Mr. Virata held various key positions in the Philippine
government including Prime Minister, Secretary/Minister
of Finance, Chairman of the Committee on Finance of
the Batasan Pambansa (National Assembly), member
of the Monetary Board, and Chairman of the Land Bank
of the Philippines. He likewise served as Governor of the
Philippines to the World Bank, the Asian Development
Bank and the International Fund for Agricultural
Development. He was Chairman of the Development
Committee of the World Bank and International
Monetary Fund from 1976 to 1980 and Chairman of the
Board of Governors of the Asian Development Bank.
Prior to his Government positions, he was a Professor
and Dean of the College of Business Administration of
the University of the Philippines and Principal, SyCip
Gorres Velayo and Company, Management Services
Division.

He attended continuing education seminars facilitated
by RCBC in 2013 covering the following topics: SEC
Corporate Governance Initiatives/Trends in Regulatory
Framework, Updates on the Anti-Money Laundering
Act of 2001, Basel Ill and Financial Regulatory Reform,



and Evaluating Risks in Project Finance Transactions.
He also attended the Corporate Governance seminar
conducted by SGV & Co. for the directors and key
officers of RCBC, RCBC subsidiaries and affiliates on
September 5, 2015.

For 2016, he attended the Continuing Education &
Training for Directors, “Board on Crisis & IT Fraud
Cyber Security) conducted by Belle Corporation, and
the Corporate Governance Seminar conducted by the
Institute of Corporate Directors, on August 3, 2016.

On September 26, 2017, he attended the Cybersecurity
Seminar organized by RCBC covering topics on threat
briefing and cyber preparedness, and on October
27, 2018, he attended the seminar on Corporate
Governance and Financial Technology, also organized
by RCBC. He also attended the Corporate Governance
Seminar conducted by Institute of Corporate Directors
on August 8, 2018.

MR. GIL A. BUENAVENTURA
PRESIDENT AND CEO, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
66 years of age, Filipino

BA Economics, University of San Francisco, California;
Masters of Business Administration in  Finance,
University of Wisconsin Madison, Wisconsin

Mr. Gil A. Buenaventura has been the Bank’s Director,
President, and Chief Executive Officer since July 1, 2016.

Mr. Buenaventura also holds directorship and officership
positions in GAB Realty Incorporated, RCBC Capital
Corporation, RCBC Leasing and Finance Corporation,
RCBC Rental Corporation, Rizal Microbank, RCBC
Savings Bank, RCBC Forex Brokers Corporation, and
Niyog Property Holdings, Inc. He is also a member of the
Makati Business Club, Asian Bankers Association, and
Bankers Association of the Philippines. Before joining
the Bank, he worked in various capacities in other
banks and financial institutions, including the following:
President and Chief Executive Officer of Development
Bank of the Philippines, Chairman/Vice Chairman
of the LGU Guarantee Corporation, President and
Chief Executive Officer of Prudential Bank, Chairman
of Citytrust Securities Corporation, BPI Leasing
Corporation, Pilipinas Savings Bank, and Prudential
Investments, Inc., Director of BPI Family Savings Bank,
and Ayala Plans, Inc., and Executive Vice President of
Citytrust Banking Corp., and Vice President of Citibank
N.A. Manila, among others.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

In 2016, he attended the Corporate Governance
Orientation Program conducted by Institute of
Corporate Directors. On September 26, 2017, he
attended the Cybersecurity Seminar organized by
RCBC covering topics on threat briefing and cyber
preparedness, and on October 27, 2018, he attended
the seminar on Corporate Governance and Financial
Technology, also organized by RCBC.

MR. TZE CHING |. CHAN
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
62 years of age, Chinese

Bachelor of Business Administration and Masters of
Business Administration, University of Hawaii, USA;
Certified Public Accountant, American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, USA

Mr. Tze Ching |. Chan has been a Director of the Bank
since November 28, 2011.

Mr. Chan started with Citibank in Hong Kong as a
Management Associate in 1980 and served in various
capacities. He was Hong Kong Country Head and
Head of Corporate and Investment Banking business
for Greater China when he retired from Citi in 2007.
He worked briefly as Deputy Chief Executive for Bank
of China (Hong Kong) in 2008. Mr. Chan is currently a
Senior Adviser at CVC Capital Partners and The Bank
of East Asia, Limited, and holds various board seats
in listed companies, government statutory bodies,
and NGOs including, among others, AFFIN Holdings
Berhad, The Community Chest of Hongkong and
Hongkong Exchanges and Clearing Limited. Among
his government-appointed roles, he is currently Council
Chairman of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University, a
Member of the Financial Reporting Council of Hong
Kong and Hong Kong Tourism Board.

He attended the Orientation on Corporate Governance
conducted by Institute of Corporate Directors in March
2012, “Corporate Governance and Listing - What
Comes Next?” and “Board Effectiveness - Factors for
Long Term Strategy in the Financial Services Industry”
conducted by PricewaterhouseCoopers Limited in
2012. He also attended a seminar on Updates in Money
Laundering facilitated for the RCBC Board in 2013.
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He completed all the modules of the Financial
Institutions Directors’ Education Programme in March
2016. In 2017, he attended the Non-Executive Director
Programme: Global Development of Climate Risk
Disclosure by Pricewaterhouse Coopers Limited on
March 21, 2017, and on October 27, 2018, he attended
the seminar on Corporate Governance and Financial
Technology, organized by RCBC.

MR. RICHARD GORDON ALEXANDER WESTLAKE
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
67 years of age, of New Zealand

MA degree, Oxford University, England; Accredited
Fellow, Institute of Directors, New Zealand; International
Fellow of Mudara-Institute of Directors, Dubai, United
Arab Emirates

Mr. Richard Gordon Alexander Westlake has been a
Director of the Bank since October 1, 2014.

Mr. Westlake is the founder and managing director
of Westlake Governance Limited, a New Zealand-
based globally focused business now regarded of as
a leading adviser in Corporate Governance. He has
over twenty-five (25) years of experience as a Director
and Board Chairman. He is currently the Chairman
of the Careerforce Industry Training Organisation
Limited and an Independent Director of Dairy Goat
Co-Operative (NZ) Ltd., the world’s leading producer
and exporter of goat milk infant formula. Previous
roles include chairmanship of Intergen Limited, the
Standards Council of New Zealand; Deputy Chairman
of Institute of Geological & Nuclear Sciences Limited;
Establishment Chairman of Meteorological Service of
New Zealand, and Quotable Value Limited; and he was
a founding director of Kiwibank Ltd. for ten (10) years.

On September 26, 2017, he attended the Cybersecurity
Seminar organized by RCBC covering topics on threat
briefing and cyber preparedness.

MR. JOHN LAW
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
68 years of age, Dual citizen of France and Taiwan

BS Psychology, Chung Yuan University, Taiwan; Master
of Business Administration, Indiana University, USA; MA
Poetry, University of Paris, France

Mr. John Law has been a director of the Bank since
April 27, 2015.

Mr. Law is also currently a Senior Advisor for Greater
China for Oliver Wyman, and is a member of the Board
of Directors of Far East Horizon, Ltd. In Hong Kong,
BNP Paribas in China, and Khan Bank in Mongolia.
In the past, he held Board seats in several financial
institutions, including the Industrial Bank (China),
Sacombank (Vietnam), SinoPac Securities Ltd. (Taiwan),
and worked in various capacities at the International
Finance Corporation/World Bank, JP Morgan and
Citibank/Citigroup.

He attended the Financial Crises Response:
International Consultation conducted by International
Finance Corporation/Global Governance Forum in June
2009 and the High Level Meeting on Governance of
Bank Subsidiaries also conducted by the International
Finance Corporation/Global Governance Forum in
March 2014, the Corporate Governance Seminar
conducted by Risks, Opportunities, Assessment and
Management (ROAM), Inc. on November 12, 2016, and
the Cybersecurity Seminar organized by RCBC on
September 26, 2017. On October 27, 2018, he attended
the seminar on Corporate Governance and Financial
Technology, also organized by RCBC.

MR. YUH-SHING (FRANCIS) PENG
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
47 years of age, TAIWANESE

Bachelor of Science in Control Engineering, National
Chiao Tung University, Taiwan; Bachelor of Law,
National Taiwan University, Taiwan; Master of Business
Administration/Information  Management, National
Center University, Taiwan

Mr. Yuh-Shing (Francis) Peng has been a director of the
Bank since April 27, 2015.

Mr. Peng is an Executive Vice President of Cathay
United Bank, handling various departments, particularly
the  Overseas Management Department  and
Strategic Planning Division/Investment Management
Department. Prior to these positions, he also was
Executive Vice President handling the International
Banking Department, Corporate Banking Strategy
& Product Department, and Offshore Banking Unit
of Cathay United Bank. He also served in various
capacities with Citibank N.A. in Hongkong, Citibank
Taiwan Limited, and Citibank Taipei.



He attended the seminar on Banking Internal Control
and Audit in 2010, Trust Industry training for Executives
in 2013 and Trust Industry Training for Supervising
Officers in 2013 conducted by Taiwan Academy of
Banking and Finance. He also attended the internal
training on Internal Audit and Check Practice and Debt
and Liabilities in 2013 and internal training on Executives
Leadership in 2014 by the Cathay United Bank.

He attended the Corporate Governance Seminar
conducted by Risks, Opportunities, Assessment and
Management (ROAM), Inc. on November 12, 2016 and
the Cybersecurity Seminar organized by RCBC on
September 26, 2017. Mr. Peng resigned effective March
4, 2019.

ATTY. FLORENTINO M. HERRERA, I
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
67 years of age, Filipino

BA Political Science and Bachelor of Laws, University
of the Philippines; Member, Integrated Bar of the
Philippines

Atty. Florentino M. Herrera lll has been a Director of the
Bank since August 30, 2016.

Atty. Herrera lll is also a Founding Partner of the Herrera
Teehankee & Cabrera Law Offices, a Senior Adviser at
CVC Asia Pacific Limited, an International Private Equity
Firm, and was former Partner of the Angara Abello
Concepcion Regala & Cruz Law Offices. He has been
engaged in the general practice of law for the past thirty
nine (39) years specializing in corporate law practice,
and serves as counsel for various companies engaged
in banking, management of foreign fund investments,
airlines, repair, maintenance and overhaul of aircraft,
real estate, resorts, telecommunications, media and
PR firms, insurance gaming, shipping, and financing.
He also holds Directorship and top management
positions in various companies in the Philippine such
as Trans-Pacific Oriental Holdings, Co., Inc., Canlubang
Golf & Country Club, Inc., Bellagio Properties, Inc,,
Philippine Airlines, Inc., Lufthansa Technik Philippines,
Inc., Macroasia Corporation, Mantrade Development
Corporation, Aeropartners, Inc., Regent Resources, Inc.,,
and STI Education Services Group, Inc.

Atty. Herrera also holds positions in the following
publicly listed companies outside YGC: Director of
Filsyn Corporation and Geograce Resources Philippines,
Corporate Secretary of Macroasia Corporation, and
Treasurer of Long Trail Holding, Inc.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

He attended the Corporate Governance and Risk
Management Program d by SGV & Co. on January 30,
2015, the Corporate Governance Orientation Program
Class Il conducted by Institute of Corporate Directors
on November 23, 2016, and Cybersecurity Seminar
organized by RCBC on September 26, 2017, and on
October 27,2018, he attended the seminar on Corporate
Governance and Financial Technology, also organized
by RCBC.

MR. ARMANDO M. MEDINA
INDEPENDENT, NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
69 years of age, Filipino

BA Commerce and Economics and BS Commerce with
a major in Accounting, De La Salle University, Philippines

Mr. Armando M. Medina has been an Independent
Director of the Bank since 2003.

He is also an Independent Director of RCBC Savings
Bank, RCBC Capital Corporation, and Malayan Insurance
Co. Inc. He also held directorship and officership
positions in other institutions like Great Life Financial
Assurance Corporation, Merchant Savings & Loan
Association, Inc., RCBC Forex Brokers Corporation,
Bankard, Inc., RCBC International Finance Ltd., RCBC
Capital Corporation RCBC California International, Inc.,
Honda Cars Philippines, Isuzu Philippines, Business
Harmony Realty, Inc., and Phil. Clearing House Corp.

He attended continuing education seminars conducted
by RCBC in 2013 covering the following topics: SEC
Corporate Governance Initiatives/Trends in Regulatory
Framework, Updates on the Anti-Money Laundering
Act of 2001, Basel lll and Financing Regulatory Reform,
and Evaluating Risks in Project Finance Transactions.
He also attended the corporate governance seminars
conducted by SGV & Co. for the Directors and key
officers of RCBC, RCBC subsidiaries and affiliates
on March 22, 2014 and September 5, 2015, and the
Corporate Governance Seminar conducted by Risks,
Opportunities, Assessment and Management (ROAM),
Inc. on November 12, 2016.

In 2017, he attended the Seminar on Corporate
Governance by SGV on December 8, 2017, and on
October 27,2018, he attended the seminar on Corporate
Governance and Financial Technology, organized by
RCBC.

139



140

MR. JUAN B. SANTOS
INDEPENDENT, NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
80 years of age, Filipino

BS Business Administration, Ateneo de Manila
University, Philippines; Foreign Trade, Thunderbird
School of Management, Arizona, USA

Mr. Juan B. Santos has been an Independent Director of
the Bank since November 2, 2016.

Mr. Santos is currently a member of the Board of
Directors of First Philippine Holdings Corporation, Sun
Life Grepa Financial, Inc., Alaska Milk Corporation, East-
West Seed ROH Limited (Bangkok, Thailand), House
of Investments, Inc., Golden Spring Group (Singapore)
Allamanda Management Corp. and Philippine
Investment Management (PHINMA), Inc.; a member of
the Board of Advisors of Coca-Cola FEMSA Philippines,
AMUNDI (Singapore), Mitsubishi Motor Phil. Corp.,
East-West Seeds Co,, Inc., Chairman, Board of Trustee,
Dualtech Training Center Foundation, Inc., a trustee
of St. Luke’s Medical Center, and a consultant of the
Marsman-Drysdale Group of Companies.

Prior to joining the Bank, he was Chairman of the Social
Security Commission, he served briefly as Secretary of
Trade and Industry and was designated as a member of
the Governance Advisory Council, and Private Sector
Representative for the Public-Private Sector Task Force
for the Development of Globally Competitive Philippine
Service Industries. He also served as Director of various
publicly listed companies, including Philippine Long
Distance Telephone Company (PLDT), Philex Mining
Corporation, San Miguel Corporation, Equitable Savings
Bank, Inc., and PCI Leasing and Finance, Inc.

Mr. Santos also holds positions in the following publicly
listed companies: Director of First Philippine Holdings
Co. and Independent Director of House of Investments,
Inc.

He previously attended the Executive Talks: Corporate
Governance Enhancement Session conducted by First
Pacific Leadership Academy & Compliance System
Legal Group (CSCG) on December 2, 2013, Corporate
Governance Requirements under United States Laws
and Regulations and the Foreign Corrupt Practice
Act of 1977 conducted by Atty. Ma. Lourdes C. Rausa-
Chan on April 1, 2014, Corporations-Governance
Commission for Government Owned and Controlled
Corporations Compliance conducted by Institute of
Corporate Directors (ICD) on November 10, 2014,
Corporate Governance: what to Expect from Securities
and Exchange Commission and Corporate Governance

Trends and Current Topics in Developed Economies
and their Application in the Philippines and Other
Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN)
Countries conducted by Atty. Ma. Lourdes C. Rausa-
Chan (Chief Governance Officer - PLDT) and Mr. Danny
Y. Yu, Corporate Officer - Philex Mining Corp.) on
December 4, 2014, First Philippines Holding Corporation
Corporate Governance Seminar conducted by SGV&Co.
on August 24, 2015.

For 2016, he attended the Corporate Governance
Enhancement on the Philippine Competition
Commission conducted by Mr. Emmanuel M. Lombos
on May 3, 2016, and Corporate Governance Seminar
conducted by Institute of Corporate Directors on
August 25, 2016. In 2017, he attended the Cybersecurity
Seminar organized by RCBC on September 26, 2017. On
August 15, 2018, he attended the Corporate Governance
Seminar conducted by SGV & Co.

AMB. LILIA R. BAUTISTA
INDEPENDENT, NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
83 years of age, Filipino

Bachelor of Laws and Master in Business Administration,
University of the Philippines; Master of Laws, University
of Michigan, USA, Member, Integrated Bar of the
Philippines

Amb. Lilia R. Bautista has been an Independent Director
of the Bank since July 25, 2016.

Amb. Bautista holds position as Member of the Board
of Directors/Board of Trustees of various Corporations,
including RFM Corporation, Transnational Diversified
Group, Inc., St. Martin de Porres Charity Hospital, CIBI
Foundation, Inc., and Philja Development Center. She
was former Director of the Bank of the Philippine
Islands and BPI Capital and has held distinguished
positions in the public and private sector, including
as Members and, subsequently, Chairperson of the
WTO Appellate Body, Chairperson of the Securities
and Exchange Commission, Ex-Officio Member of the
Anti-Money Laundering Council, Acting Secretary of
the Department of Trade and Industry, Chairman Ex-
Officio of the Board of Investments, and Ambassador
Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary, Chief of Mission,
Class 1 and Permanent Representative to the United
Nations Office, World Trade Organization, World
Health Organization, International Labor Organization,
and other International Organizations in Geneva,
Switzerland.



Amb. Bautista is also an Independent Director of RFM
Corporation, a publicly listed company outside YGC.

She attended the Corporate Governance Seminar
conducted by Institute of Corporate Directors on
September 6, 2016, and the Corporate Governance
Seminar conducted by Risks, Opportunities, Assessment
and Management (ROAM), Inc. on November 12, 2076.
In 2017, she attended the Cybersecurity Seminar
organized by RCBC on September 26, 2017.

On September 5, 2018, she attended the Corporate
Governance Seminar conducted by the Institute of
Corporate Directors, and on October 27, 2018, she
attended the seminar on Corporate Governance and
Financial Technology, organized by RCBC.

MR. MELITO S. SALAZAR, JR. *
INDEPENDENT, NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, Filipino

BS Business Administration major in Accounting and
Master of Business Administration, University of the
Philippines

Mr. Melito S. Salazar, Jr. has been an Independent
Director of the Bank since June 27, 2016.

Mr. Salazar, Jr. is also an Independent Director of Sun
Life of Canada Prosperity Balanced Fund, Inc., Sun Life
of Canada Prosperity Philippine Equity Fund, Inc., Sun
Life Prosperity GS Fund, Inc., Philippines First Insurance
Corp., YANMAR Philippines, TECO Philippines and
Concepcion Industrial Corporation, a Director of the
Chamber of Commerce of the Philippine Islands, Dean
of the Centro Escolar University School of Accountancy
and Management, columnist of the Manila Bulleting and
Regent of the Philippine Normal University.

Mr. Salazar is also an Independent Director of
Concepcion Industrial Corporation, a publicly listed
company outside YGC.

In the past, he held various key positions in the
government, including Monetary Board Member of
the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas, Undersecretary of the
Department of Trade and Industry, and Vice-Chairman
& Governor - Board of Investments. He also served
as President of the Management Association of the
Philippines, the Financial Executive Institute of the
Philippines and Chamber of Commmerce of the Philippine
Islands.
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He attended the Seminar on Corporate Governance
conducted by Risk, Opportunities, Assessments, and
Management (ROAM), Inc. in 2015 and the Corporate
Governance Seminar conducted by Institute of
Corporate Directors on September 6, 2016. In 2017,
he attended the Cybersecurity Seminar organized by
RCBC on September 26, 2017.

He passed away on February 16, 2019.

ATTY. ADELITA A. VERGEL DE DIOS
INDEPENDENT, NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
72 years of age, Filipino

Bachelor of Business Administration and Accounting
and Bachelor of Laws (Magna cum Laude), University
of the East, Philippines; Certified Public Accountant;
Member, Integrated Bar of the Philippines

Atty. Adelita A. Vergel De Dios has been an Independent
Director of the Bank since June 27, 2016.

Atty. Vergel De Dios is currently an Independent Director
of RCBC Savings Bank, and Member of the Board of
Trustees of the Center for Excellence in Governance,
Inc., and Center for School Governance, Inc. Prior
to these, she was Commissioner of the Insurance
Commission, and held directorship and officership
positions in various companies including President of
the Institute of Corporate Directors, Chairman of the
Board of Malayan Insurance Co., Inc., President and
Chief Operating Officer of the Philippine Savings Bank
(PSBANK), Member of the Board of Trustees of the
Asian Reinsurance Corporation (Bangkok, Thailand),
and President of the Filipino Merchants Insurance
Company.

She attended the Corporate Governance Seminar
conducted by Risks, Opportunities, Assessment and
Management (ROAM), Inc. on November 12, 2016 and
the Seminar on Corporate Governance conducted by
SGV on December 8, 2017.
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MR. VAUGHN F. MONTES, PH.D.
INDEPENDENT, NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
68 years of age, Filipino

AB Economics, Ateneo de Manila University, Philippines;
MS Industrial Economics, Center for Research and
Communications (now University of Asia and the
Pacific); PhD Business Economics, Wharton Doctoral
Programs, University of Pennsylvania, USA

Mr. Vaughn F. Montes has been an Independent Director
of the Bank since September 26, 2016.

Mr. Montes has had a long career in banking, twenty-five
(25) years of which was with Citibank where he held
various roles the last of which was as Director for the
bank’s Philippine Public Sector business in government
fund raisings, transaction banking, and credit ratings
advisory, and others. Prior to joining RCBC, he was a
Director of the Development Bank of the Philippines
(DBP) and in its related companies, namely the DBP
Leasing Corporation, Al-Amanah Islamic Investment
Bank, and DBP-Daiwa Capital Markets Inc. where he
was also Vice Chairman. At present, he is a Trustee of
Foundation for Economic Freedom, the Parents for
Education Foundation (PAREF) and the Center for
Family Advancement. He is a Director of the Center
for Excellence in Governance, and a Teaching Fellow
on Corporate Governance at the Institute of Corporate
Directors. He worked as an Associate Economist at
the Wharton Econometric Forecasting Associates in
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, USA in the early 1980s.

He attended the seminar on Managing Difficult
Conversations in the Board conducted by International
Finance Corporation (IFC) & Institute of Corporate
Directors(ICD)andSecuritiesand Exchange Commission
(SEC) Corporate Governance Forum conducted by the
Securities and Exchange Commission, in 2016. In 2017,
he attended the Cybersecurity Seminar organized by
RCBC on September 26, 2017, and on October 27, 2018,
he attended the seminar on Corporate Governance and
Financial Technology, also organized by RCBC.

MR. GABRIEL S. CLAUDIO
INDEPENDENT, NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
64 years of age, Filipino

AB Communication Arts, Ateneo de Manila University,
Philippines

Mr. Gabriel S. Claudio has been an Independent Director
of the Bank since July 25, 2016.

Mr. Claudio served as Presidential Political Adviser to
Presidents Fidel V. Ramos and Gloria Macapagal Arroyo.
As member of the Cabinet, he also served as Presidential
Legislative Adviser; Chief of the Presidential Legislative
Liaison Office (PLLO); Cabinet Officer for Regional
Development (CORD) for Eastern Visayas; and Acting
Executive Secretary. He was Chairman of the Board
of Trustees of the Metropolitan Water and Sewerage
System (MWSS); Member of the Board of Directors of
the Development Bank of the Philippines (DBP); and
Member of the Board of Directors of the Philippine
Charity Sweepstakes Office (PCSO). Currently, he holds
directorships/trusteeships in various public and private
institutions such as Philippine Amusement and Gaming
Corporation (PAGCOR), Ginebra San Miguel, Inc. (GSMD),
Conflict Resolution (CORE) Group Foundation; Risks
and Opportunities Assessment Management (ROAM),
Inc.; Lion’s Club Pasig Host Chapter; and Toby’s Youth
and Sports Development Foundation.

Mr. Claudio is also a Director of Ginebra San Miguel,
Incorporated, a publicly listed company outside YGC.

He attended the Corporate Governance Orientation
Program conducted by Institute of Corporate Directors
on September 6, 2016, and the Seminar on Corporate
Governance conducted by SGV on December 8,
2017. On October 27, 2018, he attended the seminar
on Corporate Governance and Financial Technology,
organized by RCBC.



YVONNE S. YUCHENGCO
ADVISORY BOARD MEMBER

RCBC Capital Corporation, Chairman and Director

Philippine Integrated Advertising Agency, Inc.,
President and Director

Malayan Insurance Company, Inc.,
President and Director

MICO Equities, Inc., President and Director

AY Foundation, Inc. Member, Board of Trustees

LILIA DE LIMA
ADVISORY BOARD MEMBER

lonics Inc., Independent Director

EMS Inc., Independent Director

Science Park of the Philippines, Inc., Director
RFM-Science Park of the Philippines, Inc., Director

Fatima Center for Human Development
Foundation, Iriga City, Trustee

FRANCIS C. LAUREL
ADVISORY BOARD MEMBER

YKK Philippines, Inc., President and Chief
Executive Officer

Toyota Batangas City, Inc., President and Chief
Executive Officer

Toyota Naga City, Inc., President and Chief
Executive Officer

Philippine-Japan Society, Inc., President and
Member of the Board of Trustees

Philippines-Japan Economic Cooperation
Committee, Inc., Senior Adviser

UP College of Economic and Management Alumni
Foundation, Inc. (CEMAFI), Board of Trustees

ADVISORY BOARD
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EUGENE S. ACEVEDO
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Prior to joining RCBC, he held senior leadership positions
in five banks. He was President and CEO of Philippine
National Bank where he led the bank’s rebranding and
re-launch of key businesses, resulting into a three-fold
rise in the bank’s share price.

As SEVP in UnionBank, he transformed retail and
corporate banking into major income contributors in
three years. He grew the mass market and microfinance
businesses through the acquisition of three thrift banks,
two rural banks and a remittance company adding over
600 offices to the bank’s network.

As Chairman of CitySavings, his team used technology
to transform customer experience and produced the
highest ROE in the industry, delivering over a third of
UnionBank’s earnings. As concurrent Chairman of
FAIRBank, he oversaw the launch of the first agency
banking project in the country, using digitization to
enable sari-sari stores to open banking accounts for
microfinance customers.

He joined Citibank as an Executive Trainee in 1987. He
worked across the Asian region in various capacities:
Treasury Auditor for North Asia, Derivatives Marketing
Officer in Hong Kong, Treasury Marketing Head in Manila
and Asia Regional Head for Derivatives Structuring based
in Singapore. He was promoted to Managing Director in
2005 and was Country Treasurer for the Philippines and,
later, Hong Kong. In his last post with Citibank, he led the
Hong Kong/Taiwan/Macau Global Markets Cluster, and
was Treasurer of Citicorp International Ltd.

Mr. Acevedo represented Hong Kong in the Global Board
of Education of The Financial Markets Association. He
was awarded two citations by the HK Securities Institute
for topping two licensing exams for financial markets
participants.

Before becoming a banker, Mr. Acevedo was a Physics
Lecturer at the University of the Philippines - National
Institute of Physics.

He graduated BS Physics, magna cum laude, from
the University of San Carlos where he was a DOST
scholar, National Science and Technology Awardee for
Academic Excellence, Student Council Chairman and,
later, recipient of the Outstanding Alumnus Award.

He took his Masters in Business Management at Asian
Institute of Management where he was the Javier
Nepomuceno Scholar, and had the highest GPA in
his class. He completed the Advanced Management
Program at the Harvard Business School.

Mr. Acevedo is keenly interested in banking innovation
and transformation. He is a Digital Marketing
Professional certified by The Wharton School. He
has User Experience accreditation from the British

Computer Society Chartered Institute of IT. He qualified
as a Blockchain Expert and Crypto-currency Expert with
The Blockchain Council, and passed the Executive Data
Science Certificate of John Hopkins University. He also
took the Blockchain and Artificial Intelligence Programs
of MIT, the Oxford Fintech Programme, and the Berkeley
Digital Transformation Course.

He is a Fellow of the Institute of Corporate Directors,
Trustee of De La Salle John Bosco College and the
Chairman of the FINEX Financial Inclusion Committee.

JAMAL AHMAD

FIRST SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT

CHIEF RISK OFFICER AND GROUP HEAD OF
CORPORATE RISK MANAGEMENT SERVICES

Mr. Ahmad brings with him expertise in Risk Management,
Risk Governance, and Project Management, gained from
over twenty nine (29) years of professional experience
in developed and emerging markets in North America,
Asia and the Middle East.

Prior to joining RCBC, Mr. Ahmad was Executive Director
and Country Chief Risk Officer for Standard Chartered
Bank, Vietnam Ltd. Mr. Ahmad also served as Country
Chief Risk Officer at Standard Chartered Bank Philippines.
Mr. Ahmad has had stints as Head of Operational Risk
and Assurance at Bank Permata Indonesia; Head of
Operational Risk at Standard Chartered Philippines;
Senior Manager of Beaufort Associates in Dubai \UAE;
Sales and Project Manager at Datamex Technologies,
Canada; Sales and Business Development Manager at
Marcus Evans, Canada.

Mr. Ahmad completed his college degree in Political

Science and Journalism at the University of Punjab,
Pakistan, followed by Master's degree in Business
Administration at Ateneo De Manila University and
obtained his Master of Finance at Stern School of
Business, New York University and Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology.

MA. CHRISTINA P. ALVAREZ
SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT
HEAD OF CORPORATE PLANNING GROUP

She has over 18 years of corporate and financial planning
experience in banking. She has been with RCBC since
2006, as Head of Financial and Business Planning
Division and then as Group Head in 2014. She graduated
from the Ateneo de Manila University in 1991 with a
degree in Management Economics and earned her
Master in Business Management degree in 1998 from the
Asian Institute of Management.
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REDENTOR C. BANCOD

SENIOR EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT

CHIEF OF STAFF, HEAD OF THE INFORMATION
TECHNOLOGY SHARED SERVICES AND OPERATIONS
GROUPS

Prior to joining the bank, he was Vice President and
General Manager, Central Systems Asia of Sun Life
Financial, Asia and Senior Vice President and Chief
Technology Officer of Sun Life of Canada (Philippines) Inc.
He holds an MBA degree from Northwestern University,
Kellogg School of Business and Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology. He obtained his Bachelor
of Arts degree in Philosophy from the University of the
Philippines, a candidate for a Master of Science degree
in Information Management from the Ateneo de Manila
University, and has post-graduate studies at the Asian
Institute of Management.

MARITA E. BUENO
FIRST SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT
HEAD OF DATA SCIENCE AND ANALYTICS GROUP

Ms. Bueno brings with her twenty five (25) years of
banking experience. She has expertise in the fields of
Data Science, Business Analytics, Predictive Modeling,
Risk Management and Credit Management.

Prior to RCBC, Ms. Bueno was connected with Union
Bank of the Philippines as the Data Science and Analytics
Group Head.

She had stints with Citi and JP Morgan Chase. She joined
Citi in 1994 as a Credit Acquisitions Analyst in Citi’s
credit card business in New York. In 1995, she managed
Citi’'s credit bureau relationship for the preapproved
credit card channel. In 1997, she joined Risk Management
where she managed Triad account management system,
and various portfolio management programs. She was in
the core team responsible for launching Aadvantage &
Citi business credit cards.

INn2000, Ms. Bueno joined Risk Management at JP Morgan
Chase where she managed the scored underwriting
policy for Small Business Financial Services and account
management credit policy for the retail business.

In 2004, she returned to Citi as the Risk Manager for
Aadvantage and PremierPass credit card acquisitions.
In 2005, she moved to Singapore as Vice President for
Decision Management. In 2007, she was appointed as
the Chief of Staff to Citi's Chief Risk Officer for Asia
Pacific in Hong Kong. She returned to Singapore in 2010
as Citi's Regional Director for Credit Products in Decision
Management until 2015.

Ms. Bueno is a Magna Cum Laude graduate of St. John’s
University in New York where she earned her Bachelor
of Science degree in Computer Science and obtained
her Master of Business Administration in Quantitative
Analysis.

HORACIO E. CEBRERO llI
SENIOR EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT AND HEAD OF
TREASURY GROUP

Prior to joining RCBC he was Treasury Head of the
Philippine National Bank. He was previously Treasurer
of East West Banking and had stints with other firms
as follows: Citibank N.A. (Manila) as Chief Dealer; Asian
Bank Corporation as Vice President for Treasury Group,
AB Capital and Investment House as Manager for
Financial Markets; Anscor Capital and Investment House
as Manager for Financial Markets, Asian Savings Bank as
Manager for Trust and Investments Division; Asia Trust
Development Bank as Account Officer; and at Far East
Bank & Trust Company as Account Supervisor for Branch
Treasury Marketing and Loans & Credit Analyst for Loans
and Credit Department. He also held directorships in
various firms as follows : Chairman, PNB Europe; PNB
Capital and Investment, PNB Forex Corporation as
Director ; and AIG Philam Savings Bank also as Director
. He graduated with a Bachelor of Science in Commerce
degree major in Marketing Management from De La
Salle University. He earned units for a Master of Business
Administration at the Graduate School of Business
Economics of the same university. He also attended
and finished the Stanford Senior Executive Leadership
Program (SSELP), an advance 5-part Executive
Education Course Series at the Stanford University’s
Arthur and Toni Rembe Rock Center in HongKong.

ELIZABETH E. CORONEL

FIRST SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT

HEAD OF CONGLOMERATES AND GLOBAL
CORPORATE GROUP

Prior to assuming this role she was Head of the
Conglomerates and Strategic Corporates Segment.
Previously, she was the Senior Vice-President and Chief
Operations Officer of Equicom Savings Bank, a position
she held for more than five years. She also held various
positions in local and foreign banks namely Mizuho
Corporate Bank as Vice President and Co-Head of
Corporate Finance Department, Equitable PCIBank as
Vice-President and Head of Corporate Banking Division
IV and Citibank as a Corporate Relationship Manager in
the Global Consumer Bank. Ms. Coronel obtained her
Bachelor of Arts degree in Behavioral Science from the
University of Santo Tomas graduating Cum Laude and
earned MBA units from the Ateneo Graduate School of
Business. She also completed the Mizuho-ICS (MICS)
Mini-MBA program at Hitotsubashi University Graduate
School of International Corporate Strategy.
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MICHAEL O. DE JESUS
EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT
HEAD OF NATIONAL CORPORATE BANKING GROUP

Prior to joining RCBC, he was head of the Corporate Bank
of Philippine National Bank and United Coconut Planters
Bank. He also worked with both Citibank New York
and Citibank Manila .He has a Bachelor of Arts degree
in Economics from Union College in Schenectady, New
York and a Masters Degree in Business Administration
(Finance) from The Wharton School, University of
Pennsylvania.

ATTY. GEORGE GILBERT G. DELA CUESTA

FIRST SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT

CORPORATE SECRETARY AND HEAD OF THE LEGAL
AFFAIRS GROUP

Atty. dela Cuesta has over twenty years of professional
experience in law and has served as head of the
Legal department in various companies such as Asian
Terminals, Inc., Mirant (Phils.) Corporation (now, TeaM
Energy Corporation), and Hanjin Heavy Industries &
Construction Co. Ltd. Earlier on, he served as a lawyer
at the Department of Environmental and Natural
Resources. He started his legal career at Baker &
McKenzie/Quisumbing and Torres. He is a graduate of
the University of the Philippines in Diliman where he
earned his degrees in Law and in Political Science.

JOHN THOMAS G. DEVERAS

SENIOR EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT

HEAD OF STRATEGIC INITIATIVES AND ASSET
MANAGEMENT & REMEDIAL GROUP

Prior to joining RCBC, he was a FIG Investment Officer
at the International Finance Corporation (IFC). Before
that, he worked at the Philippine National Bank, where
he was concurrently President of PNB Capital and Head,
Remedial Management Group, with a rank of Senior Vice
President. Mr. Deveras also worked at Tokyo-Mitsubishi
International (Singapore) from 1999 to 2002, where
he was a key member of their SE Asian Mergers &
Acquisitions (M&A) Team. He started his formal banking
career with Citibank in 1989. He obtained his Bachelor
of Science degree in Management Engineering from the
Ateneo de Manila University and earned his MBA from
the University of Chicago.

ANA LUISA s. LIM

EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT

CHIEF COMPLIANCE OFFICER AND HEAD OF
REGULATORY AFFAIRS GROUP

Prior to assuming her current position she was Head
of Operational Risk Management and Internal Audit
Groups. She earned her Bachelor of Science degree
in Business Administration and Accountancy from the

University of the Philippines. Ms. Lim is a Certified Public
Accountant, Certified Information Systems Auditor and
Certified Internal Auditor.

RICHARD C. LIM
EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT
RETAIL BANKING GROUP

Prior to his appointment, he was seconded to RCBC
Savings as Chief Operating Officer.

Mr. Lim previously worked with Maybank, Inc. as Head
of Retail Banking. He also handled the following roles
in the said bank: Head of Retail Marketing Management,
Assistant Vice President for Cash Management Services,
Head of Consumer Sales Department, and Cluster Head
for Binondo Manila area. He also had stints with other
banks namely , Philam Bank -AlG where he worked as
Manager for Binondo Branch , International Exchange
where he functioned as Assistant Manager/ Sales
Officer, Banco De Oro where he was a Marketing Officer,
Urban Bank where he performed the role of a Marketing
Associate, and Chinabank where he was designated as
Officer's Assistant at Cash Department. He graduated
from the University of Santo Tomas in 1991 with a degree
in Bachelor of Science major in Biology.

MARGARITA B. LOPEZ
FIRST SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT
HEAD OF DIGITAL BANKING GROUP

Prior to joining RCBC, she was a member of the Board
of Directors, Corporate Vice President/ Asia Head of
Digital, and the Chief Operations Officer of Manulife
Financial. She also held the following positions in various
institutions: Chief Operations Officer at Philippine AXA
Life, Group Head/First Vice President of Electronic
Banking Services at Philippine National Bank and Division
Head/Vice President of Transactional Banking and Head
of Strategic Innovations at the United Coconut Planters
Bank. She obtained her Bachelor of Computer Science
and Masters in Technology Management, Business and
Industry from the University of the Philippines.

Continuing RCBC'’s focus on inclusion and innovation,
Ms. Lopez assisted in ensuring customer centered focus
of major touchpoints and paved the way towards RCBC’s
cashless initiative with the launch of ePiso and the
embedding of digital currency in otherwise cash heavy
exchanges within various communities and businesses.
With the Digital Banking Group, RCBC’s fundamentals
were strengthened, enabling the bank to reach out and
be useful to more customers virtually and to pave the
way for strong digital ecosystems the Bank is geared to
help and sustain: capitalizing on data, social networks,
mobile accessibility and use of Al
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FLORENTINO M. MADONZA
FIRST SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT
HEAD OF CONTROLLERSHIP GROUP

Prior to joining the Bank, he worked at Sycip, Gorres,
Velayo and Co. as external auditor. He held various
positions in Accounting and Controllership for over
20 vyears. He completed his Bachelor of Science in
Commerce major in Accounting from Araullo University
(Cum Laude), and is a Certified Public Accountant.

JANE N. MANAGO
SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT
HEAD OF WEALTH MANAGEMENT GROUP

She has extensive exposure in the fields of treasury,
marketing, product management, account management
and private banking from her tenure with Citibank,
Equitable Bank and YGC CSI. She graduated Cum Laude
from the University of Santo Tomas with Bachelor of
Arts in Behavioral Science and Bachelor of Science in
Commerce, major in Business Administration degrees.

MARIO T. MIRANDA
FIRST SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT
HEAD OF TRUST AND INVESTMENTS GROUP

Before joining RCBC, he was the President and CEO
of BPI Asset Management and Trust Corporation. and
held concurrent Trust Officer functions at BPI Capital
Corporation. He also had stints with the following: Trebel
Industries , Inc as Corporate Treasurer and Comptroller;
Security Pacific National Bank in Los Angeles, CA.
as a Management Associate, Bancom Development
Corporation (merged with Union Bank) as Credit
Evaluation Analyst. He was also a Part-time faculty
member of the Mathematics Department, Graduate
School of the Ateneo de Manila University. He obtained
his Master of Business Administration from the University
of California and his degree in Bachelor of Science in
Management Engineering from the Ateneo De Manila
University

EMMANUEL T. NARCISO
FIRST SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT
HEAD OF GLOBAL TRANSACTION BANKING GROUP

Prior to joining RCBC, he was the Group Head of
Transaction Banking in Banco de Oro Unibank, Inc.
He was also previously connected with the Hongkong
and Shanghai Banking Corporation, where he handled
the following roles: Head of Business Banking Division
(Philippines), Head of Payments and Cash Management
for Vietnam and Philippines. He also worked for Security
Bank Corporation as Head of Corporate Transaction

Banking Division and Citibank N.A. where his last
appointment was as Business Development Head for
Global Transaction Services. He started his career in
banking as an Analyst/Programmer in the Bank of the
Philippine Islands in 1984. He obtained his Bachelor
of Arts in Economics (Honors Program) from the
Ateneo de Manila University and his Master in Business
Management from the Asian Institute of Management.

MARIA CECILIA F. NATIVIDAD

SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT

CHIEF MARKETING OFFICER AND HEAD OF THE
MARKETING GROUP

Priortojoining the Bank, she was Head of Marketing for the
Philippine and Indochina markets of The Western Union
Company. Previously, she was Assistant Vice President
and Consumer Marketing Manager of Nestle Philippines,
Inc., and a Sales Trainor at Ayala Life Insurance, Inc. She
has over twenty (20) years of professional experience in
the areas of global and cross border marketing, strategic
planning, brand, communications and digital marketing.
Ms. Natividad obtained her Bachelor of Science in
Management, major in Legal Management degree from
the Ateneo de Manila University.

BENNETT CLARENCE D. SANTIAGO
FIRST SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT
HEAD OF CREDIT MANAGEMENT GROUP

Prior to joining the Bank, he was the Head for Small
Business Loans under the Consumer Banking Group
of BDO. He was also the Head of Credit Risk Control
for Commercial Banking in BDO. Prior to BDO, he held
various senior risk roles at Citi Commercial Bank Unit
of Citibank Manila, Union Bank of the Philippines, and
International Exchange Bank. He obtained his Bachelor
of Science in Business Administration degree from
the University of the Philippines and took up units for
Masters in Business Administration from the Ateneo
Graduate School of Business.

ROWENA F. SUBIDO
FIRST SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT
HEAD OF HUMAN RESOURCES GROUP

Prior to joining RCBC, she worked with Citibank, N.A.
as Senior Vice President and Lead Human Resources
Generalist and Senior Vice President and Head of Human
Resources for the Institutional Clients Group. She also
worked with Citifinancial Corporation, the Consumer
Finance Division of Citigroup, as Vice President and
Human Resources Head. She graduated from the
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University of Santo Tomas with a degree in Bachelor
of Science major in Psychology. She earned units for
Masters in Psychology major in Organizational/Industrial
Psychology at De La Salle University.

EDEL MARY G.D. VEGAMORA

EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT

CHIEF AUDIT EXECUTIVE AND HEAD OF INTERNAL
AUDIT GROUP

Ms. Vegamora has over thirty seven (37) vyears of
experience in the areas of governance, risk management,
internal audit and control, banking financial statements
and regulatory reporting, banking taxation, banking
products and deals vetting. She started her career as
Financial Auditor and eventually as the Tax Compliance
Division Manager for Banking clientele of SGV & Co..
Prior to joining RCBC in 2017, she served as EVP & Chief
Financial Officer/Controller of Bank of Commerce; Senior
Consultant of HLB International/Diaz Murillo Dalupan &
Co.; SVP & Chief Internal Auditor of BDO Unibank Inc.
and its subsidiaries including BDO Private Bank; SVP &
Chief Financial Officer of Sun Life of Canada Phils. Inc.,
Sun Life Financial Plans Inc., Sun Life Asset Management
Company & Sun Life Foundation Philippines; Location
CFO & Director of Finance Group for the Philippine
Branch of International Nederlanden Groep NV, ING
Forex Corporation & ING Securities Philippines, Inc.;
Director of Banking and Assurance of KPMG/ Laya
Mananghaya & Co.; Director of Internal Audit and
eventually AVP & Regional Finance Head of Asia Pacific
Division of Sun Life Assurance Company of Canada; Head
of Internal Audit (Seconded to PSBank) and eventually
as PSBank’'s Vice President/Head of Controllership
Group and Supervised the Branches Operations Control
Division (BOCD) of PSBank, and had been a President &
Chairman-Board of Directors of The Institute of Internal
Auditors (Philippines). Her professional certifications
include the following: Certified Public Accountant (CPA),
Certified Internal Auditor (CIA), Certification in Risk
Management Assurance (CRMA), and a Fellow-Institute
of Corporate Directors (FICD). Ms. Vegamora graduated
Magna Cum Laude from the University of the East with a
Bachelor of Science degree in Business Administration,
major in Accounting. Ms. Vegamora had also completed
a Leadership Certificate Course at the Niagara Institute,
Canada. She is a recent Graduate of the Professional
Directors Program (PDP) of the Institute of Corporate
Directors, who bestowed the “Fellow” status on Ms.
Vegamora during 2017.

Ms. Vegamora had worked as Board of Directors-Member
in various legal entities, namely, 2002:Chairman, Board of
Directors, & President -The Institute of Internal Auditors
Philippines, Inc. ; 1999, 2000, 2001, 2003: Member,
Board of Directors -The Institute of Internal Auditors
Philippines, Inc. ; 2008: Member, Board of Directors-Sun

Life Asset Management Corporation.; 2008:Member,
Board of Directors -Sun Life Prosperity Funds (Specific
mutual fund corporations); 2001- 2007:Member, Board
of Directors, ING Forex Corporation; 2001 - 2005:
Member, Board of Directors, ING Securities Philippines,
Inc. ; 2005 - 2007: Member, Board of Directors, ING
Foundation Philippines.

SIMON JAVIER A. CALASANZ

FIRST SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT
PRESIDENT, RCBC BANKARD SERVICES
CORPORATION

(Seconded from RCBC)

A double degree graduate from DLSU majoring in
Marketing and Psychology, Mr. Calasanz brings with
him over seventeen (17) years of banking experience.
He has handled challenging roles in the following areas:
Retail Banking and Wealth Management, Contact Centre
Management, Consumer Lending, Product Management,
Credit Risk and Compliance, Fraud Detection,
Management Information Systems and Operations. His
last 2 roles with the Hongkong and Shanghai Banking
Corporation were as concurrent Head of Sales and
Contact Centre Management and Head of Cards and
Consumer Assets. He also performed significant roles for
the Credit Card Association of the Philippines, Bancnet
and Credit Management Association of the Philippines,
previous positions were as President/Chairman for
CCAP, and Director for both Bancnet and CMAP. He
continues to hold a position in the Card Association
as Special Advisor to the Board of Directors, and is a
regular speaker in universities on financial literacy. He is
currently a guest lecturer at Mapua University’s Masters
in Analytics course.

GERALD O. FLORENTINO

FIRST SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT

PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, RCBC
SECURITIES, INC.

(Seconded from RCBC)

Before joining RCBC, he was Senior Vice President
for the Investment Banking Group of the Investment
and Capital Corporation of the Philippines. He gained
corporate planning expertise from AXA Philippines as
Vice President and Head of Strategic Planning, Project
Management, Business Development, and AXA Way. He
also assumed various positions when he was employed
in UCPB for 7 years in which his last appointment was
the Head of Cash Management Products for Working
Capital Products Group. He graduated from Loyola
University of Chicago, Illinois with a degree in Bachelor
of Business Administration major in Finance. He obtained
his Masters in Business Management from the Asian
Institute of Management.



JOSE LUIS F. GOMEZ
PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

SENIOR MANAGEMENT & HEADS OF SUBSIDIARIES
RAYMUNDO C. ROXAS
PRESIDENT, RIZAL MICROBANK
He started as a Microfinance Consultant in March

RCBC CAPITAL CORPORATION

His eighteen years in RCBC Capital follows extensive
experience in investment banking as well as corporate
banking with reputable local and foreign institutions such
as Bank of America NLA., AIG Investments Corporation,
and Peregrine Capital Philippines, Inc. among others. He
holds a Master of Business Administration degree from
the Katholieke Universiteit Leuven in Belgium, where he
graduated with distinction, and a Bachelor of Science
degree in Management Engineering from the Ateneo de
Manila University.

ROMMEL S. LATINAZO

EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT

PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER OF
RCBC SAVINGS BANK

(Seconded from RCBC)

Prior to assuming the helm of RCBC Savings, he was
RCBC's Head of the Corporate Banking Segment 1
under the Corporate Banking Group. He obtained his
Bachelor of Science degree in Management from the
Ateneo de Manila University and earned his Masters in
Business Administration degree from the University of
the Philippines.

JOSEPH COLIN B. RODRIGUEZ

FIRST SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT
PRESIDENT & CEO, RCBC FOREX BROKERS
CORPORATION

(Seconded from RCBC)

Prior to his appointment, he was Treasurer of RCBC
Savings Bank. He also assumed various positions in
Rizal Commercial Banking Corporation as Head of the
FX Risk Division and Head of Institutional Relationship
Management Division. Before joining RCBC, he spent
over two decades at the Treasury division of several
foreign /local banks. He was Vice President and Head
of the Foreign Exchange and Swap Desk at ING Bank
Manila. He was also a Dealer at the Manila office of Banque
Indosuez and Assistant Dealer at the Riyadh office of
Banque Al Hollandi (ABN AMRO Bank). He also headed
the FX and Swaps division of Bank of the Philippine
Islands. He graduated from De La Salle University with
a double degree in Liberal Arts & Commerce, Major in
Marketing and in Political Science.

2009 and became the Head of Lending and Branch
Operations of Rizal MicroBank in December of the same
year. He was eventually appointed as President on March
21, 2016. Before joining the RCBC Group, he worked
as Regional Manager of the United States Agency for
International Development (USAID) Microenterprise
Access to Banking Services (MABS) Project, Chief
Commercial Officer of ACCION International Inner
Mongolia Microfinance Company, and Microfinance
Department Head of First Isabela Cooperative Bank,
Inc. He has more than 25 years of work experience in
microfinance. He graduated from the Lyceum of the
Philippines University with a Bachelor of Science degree
in Psychology (Cum Laude). He completed a Bank
Management Development Course in 2000 conducted
by the University of the Asia & Pacific and sponsored
by the People’s Credit and Finance Corporation. He was
a product of RCBC’s Middle Management Development
Program and Leadership Development Program
conducted by De La Salle University and John Clements
Consultancy respectively.

ALFONSO C. TANSECO

PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
RCBC LEASING AND FINANCE CORPORATION AND
RCBC RENTAL CORPORATION

Immediately after joining RCBC Leasing, he was elected
to the Board of Directors of the Phil. Finance Association
(PFA), the national governing body of finance and leasing
companies, and served as its President from 2014 to 2016.
Prior to joining RCBC Leasing, he served as President
and CEO of JPNB Leasing and Finance Corporation as
well as UCPB Leasing and Finance Corporation. He was
formerly the Head of the Govt.

Banking Group-LGUs & NGA/GOCC-Philippine National
Bank and held senior officer positions in United Coconut
PlantersBankand UCPBFactorsandFinance Corporation.
Mr. Tanseco has 38 years banking experience with vast
exposure in corporate banking, commercial and SME
lending as well as remedial credit. He obtained his AB-
Economics degree from the Ateneo de Manila University
and completed the Bank Management Program at the
Asian Institute of Management.
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RCBC

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The management of Rizal Commercial Banking and Subsidiaries (the Group), is responsible for the
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements, including the schedules attached therein, for
the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, in accordance with the prescribed financial reporting
framework indicated therein, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to

fraud Or €error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsibie for assessing the Group’s abiiity to
continue as a going concern, disciosing, as appiicabie, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis ofaccounting unless mangement either intends to iiquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or has no realistic alternative to do so.
The Board of Directors is responsibie for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

The Board of Directors reviews and approves the financial statements, inciuding the schedules attached

therein, and submits the same to the stockholders.

Punongbayan & Araullo, the independent auditors appointed by the stockholders, have audited the
financial statements of the Group in accordance with Phiiippine Standards on Auditing, and in their
report to the stockholders, have expressed their opinion on the fairness ofpresentation upon ciompietion

of such audit.

e
| HELEN Y/DEE GIL A. BUENAVENTURA
Chairperson, Board of Directors President & Chief Executve Officer

HORACIO E. CEBRERO I11 FL()REN’I']N()E;, MADONZA
SEVP, Head — Treasury Group FSVP, Head - Controllership Group

12th Floor, Yuchengco Tower, RCBC Plaza, 6819 Ayala Avenue, Makati City 0727
Direct Line: (632) 894-9000
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Punongbayan & Araullo
20th Floor, Tower 1

The Enterprise Center
6766 Ayala Avenue

1200 Makati City

Report of Independent Auditors Philippines

T +63 2988 2288

The Board of Directors and the Stockholders
Rizal Commercial Banking Corporation
Yuchengco Tower, RCBC Plaza

6819 Ayala Avenue cor. Sen. Gil Puyat Avenue
Makati City

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Rizal Commercial Banking Corporation and
subsidiaries (together hereinafter referred to as the Group) and of Rizal Commercial Banking
Corporation (the Parent Company), which comprise the statements of financial position as at
December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the statements of profit or loss, statements of
comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018, and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the